# Integration of distributed diesel generators in power system, Iraq case study



by

## Saad Kadhim Khalaf

Supervised by:

Prof Liana Cipcigan Prof Nicholas Jenkins

### School of Engineering Cardiff University Cardiff, Wales, United Kingdom

Thesis submitted in candidature for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at Cardiff University

October 2021

#### DECLARATION

This work has not been submitted in substance for any other degree or award at this or any other university or place of learning, nor is being submitted concurrently in candidature for any degree or other award.

Signed ...... (Candidate) Date .....

#### **STATEMENT 1**

This thesis is being submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of PhD.

Signed ...... (Candidate) Date .....

#### **STATEMENT 2**

This thesis is the result of my own independent work/investigation, except where otherwise stated.

Other sources are acknowledged by explicit references. The views expressed are my own.

Signed ...... (Candidate) Date .....

#### **STATEMENT 3**

I hereby give consent for my thesis, if accepted, to be available for photocopying and for inter-library loan, and for the title and summary to be made available to outside organisations.

#### **STATEMENT 4: PREVIOUSLY APPROVED BAR ON ACCESS**

I hereby give consent for my thesis, if accepted, to be available for photocopying and for inter-library loans after expiry of a bar on access previously approved by the Graduate Development Committee.

Signed ...... (Candidate) Date .....

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I can't express enough words to thank my supervisor, Professor Liana Cipcigan, for her delicate and great leadership during my study to acheive this work with the best value. Her expertise, support, kindness, and wonderful supervision have been motivated me to complete the Ph.D journey with the great value for me, I am really grateful a lot to her.

I would also thank my co-supervisor, Professor Nick Jenkins, for his valuable advice and views. I will never forget these mornings working together on my work, not to mention the hard questions which inspired me to widen my research from various perspectives. Without support from both supervisors, this thesis would not have evolved as it has.

I owe my thanks to my colleagues and all other staff of Cardiff School of Engineering for organizing many important courses and lecturers that of course were so instrumental in my PhD progress. My appreciation goes to staff in the research office of engineering school (Aderyn Reid, Chris Lee, and Jeanette Whyte) who continuously supported research students.

I am also grateful to the Higher Committee for Education and Development (HCED-Iraq), without their financial support, it would have been impossible to achieve this research. I would like to acknowledge the University of Mustansiriyah, Baghdad, Iraq for providing me with the opportunity to continue my study. I would also thank the cooperation by the staff of many ministries in Iraq, spatially the Ministry of Eelectricty, I would forward my grateful thank to the international consultant Mr. Nafa for his deep expertise.

Thanks to all my colleagues in the centre for Integrated Renewable Energy Generation and Supply (CIREGS) for their discussion and feedback, especially Dr Mazin Muhssin.

#### ABSTRACT

In this work, existing off-grid diesel generators of the Zyounah region in Baghdad are investigated to provide an understanding of the real challenges of these generators for the consumers in terms of environmental and economic perspectives. The result reveals that if the load in which a generator operates is less than the generator's size, the generator's efficiency will drop, and the generator will consume a large amount of fuel and ultimately emit more CO2 emissions. Hence, the selection of a diesel generator should be close to the required load demand.

Due to the mismatch between generation and supply in Iraq, the integration of existing off-grid diesel generators into the Iraq power system is important in providing flexibility in localized areas and help avoid or reduce the number of blackouts. The optimal location and sizing of these generation units is a suitable option for improving the operation of electrical networks. This study presents a methodology to find the best placement and the right size of the diesel generators in the distribution network of Ziyounah in the Baghdad area.

In this study, demand forecasting using Linear Regression (LR) and Artificial Neural Networks (ANN) is presented to provides the power operator for Ziyounah in Baghdad with valuable information that is used for minimising the operational cost for integrated unit generations and accurately match electricity production to consumption in summer and winter seasons of 2020. Based on the forecasted demand, economic dispatch analysis was carried out using Lagrange multiplier (LM) and linear programming methods (LP) and assisted by the MATLAB application. The overall objective is to determine the optimal dispatch power for various types of generator sources including PV and grid import subject to several constraints to reduce the total operating cost for the integrated generation units while meeting the peak during 24hour in the summer and winter season.

### **Table of Contents**

DEC	LARATION	I
ACK	NOWLEDGEMENTS	II
ADS	траст	ш
ADS	1 KAU 1	111
LIST	<b>COF PUBLICATIONS</b>	VII
NON	1ENCLATURE	XII
СНА	PTFR 1	1
		I
1.1	BACKGROUND	1
1.2	THE HIGH TEMPERATURE ISSUE	2
1.2.1	THE EFFECT OF TEMPERATURE ON POWER PLANTS	2
1.2.2	THE EFFECT OF TEMPERATURE ON ENERGY CONSUMPTION	2 2
1.3	THE AVAILABILITY OF GENERATION	3 5
1.4	POWER TRANSMISSION AND DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM IN TRAQ	כ ד
1.5	LUAD SHEDDING IN DEVELOPING COUNTRIES	/ر و
1.0	$\mathbf{O}_{\mathbf{FE}} \mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{D}} \mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{F}} \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{F}} \mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{F}} \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{F}} \mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{O}} \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{F}} \mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{F}} \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{F}} \mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{O}} \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{F}} \mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{O}} \mathbf{F}_{\mathbf{O}} F$	0i
1.7	NFW ZIVOINA AREA OF RACHDAD	رر 10
1.0	CHALLENCES	12
1.10	RESEARCH OUESTIONS	13
1.11	OBJECTIVES OF THE THESIS	
1.12	RESEARCH PLAN	15
СНА	DTED 1	16
	11 1 E R 2	10
• •		10
2.1	OPTIMAL LOCATION OF DISTRIBUTED GENERATORS	16
2.2	LOAD FORECASTING.	25
2.2.1	STATISTICAL METHODS	27 27
2.2.1	1     SIMPLE LINEAR REGRESSION ANALYSIS       2     MULTIDLE LINEAR DECRESSION ANALYSIS	/ ۲
2.2.1	A DTIEICIAL NEUDAL NETWORKS	20 20
2.2.2	PEVIEW OF LOAD FORECASTING DASED ON DECRESSION ANALYSIS AND ANN	30
2.2.5	REVIEW OF LOAD FORECASTING BASED ON REORESSION ANAL ISIS AND AININ.	33
231	CLASSICAL METHODS	36
2.3.1	1 LAGRANGE MULTIPLIERS METHOD	36
2.3.1	.2 LINEAR PROGRAMMING METHOD	
2.3.2	HYBRID AND NON- CONVENTIONAL METHODS	
2.4	SUMMARY	41
СПА	DTED 2	17
СПА	IILA J	43
3.1	INTRODUCTION	43
3.2	CARBON DIOXIDE EMISSIONS FROM DIESEL GENERATORS	44

3.3	DIESEL FUEL CONSUMPTION AND THE EFFICIENCY OF DIESEL GENERATORS	44
3.3.1	MODEL OF DIESEL FUEL CONSUMPTION	45
3.3.2	CALCULATION OF DIESEL GENERATORS' EFFICIENCY	46
3.4	CARBON INTENSITY CALCULATION AT VARIOUS EFFICIENCIES	47
3.5	MODEL OF CARBON EMISSIONS FOR A DIESEL GENERATOR	49
3.6	OFF-GRID DIESEL GENERATORS IN IRAQ	50
3.6.1	BACKGROUND	50
3.6.2	FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS	50
3.6.3	CO2 EMISSIONS AND FUEL CONSUMPTION FOR DIESEL GENERATORS IN ZIYOUNAH	53
3.6.3.	1 METHODOLOGY	33
3.6.3.	2 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	55
3.0.4	SUMMARY	57
<u>CHA</u>	PTER 4	<u>59</u>
4.1	INTRODUCTION	50
4.1	INTRODUCTION	<b>3</b> 9
4.Z	MATHEMATICAL FORMULATION	39
4.5	OPTIMAL DIA CEMENTS OF THE DIESEL CENEDATORS USING CENETIC ALCORITI	02 104
(CA)	65	111
(GA)	uj Indices eod netwodk dedeodmance	67
<b>4</b> 6	FCONOMIC ANALYSIS	71
4.7	CASE STUDY: NEW ZIVOUNAH AREA OF BAGHDAD	73
4.8	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	75
4.8.1	SCENARIO (1): MAXIMUM LOAD IN THE SUMMER SEASON OF 2017	75
4.8.1.	1 PERFORMANCE EVALUATION:	75
4.8.1.	2 ECONOMIC RESULT:	78
4.8.2	SCENARIO (2): THE SUMMER SEASON OF 2025 WITH THE LOAD INCREASE BY 80%	79
4.9	CONCLUSION	81
СНА	DTED 5	83
	<b>1 I E N</b> J	05
5.1	INTRODUCTION	83
5.2	LINEAR REGRESSION METHOD (LR)	84
5.2.1	SIMPLE LINEAR REGRESSION ANALYSIS	84
5.2.2	CORRELATION AND REGRESSION ANALYSIS BY USING A SIMPLE LINEAR TECHNIQU 85	E
5.2.2.	1 CORRELATION COEFFICIENT (R)	85
5.2.2.	2 SLOPE OF MAXIMUM POWER AGAINST MAXIMUM TEMPERATURE	87
5.2.3	MULTIPLE LINEAR REGRESSION ANALYSIS	89
5.3	ARTIFICIAL NEURAL NETWORKS (ANN)	89
5.4	EVALUATION CRITERIA.	90 01
5.5	THE METHODOLOGY OF LOAD FORECASTING (LF)	91 01
5.5.1	THE METHODOLOGY OF DAILY LOAD FORECASTING	91
5.5.Z	THE WETHODOLOGY OF HOUKLY PEAK LOAD FORECASTING	70 61
5.61	DATA ANALISIS	01
5.6.2	HOURLY PEAK LOAD DATA ANALYSIS	02
5.7	FORECASTING RESULTS	02
5.8	Conclusion1	.06
		5
СНА	PTER 6	08

6.1	INTRODUCTION	108
6.2	<b>OPERATING COST OF A DIESEL GENERATOR</b>	109
6.3	DEVELOPING THE OPERATING COST MODEL OF A DIESEL GENERATOR	110
6.4	ASSUMPTIONS	113
6.5	CALCULATIONS OF THE NUMBER OF DIESEL GENERATORS	113
6.6	<b>OPTIMAL SCHEDULING OF GENERATION USING LAGRANGE MULTIPLIERS</b>	116
6.7	<b>OPTIMAL SCHEDULING OF GENERATION USING THE LINEAR PROGRAMMING</b>	120
6.7.1	METHODOLOGY:	120
6.7.2	MATHEMATICAL FORMULATION	121
6.8	SIMULATION RESULTS	125
6.8.1	SUMMER RESULT	126
6.8.2	WINTER RESULT	128
6.9	CONCLUSIONS	130
<u>CHA</u>	PTFR 7	132
		132
7.1	INTRODUCTION	132
7.1 7.2	INTRODUCTION CONCLUSIONS OF THE RESEARCH	132 132 132
7.1 7.2 7.3	INTRODUCTION Conclusions of the research Answering the research questions	132 132 132 134
7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4	INTRODUCTION CONCLUSIONS OF THE RESEARCH ANSWERING THE RESEARCH QUESTIONS RESEARCH LIMITATIONS	132 132 132 134 138
7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5	INTRODUCTION CONCLUSIONS OF THE RESEARCH ANSWERING THE RESEARCH QUESTIONS RESEARCH LIMITATIONS CONTRIBUTION OF THE WORK	132 132 132 134 138 138
7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 7.6	INTRODUCTION CONCLUSIONS OF THE RESEARCH ANSWERING THE RESEARCH QUESTIONS RESEARCH LIMITATIONS CONTRIBUTION OF THE WORK RECOMMENDATION FOR FUTURE WORK	132 132 132 134 138 138 141
7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 7.5 7.6 <u>REF</u>	INTRODUCTION CONCLUSIONS OF THE RESEARCH ANSWERING THE RESEARCH QUESTIONS RESEARCH LIMITATIONS CONTRIBUTION OF THE WORK RECOMMENDATION FOR FUTURE WORK ERENCES	132 132 132 134 138 138 141 143

APPENDIX	<u>.</u> B	55

#### LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

#### Journal Papers (under review):

- S. K. Khalaf, Mazin M Mohsin and L. M. Cipcigan. The paper entitled "Optimal placement of distributed diesel generators for enhancing the performance of the Iraq distribution network" (Under review) - Electric Power Systems Research - Elsevier Journal. (Submission date: 22/ January/2022)
- S. K. Khalaf and L. M. Cipcigan. The paper entitled "Economic Dispatch for diesel generators on Iraq Power System" (Under review) - Journal of Modern Power Systems and Clean Energy. (Submission date: 23/ December/2021).
- S. K. Khalaf and L. M. Cipcigan. The paper entitled "Short-term load forecasting for resedential demand, Iraq case study" (Prepared for submittion) IET Renewable Power Generation.

#### **Conference Papers (published):**

- S. K. Khalaf and L. M. Cipcigan, "Optimal integration of distributed generators in the Iraq power system," Mediterranean Conference on Power Generation, Transmission, Distribution and Energy Conversion (MEDPOWER 2018), 2018, Dubrovnik, Croatia,12-15 November 2018, pp. 1-7.
- Y. -O. Udoakah, S. Khalaf and L. Cipcigan, "Blackout and Black Start Analysis for Improved Power System Resilience: The African Experience," IEEE PES/IAS PowerAfrica, 2020, pp. 1-5

## **List of Figures**

Figure 1-1 Peak demand and maximum power supply from the grid, 2014-18 [6]1
Figure 1-2 Iraq difference between gross installed generation capacity and available
peak capacity in Summer days, 2011 [7]2
Figure 1-3 Relationship between the electrical load and the temperature, data recorded
by SCADA of distribution network May- September 2016 for Iraq as a whole
Figure 1-4 The energy supply in GWh for various power plants in Iraq and their
weights in percentage for 2013 [9]
Figure 1-5 Comparison of Installed, Available and Peak Supply Capacities 2017 [7]4
Figure 1-6 The difference between the installed and effective capacity of power plants
in Iraq 2003-2017 [5]
Figure 1-7 Available electricity supply and peak demand before and after the war
2003 (1990-2020) [2]
Figure 1-8 Predicted peak demand against available and planned generation supply
for the future (2022-2030) [6]7
Figure 1-9 Percentage of population in Urban and Rural, Iraq [2]
Figure 1-10 Private diesel generators connected (a) to a single house (b) to the
community with private wires
Figure 1-11 New Ziyouna area / Baghdad11
Figure 1-12 The locations of off-grid diesel generators in the New Ziyounah area of
Baghdad12
Figure 1-13 Research plan of the thesis
Figure 2-1 A Neuron Structure [84]
Figure 2-2 Multi-Layer Network[84]
Figure 2-3 Types of optimization methods for optimal power dispatch
Figure 3-1 The fuel consumption of diesel generators based on the size of the
generator and the load at which the generator operates at [145]45
Figure 3-2 Carbon dioxide emissions calculations from diesel fuel
Figure 3-3 Electricity Tariff from Iraq government in (£), source: Ministry of
Electricity, Currency converter: IQD= 0.0006 GBP
Figure 3-4 Comparison between tariff in £/kWh from Iraq's National Grid and
neighbourhood generators
Figure 3-5 Flowchart for calculating fuel consumption, carbon intensity and CO2
emissions for diesel generators based on 100kw power load
Figure 4-1 Radial distribution feeder model including DG and capacitor [3/]
Figure 4-2 Flowchart for power flow Solution for Laterals
Figure 4-3 Flow Chart for NP1
Figure 4-4 Simplified power system [14]
Figure 4-5 Flowchart for cost savings
Figure 4-6 The T1/0.4 KV distribution network, 55 busbars and 22 lines
Figure 4-7 voltage profile when the generators are connected at bus 18, 22 and 2470
et huges 18, 22 and 24
Ligure 4.0 Transformers and lines loading with and without conceptors connected at
Figure 4-9 Transformers and lines loading with and without generators connected at
Figure 4.10 Flowshart for cost comparison $7^{\circ}$
Figure 4 11 Voltage profile when the generators are connected at bus 18, 21 and 24,90.
Figure 4-12 Transformers and lines loading with and without generators connected at
$r_{12}$ $r_{-12}$ real solutions and mice loading with and without generators connected at buses 18, 21 and 24.
00 00 00, 21 and 27

Figure 4-13 Real power losses of networks lines with and without generators	~ 4
connected at buses 18, 21 and 24	81
Figure 5-1 Daily peak loads of the Zeyonah area in Baghdad for different seasons of	
2017. Real time data recorded from SCADA system of the distribution network in th	e
Directorate General of Electricity Distribution	84
Figure 5-2 Correlation between daily peak loads and max temperature of Zeyonah	
area in Baghdad for the summer season	86
Figure 5-3 Correlation between daily peak loads and max temperature of Zeyonah	
area in Baghdad for the winter season	86
Figure 5-4 Correlation between daily peak loads and max temperature of Zeyonah	07
The spin set of the spin set o	0/ 1
Figure 5-5 Stope of maximum daily power against maximum daily temperature for the	ne oo
Eigung 5 6 Slope of movimum doily never accient movimum doily temperature for the	00 60
rigure 5-6 Stope of maximum daily power against maximum daily temperature for the	ne oo
Eigene 5.7 Slage of maximum doily groups against maximum doily togen against	00
Figure 5-7 Slope of maximum daily power against maximum daily temperature for the	ne oo
Eigene 5 8 Structure of Multi Lenne Network [167]	89 00
Figure 5-8 Structure of Multi-Layer Network [10/]	90
Figure 5-9 Flowchart of modelling and forecasting process for daily peak load using	02
Simple linear regression analysis	93
Figure 5-10 The training data required for forecasting the daily peak of the winter	0.4
Season	94
Figure 5-11 The training data required for forecasting the daily peak of the summer	0.4
Season	94
Figure 5-12 Flowchart of the neural network model to forecast daily peak load	93
Figure 5-15 Flowchart of modeling and forecasting process for nourly peak load	07
E 14 The many states of MLD areas have a late of the second states of th	91
Figure 5-14 The proposed structure of MLP neural network model to forecast nourly	00
$\mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{r}} = \mathbf{E}_{\mathbf{r}} + $	99
Figure 5-15 Flowchart of the neural network model forecast nourly peak load	00
Figure 5-16 Comparison of daily peak demand predicted by LK and AINN, with	0.2
MAPE=3.6% and 3.7%, against actual power for Jan 2020	03
Figure 5-17 Comparison of monthly peak demand precited by LR and AINN, with	<b>~</b> 4
MAPE = 3% and 3.8%, against actual power for September 2020	04
Figure 5-18 Comparison of hourly peak demand precited by LR and ANN, with	~~
MAPE = 5.1% and 3.1%, against actual power for 11th July 2020	05
Figure 5-19 Comparison of hourly peak demand precited by LR and ANN, with	~ ~
MAPE =4%% and 3.1%, against actual power for 15th January 2020	05
Figure 6-1 The operating (marginal) cost per kWh for 250kW, 500kW and 1000kW	0İ
diesel generators	10
Figure 6-2 Coefficients of Alpha, Beta and Gama for cost equations for generators in	1
G1, G2, G3 and G4	12
Figure 6-3 Graphs of fuel cost of four diesel generator types 250kW, 500kW, 750kW	/
and 1000kW during operating	12
Figure 6-4 Graphs of incremental fuel cost against output for four diesel generators	10
sharing a load for Ziyounah/ Baghdad	18
Figure 6-5 Flowchart for obtaining power schedule and minimum operation cost for	10
diesei generators using Lagrange multipliers	19
Figure 6-6 Optimal hourly usage comparison of each generating source on 12 July	<b>~</b>
2020, summer season using LM method	26
Figure 6-/ Optimal hourly usage comparison of each generating source on 12th July	7
2020, summer season using LP method	27

Figure 6-8 Comparison between LM and LP methods in total operation cost for	
generation supply in 12th July 2020 (summer)	.127
Figure 6-9 Optimal hourly usage comparison of each generating source in 15th	
January 2020, winter season using LM method	. 128
Figure 6-10 Optimal hourly usage comparison of each generating source in 15th	
January 2020, winter season using LP method	. 129
Figure 6-11 Comparison between LM and LP methods in total operation cost for	
generation supply in 15th January 2020 (winter)	. 130

### List of Tables

## Nomenclature

ANN	Artificial neural networks
C.I	Carbon Intensity
DG	Distributed generators
ED	Distributed Generation
EF	Emission Factor
GA	Genetic Algorithm
IMOS	Iraqi Meteorological Organization and Seismology
LF	Load Forecast
LM	Lagrange multiplier
LP	Linear programming
LR	Linear regression
MAPE	Mean Absolute Percentage Error
MLP	Multi-Layer Perceptron
MLR	Multiple linear regression
MOE	Ministry of Electricity for Iraq
NI	Noise Index
NPI	Network Performance Index
PD	Power Demand
PSO	Particle Swarm Optimisation
PV	Photovoltaic
RPM	Revelations Per Minute
SCADA	Supervisory Control And Data Acquisition
SLR	Single linear regression
STLF	Short Term Load Forecast
VPII	Voltage Profile Improvement Index
VSI	Voltage Stability Index

### **Chapter 1**

### Introduction

#### 1.1 Background

The Iraq power system is facing a severe shortage of generation. This is due to the security situation<sup>1</sup> and lack of natural gas for use in power plants[1],[2]and[3]. In fact, Iraq does not have the required infrastructure for treating and using natural gas. Consequently, natural gas is flared before it can be used as a fuel for power generation[4]. In 2011, for example, almost 60% of the natural gas production in Iraq was flared, which led to a significant economic loss [1]and [4]. As a result of this malpractice concerning the usage of natural gas, many of the gas power plants have been modified to use heavy oil or diesel fuel rather than natural gas for producing electricity but at lower efficiencies.

Increasing demand is widening the gap between the electricity demand and the generation supply, see Figure1-1. The population is growing at a rate of approximately 1 million per year and it was estimated that 4.5GW of generating capacity suffered damage, and about one-fifth of the transmission lines were rendered inoperable during the war [5]. Hence, consumers hardly have four to six hours of power during the hot summer days, particularly when the temperature hits its maximum of more than 48°C.



Figure 1-1 Peak demand and maximum power supply from the grid, 2014-18 [6]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Security problems affect Ministry personnel movements, and discourage international contractors from working in Iraq

#### **1.2** The high temperature issue

Iraq is generally a hot, dry, arid region, with a semi-arid/ Mediterranean climate in the north and north-eastern areas. Temperatures can vary significantly, for example, the summer season in Iraq is hot and dry, with temperatures frequently exceeding 48°C. Meanwhile, the temperature in the winter season drops to 5°C and is even below 0°C during a few days in December and January.

#### **1.2.1** The effect of temperature on power plants

In Iraq, the maximum demand occurs on hot summer days when the temperature is typically around 45°C. Because of this, the available capacity of the power plants has to be reduced at these times of peak load to reflect their output at this temperature. The maximum achievable output from thermal power plants declines at high ambient temperatures compared to their production under normal conditions. Figure 1-2 shows the gap between gross installed generation and available peak capacity on hot summer days in 2011[7]. The achievable peak output from steam turbine plants reduces at high ambient temperatures.



Figure 1-2 Iraq difference between gross installed generation capacity and available peak capacity in Summer days, 2011 [7]

#### **1.2.2** The effect of temperature on energy consumption

In Iraq, electrical demand is growing far more quickly than supply, contributing to electricity shortages and forcing the country to import electricity from Iran, about 2GW, despite its rich energy resources [2]. Population and economic growth as well as rapid urbanization, are the main reasons underpinning the rise in consumption[8].

In 2017 the demand increased to about 22,000MW during the summer season, because of the increased use of air conditioning units on hot summer days [7], see Figure 1-3, but the maximum supply did not met this demand, particularly in the summer.

The long-standing gap between supply and demand is estimated to have caused about \$40 billion losses for the Iraqi economy[7].

The focus of this thesis is on the growth of residential load which is represents approximately 75% of the total demand in Baghdad[7].



Figure 1-3 Relationship between the electrical load and the temperature, data recorded by SCADA of distribution network May- September 2016 for Iraq as a whole

#### **1.3** The availability of generation

Electricity generation in Iraq is from various power-generating units, including steam turbines, gas turbines and hydroelectric power stations, as shown in Figure 1-4. It can be seen that the electrical energy supplied from the natural gas power plants is 48%. This is the most significant proportion of the total electrical energy supply, compared to other types of power plants for Iraq in 2013. In the same year, the energy supply from hydropower plants accounted for 8% and this is the smallest percentage of the total.



Figure 1-4 The energy supply in GWh for various power plants in Iraq and their weights in percentage for 2013 [9]

Figure 1-5 shows the installed, available and peak supply generation for the existing power plants in Iraq for the 2017 year [10]. The Ministry of Electricity had increased the peak supply capacity to 15,500MW by 2017. However, this was far from being adequate to match the peak demand.



Figure 1-5 Comparison of Installed, Available and Peak Supply Capacities 2017 [7]

Figure 1-6 compares the nameplates capacity and the effective generation (peak supply capacity) of power plants between 2003-2017. It is noted that since 2003 the effective capacity of power plants has been smaller than the nameplate rating, due to plant de-rating, maintenance problems, very high temperatures of 45°C during the hot summer season and fuel switching[5]. However, significant

increases in the generation installed were made since 2003, with available capacity expanding by 10 GW, see Figure 1-6.



Figure 1-6 The difference between the installed and effective capacity of power plants in Iraq 2003-2017 [5]

#### 1.4 Power Transmission and Distribution System in Iraq

The generation and use of electricity in Iraq was introduced in 1917 during the First World War. The generation sector at that time was made up of small mobile DC sets supplying specific local loads[11]. During 1960 and 1970, Iraq experienced fast economic progress because of the increased revenue from the oil industry. During that period, the Iraq power system was expanded with the introduction of 132 kV and 400 kV power transmission systems, and sufficient generation to meet the 6,000 MW demand.

By 1990, the peak demand in Iraq was approximately 5,100 MW with the total installed generating capacity of about 10,000 MW. The following year, as a result of the war in the region, several power plants and substations were significantly damaged resulting in a reduced generating capacity below 2,500 MW. Several transmission lines were put out of service. After the 2003 war, The distribution networks were seriously degraded and many substations and overhead lines were damaged or looted[11]. However, there was an international effort by the United

States in Iraq, which allocated US\$4.5 billion, to restore electricity generation level and to rehabilitate the electrical power systems by replacing the looted and vandalized plants, and repairing partially damaged, poorly repaired and outdated power plants. The Ministry of Electricity in Iraq has also expanded the power transmission lines and distribution substation networks after the war of 2003. Nevertheless, the generation suppliers are still far from being adequate to satisfy the peak demand, see Figure 1-7.



Figure 1-7 Available electricity supply and peak demand before and after the war 2003 (1990-2020) [2]

Despite continuing progress towards adding more generation to the power system, there will be a gap between generation supply and peak demand of electricity in Iraq for several years to come, see Figure 1-8.



Figure 1-8 Predicted peak demand against available and planned generation supply for the future (2022-2030) [6]

Generally, Iraq's power transmission lines consist of 400 kV and 132 kV systems. Power generation plans are connected to either the 400 kV or the 132 kV system. In 2016, the entire power transmission system consisted of 21 substations at 400 kV with 2,400 MVA installed capacity and 403 substations (68 of which were mobile substations) at 132 kV with 37,796 MVA installed capacity. Whilst the power distribution system (33/11 kV) consisted of 412 substations with 29,702 MVA installed capacity.

#### 1.5 Load shedding in developing countries

Load shedding is applied by operators of an electrical system that is short of generation to balance the power supply with the demand by temporarily switching off some loads in different geographical areas[12][13]. Load shedding is commonly used in countries whose electrical supplies are not able to meet their peak demand such as Nigeria, India, Bangladesh, Pakistan, and South Africa as well as Iraq [14][15][16].

In Iraq, the load shedding program plays an important role in managing the load by a deliberate shutdown of supply in some parts of the distribution network. The system operator in Iraq uses this program to prevent system blackouts particularly when the demand is high during the hot summer season.

#### **1.6** Environmental impact

Due to climate change and greenhouse gas emission problems, environmental impact has become one of the most concerning factors in any electrical power system scheme because of the gaseous emission from the fossil fuel that is utilised in power generation plants [17], [18] and [19]. Cities are responsible for a large amount of the world's CO<sub>2</sub> environmental pollution. In developing countries, existing global sustainability guidelines for cities are often not appropriate due to climate differences between developed and developing countries. There are also problems specific to countries suffering from political instability, e.g. the degradation of public services and utilities, severe damage to the infrastructure and economic deterioration. The environment of cities is, therefore, one of the main areas where work can be undertaken to reduce undesirable impacts on the environment caused by conventional power generation, traffic congestion, greenhouse emissions, and rapid population growth [20]. In developing countries like Iraq, the demand for energy from fossil fuels is a particular problem which is exacerbated by a lack of investment in renewable resources. The developing countries such as Arab gulf countries and Iraq, rely on burning fossil fuels for as much as 90% of their power generation, this dramatically increases CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and environmental pollution [21].



Figure 1-9 Percentage of population in Urban and Rural, Iraq [2]

In developing countries, there is extreme use of natural resources and environmental pollution as a result of their use of conventional power production, particularly in hot dry and arid regions. The main reason for increasing energy demands lies in the growth of the economy and population. In countries such as China, India and the Middle East regions [22] this has resulted in rapid urbanization. For example, in Iraq, there has been a rapid shift from the population living mainly in rural areas to urban regions as shown in Figure 1-9. In 1947, 70% of the population resided in rural areas; by contrast, today, more than 70% of the population lives in cities [23]. Such urbanization and increase in population density are identified as the key factors shaping future cities [24]. Therefore, there is a significant challenge to find an acceptable solution for new and existing cities developments taking the impacts of climate change, and managing a balance between various dimensions of sustainability[25].

Over 90% of energy is produced by burning fossil fuels in Arab Gulf countries. This is because these countries are rich in oil and other fossils fuels. There is limited uptake of renewable resources like solar generation, despite favourable climatic conditions [26]. However, a shift in global practices to reduce energy consumption and an increased reliance and investment in renewable resources could contribute to reducing CO<sub>2</sub> emissions. Many developed countries already emphasize the use of energy-saving systems, but these renewable technologies are mostly absent in the Middle East [27]. Therefore, energy consumption is causing significant challenges that need to be addressed by sustainable planning, focusing on the transition from the concept of energy-consumption to energy-producing homes, by exploiting the use of solar energy.

#### 1.7 Off-Grid diesel generators in Iraq

Iraq's power system is facing significant challenges due to the mismatch between generation and supply. To overcome this problem a large number of households are using private diesel generators. The private diesel generators in Baghdad are classified as stand-alone diesel generators and community diesel generators. The community diesel generators have been introduced since1999 by third parties to overcome the electricity shortage and to accommodate uninterrupted 24-hour power to consumers throughout the year. The stand-alone diesel generators supply a single house while the community diesel generators supply a neighbourhood with private wires, see Figure 1-10. Most stand-alone units have capacities ranging between 10-50 kVA, while community diesel generators have capacities of more than 100 kVA.

Generally, there is one community diesel generator for 350-450 houses in domestic areas in Baghdad. For example, Zeyouna region of Baghdad has approximately 9,000 houses supplied by 19 community generators whose total capacity is 10MW. A survey in 2009 estimated that there were approximately 900MW of small diesel generation units in Baghdad. Most types of generators use engines from: Scania, Volvo, Perkins, Cummins, and they are connected at low voltage (LV) 0.4 kV. These units have drawbacks such as pollution, bad wiring and acoustic noise, as shown in Figure 1-10.



Figure 1-10 Private diesel generators connected (a) to a single house (b) to the community with private wires

(b)

#### 1.8 New Ziyouna area of Baghdad

The area under investigation in this research is an Iraqi district (Ziyouna) which is located in the heart of Baghdad City (see Figure 1-11) and has about 9,000 residential consumers (houses). Existing off-grid diesel generators are distributed around Ziyounah.



Figure 1-11 New Ziyouna area / Baghdad<sup>2</sup>

The numbers and capacities of diesel generators in the New Ziyouna area of Baghdad are shown in Table 1-1.

Table 1-1The numbers and capacities of diesel generators in New Ziyounah area of Baghdad

Generator Size (kW)	250	500	750	1000
Number of Generators	6	6	4	3

The location of the diesel generators between houses in the New Ziyouna area of Baghdad is shown in Figure 1-12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The map of Ziyounah district has been provided by Ministry of Electricity of Iraq/ Department of GIS; this area consists of 9000 residential consumers (houses).



Figure 1-12 The locations of off-grid diesel generators in the New Ziyounah area of Baghdad

#### 1.9 Challenges

The challenges of electricity supply in Iraq are illustrated clearly in the district of Ziyounah and include:

- 1. The electricity consumption in Iraq is very high due to economic development, population growth, and the usage of low efficiency domestic appliances.
- 2. Generation units including diesel generators and PVs are needed to supply the peak demand.
- 3. Inefficient operating of diesel generators (e.g. non-optimal dispatch of generation units) leads to an increase in fuel consumption, operation cost

and CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from the generators. This means, the size of the generators generators (DG) must be selected suitably.

- 4. There are blackouts in the power system due to the mismatch between the electricity supply and demand in Iraq.
- 5. The diesel generators in Ziyouna of Baghdad are presently operated offgrid, and managed independently of the distribution system. They need to be integrated into the distribution system and re-located to improve the performance of the network and to reduce the acoustic noise to the consumers.

#### 1.10 Research questions

**RQ1:** How do the third parties sell electricity from the diesel generators to Iraqi consumers? (to understand and identify the difference in electricity tariff between the government supply and neighbourhood generators for lower-class households).

**RQ2:** How are carbon emissions and fuel consumption estimated for a diesel generator at any operating load?

**RQ4:** How would the integration of the stand-alone neighbourhood diesel generators into the Iraq power system provide technical and economic benefits with low environmental effect?

**RQ5:** Is there a strong relationship between the maximum power demand and the maximum temperature in Iraq during the days in the summer, winter and spring seasons?

**RQ6:** What are the techniques considered to predict the daily and hourly peak demand, which is required for planning and operating, for Ziyonah area of Baghdad based on the historical data collected in this research?

**RQ7:** Can the operator overcome the mismatch between demand and supply, i.e. what are the required numbers of diesel generators and PV to meet the peak daily demand for Ziyounah area of Baghdad in the summer and winter season of 2020? What is the method to calculate the number of diesel generators?

**RQ8:** In what ways can the operators for the Iraq power minimise the total operating cost for integrated generation sources during 24 hours while meeting the demand?

#### 1.11 Objectives of the thesis

The objectives of the thesis are:

- 1. Investigate the real challenges of off-grid diesel generators for the decision makers in terms of environmental and economic perspectives.
- Compare the electricity tariff provided by the government with the cost of supplying the demand using private off-grid diesel neighbourhood generators over the months of hot summer days.
- 3. Estimate the models of diesel fuel consumption and carbon emissions for the diesel generators.
- 4. Provide a feasible solution to the Iraqi power system by integrating off-grid private diesel generators into the distribution network.
- Develop an algorithm to find the best location and size of diesel generators at the peak load in a 35- bus radial distribution network in Ziyounah district of Bagdad.
- 6. Evaluate and investigate the impacts of integrated private diesel generators in electricity savings and networks performance.
- 7. Test and compare the performance of forecasting the daily and hourly demand for Ziyounah district of Bagdad using linear regression and ANN techniques.
- Provide the results of daily and hourly forecast, used in chapter 6, for minimising the operational cost of integrated diesel generators and accurately match electricity production with consumption in the summer and winter seasons of 2020.

- 9. Produce a cost model for different sizes of diesel generators used to estimate the fuel consumption and operating cost.
- 10. Estimate the additional required PV generation units to meet the peak demand based on maximum daily forecasted demand.
- 11. Generate the optimal diesel generators scheduling using Lagrange multipliers and Linear Programming techniques to reduce the total operational cost and carbon emissions whilst meeting the demand constraints.

#### 1.12 Research plan

Figure 1-13 illustrates the research plan. Main objectives are provided, and the links between the tasks are shown.



Figure 1-13 Research plan of the thesis

### **Chapter 2**

### Literature review

This literature review discusses the established knowledge of each of the subjects studied in this PhD: optimal location of distributed generators, load forecasting, and economic dispatch.

#### 2.1 Optimal location of distributed generators

Distributed power generation, which in the past was known as embedded generation in Anglo-Saxon countries, decentralized generation in Europe and Asian countries and dispersed generation in North American countries [28], is a power source connected directly to the distribution network. It refers to small generating units installed near local loads or load centres to avoid the need for network expansion and to satisfy new load areas. This section is related to Chapter 4 which presents a methodology to find the best placement and the right size of the diesel generators in the distribution network of Ziyounah in the Baghdad area.

According to The Electric Power Research Institute (EPRI), distributed generation is generation from 'a few kilowatts up to 50 MW' [29]. Distributed power generation can be renewable energy sources or internal combustion reciprocating engines [28].

International Energy Agency (IEA) defines distributed power generation as ongrid generating plants supplying consumers or providing support to a distribution network, integrated to the grid at distributed level voltages. The contribution of the power distributed generation in power systems is relevant worldwide and their use in the future power systems is expected to increase further [29].

Due to considerable costs, the size of distributed generators (DG) must be selected suitably to improve the system performance such as to reduce system

losses and improve the voltage profile while meeting the demand and the network constraints. The problem of distributed generators planning has recently received much attention by power system operators and researchers. Selecting the best places for distributed generators units and their preferred sizes in large power systems is a complex combinatorial optimization problem[28].

The integration of distributed generators units in non-optimal places may reduce the network performance such as an increase in system losses and have a negative effect on voltage profile which is problematic particularly in developing countries facing high-power loss and poor voltage profile [30]and[31].Therefore, distributed generators should be allocated in an optimal way to maximize the system efficiency [29].

Various literatures have focused on optimal sizing and placement of DGs to minimize real and reactive power loss using several techniques such as particle swarm optimization (PSO) and hybrid PSO [32]–[34] generic algorithm (GA) [35], artificial bee colony (ABC), and hybrid ant colony optimization (ACO) [36] have all been suggested for DGs sizing and siting. In a few recent studies, heuristic methods such as hybrid harmony search algorithm (HSA) and particle artificial bee colony (PABC) [37] and intersect mutation differential evolution (IMDE) [38] have all been applied for the optimal design of capacity and placement of both DGs and shunt capacitor. However, the mentioned studies are usually computationally demanding and share common criteria which is the minimization of real power loss as a single objective. In [39], a less computationally intensive method which uses analytical expression was proposed. The DGs are considered to be located in the primary distribution system and the objective of DG placement is to reduce the losses. Further studies have used different approaches to reduce the search space of the algorithm and the computational burden. For example, in references [37] and [40]the authors have approached location optimization based on the ratio of change in real power loss in the line connecting the bus to changes in active or reactive power of the same bus in a radial network. However, this method is not suitable for the allocation of multiple distributed generators.

Many approaches have been developed for placing distributed generators units optimally in the network. An evolutionary programming optimization method has been developed to determine the optimal size of the DGs[41]. Two new approaches based on the sensitivity of real and reactive power losses with respect to the size of DGs have been proposed to obtain the best size and location of these generators towards minimizing power losses in the distribution networks. The proposed methods have been developed based on the constant impedance and current load characteristics. The developed techniques have been tested on a practical long radial distribution network [42]. In [43] it is proposed a backtracking search optimization algorithm (BSA) to assign DGs along with radial distribution networks (RDNs). The objective function is adopted with a weighting factor to enhance the performance of the network and reduce the real losses of the network. The proposed methodology is applied to 33- and 94-bus RDNs to investigate its viability.

The loss sensitivity factor based on the current injection technique for sizing and location of DGs units in radial distribution system is given in [44]. Calculation of cost of DGs is provided in [45] based on triangular, conventional, and complex power limits. Reference [46] presented two new methodologies for optimal location of DGs utilising an optimal power flow (OPF) based model in real time. The optimisation problem is formulated for two different objectives, namely, social welfare maximization and profit maximization. The candidate locations for DGs placement are identified based on Locational Marginal Price (LMP). [47] proposed the hybridization of GA and artificial bee colony algorithm (ABC) for obtaining the optimal location and size of multiple generators and capacitors in radial distribution systems to reduce the cost of the system. This hybrid algorithm is tested on IEEE 33- and 69-bus radial distribution systems. Reference [48] describes a Novel methodology to calculate optimal DGs sizes based on real power loss. This method considers optimal DGs sizes at unity power factor.

Several authors have presented a methodology for optimal DGs allocation and sizing in the distribution network considering loss minimization, and to guarantee an acceptable level of voltage profile. A GA based optimization technique has been used to obtain the results. The results for voltage profile and losses have been determined based on the load flow[49]. The authors in [50] presented a method for optimal sitting and sizing of multiple DGs using particle swarm optimization (PSO) based approach. Research presented in [51]deals with the impact of voltage dependent load models on the predicted energy losses in DGs planning. A multi-objective optimization approach based on losses reduction and voltage profile improvement for distributed generators allocation using GA was proposed in [52].

A mixed-integer linear programming approach to find optimal size and allocation of DGs in radial distribution systems is presented in [53]. The proposed formulation accounts for the steady-state operation of the radial distribution system, considering different load levels, different types of DGs with their capability curves, and different topologies of the radial distribution system. [54] proposed a reconfiguration methodology based on a cuckoo search algorithm (CSA). The objective is to minimize active power losses and maximize voltage magnitude. The CSA method is a new metaheuristic algorithm inspired from the obligate brood parasitism of some cuckoo species for solving optimization problems. The effectiveness of the proposed CSA is investigated on three different distribution network systems: 33-, 69-, and 119-node systems. A simple method for optimal placement of distributed generators in a radial distribution system based on voltage sensitivity index (VSI) analysis is presented in [54]. The main objective is to minimize real power loss, voltage profile improvement. [55] presented an optimal proposed approach (OPA) to determine the optimal sitting and sizing of DGs subject to the system constraints to achieve multi-objectives using a genetic algorithm. This approach could bring benefits such as voltage profile improvement, spinning reserve increasing, power flow reduction and total line loss reduction.

The authors in [56] presented a simple method for investigating the optimisation problem for location and capacity of DGs in three-phase unbalanced radial distribution systems (URDS) to reduce power loss and to improve the voltage profile of the distribution network using voltage index (VSI) analysis. Loss sensitivity factors (LSFs) are utilised to select the candidate locations for the multiple generators placements and Simulated Annealing (SA) is used to estimate the optimal size and locations of generators [57]. [58] proposed a PSO method to study the optimal power flow (OPF) of a power system integrated with a renewable generator like wind and photovoltaic (PV) to minimize the transmission losses system on an IEEE 30-bus RDN. A new method for optimal sizing and location of distributed generation units in radial distribution systems was proposed in [59]. In this method, the optimal location for generators obtained by power loss sensitivity and optimal size is given by Harmony Search Algorithm (HSA). [60] proposed a novel combination of nondominated using GA and fuzzy method to minimize four objective functions, namely, cost, emission, power losses, and voltage deviation, on a typical 34-bus test microgrid. In [61]optimal location of DGs is given based on loss sensitivity and voltage stability index. A simple conventional iterative search technique along with Newton Raphson method of load flow study is carried out for the optimisation problem to reduce both cost and power loss very effectively. The paper also focuses on optimization of the weighting factor, which balances the cost and the loss factors. [62] proposed a population-based incremental learning (PBIL) algorithm to find the optimal location of DGs and PSO to define the size of those devices. The objective is to reduce the computation time and real power losses and improve the voltage profiles. The proposed algorithms are tested on IEEE 33- and 69-bus radial distribution systems. [63] proposed an efficient analytical method for optimally allocating distributed generators in electrical distribution systems to minimize power losses. [64] proposed a hybrid GA-PSO algorithm to reduce losses and maintain acceptable voltage profiles in a radial distribution system simultaneously. The objective function is to optimally size and place DGs in appropriate buses in the system to reduce operating cost and real power losses

(RPLs) and enhance voltage stability. The proposed algorithm is demonstrated on IEEE 33- and 69-bus distribution systems.

Ref [65] proposed a backtracking search algorithm (BSA) to study the effect of different load models on determining sizes and optimal locations of the DGs. The main aims were to improve the network voltage profile and reduce power loss in RDNs. The proposed algorithm is tested on 136-bus and 69-bus radial distribution networks with four load models, but it has a random mutation scheme that uses only one direction individual for each target individual [65].

Table 2-1 presents a taxonomy of the reviewed optimal placement of distributed generators models.

Ref	Proposed	Objectives	Gap identification
	approach		
[43]	BSA	Reduce the real power	• It has not included stability and
		losses and enhance the	Noise Index
		voltage profile	• It has not provided economic
			assessment
[54]	CSA	Minimise active power losses and maximise voltage magnitude	<ul> <li>It has not included stability and Noise Index</li> <li>Case study not real</li> </ul>
[63]	Analytical	Minimise power losses	<ul> <li>Lack of knowledge in methodology</li> <li>Case study not real</li> <li>Target is limited to power losses only</li> </ul>

Table 2-1 Distributed generator placement methods

[64]	GA-PSO	Minimise power losses and maintain acceptable voltage profiles	<ul> <li>Lack of clarity in methodology</li> <li>Economic assessment was not provided</li> </ul>
[47]	GA-ABC	Reduce the cost of the system and decrease RPLs	<ul><li>Lack of clarity in methodology</li><li>Lack of data presented</li><li>No improvement for network</li></ul>
[60]	GA and Fuzzy	Minimise cost, emission, power losses and voltage deviation	• It has not included stability and Noise Index
[62]	PBIL and PSO	Reduce active power losses and improve voltage profile	<ul><li>It has not provided economic assessment</li><li>Not real system</li></ul>
[58]	PSO	Minimise transmission losses	<ul> <li>It has not provided economic assessment</li> <li>Lack of clarity in methodology</li> <li>Target is limited to real power losses only</li> </ul>
[65]	BSA	Reduce power losses and improve network voltage	<ul> <li>It has not provided economic assessment</li> <li>Lack of clarity in methodology</li> <li>It has not included stability and Noise Index</li> </ul>
[41]	Evolutionary programming	Minimize the distribution losses while satisfying the voltage constraint in the system	<ul> <li>Target is limited to real power losses only</li> <li>Not real system</li> </ul>

[42]	Sensitivity analysis	Minimise power losses	<ul><li>Target is limited to real power losses only</li><li>Lack of clarity in methodology</li></ul>
[44]	Loss sensitivity factor	Minimise total power losses of the network	<ul> <li>Target is limited to real power losses only</li> <li>Proposed method is complicated</li> <li>Lack of clarity in methodology</li> <li>It has not included stability and Noise Index</li> <li>Economic assessment was not provided</li> </ul>
[48]	Sensitivity method	Minimising cost of power obtained from distributed generators	• Target is limited to real power losses only
[49]	GA	Evaluate generation units' impact in system reliability, losses and voltage profile	<ul> <li>Economic assessment was not provided</li> <li>It has not included stability and Noise Index</li> </ul>
[52]	GA	Reduce Losses and Improve Voltage Profile	<ul> <li>Economic assessment was not provided</li> <li>Noise Index was not included</li> </ul>
[53]	A mixed- integer linear	minimizes the annualized investment and operation costs	<ul> <li>Complicated technique</li> <li>Test case study (not real)</li> <li>Economic assessment was not provided</li> </ul>
[54]	Cuckoo Search	Voltage profile improvement, spinning	• Test case study (not real)
	Algorithm (CSA)	reserve increasing, power flow reduction and total line loss reduction.	<ul> <li>Economic assessment was not provided</li> <li>Lack of clarity in methodology</li> <li>It has not presented DGs</li> </ul>
------	---	---	---
[56]	Voltage index (VSI) analysis	Reduce Losses and Improve Voltage Profile	<ul> <li>Economic assessment was not provided</li> <li>It has not presented DGs</li> <li>Noise index was not included</li> </ul>
[57]	Loss sensitivity factor method (LSFs)	Obtaining optimal sizes of capacitors.	<ul> <li>Lack of clarity in methodology</li> <li>It has not presented DGs</li> <li>Economic assessment was not provided</li> <li>It has not included stability and Noise Index</li> </ul>
[59]	Harmony Search Algorithm (HSA).	Reduce Losses and Improve Voltage Profile	<ul> <li>Economic assessment was not provided</li> <li>Test case study (not real)</li> </ul>
[61]	Newton Raphson method	Reduce both cost and power loss	<ul> <li>It has not included stability and Noise Index</li> <li>Not improved voltage profile</li> <li>Economic assessment was not provided</li> </ul>

A review of distributed generator placement methods showed that the optimisation of generator location and size have many advantages such as meeting the incremental demand, reducing the total real power losses and enhancing the network performance. The comprehensive review revealed that the optimal location and sizing of generation units using GA proved to be a suitable option

to be used in this study that describes a realistic problem for the power systems in the context of the case study in Iraq. Due to the lack of studies in Iraq and based on the collected real data, the proposed approach of finding the best placement for diesel generators will address multiple directions of practical solutions, including future planning vision for researchers and power operators.

# 2.2 Load forecasting

Due to the non-storable nature of electrical energy, it is necessary to balance at all times the electrical power network to ensure that the power supply is equal to the demand. However, an increase in the gap between the generation supply and the demand creates voltage/frequency deviations, which are harmful to electric networks devices and consumers and can even cause serious damage as in the case of blackout [66]. To keep the relationship between production and consumption in compliance with different standards and to secure the operations of the power system, electric load consumption must be predicted and controlled instantaneously. Prediction of electricity demand is a necessary task for power system operation because it can help the operators make decisions including unit commitment or load switching. Electrical distribution designers and operators use a wide range of electrical load forecasting techniques for resource planning and generation dispatch [67]. Predicting the load on a system helps operators minimize the costs of operation, as well as increase the reliability of meeting demand.

The accuracy of load forecasts can have a significant impact on power system operations, because the economy of operation and the control of the power system may be very sensitive to forecasting errors. Forecasting errors can lead to either overly conservative or overly risky scheduling, which can produce large economic penalties [68]. Extremely high forecasts may result in the start-up of too many generation units and unnecessarily high levels of reserves. On the other hand, forecasts that are too low may result in failure to have the necessary spinning and operating reserves required. In both cases, inaccurate forecast could result in increased operating costs. Consequently, efforts aimed at the

development of forecasting techniques that reduce the magnitudes of forecast errors can often be justified based on the resulting high savings. For example, in the predominantly thermal British power system, it was estimated in 1985 that the increase in operating costs correlated with a 1% rise in the forecasting error was £10 million per year[69].

Load at a given hour depends not only on the load at the past hour but also on the load at the same hour on the past day, as well as weather variables, events, human behaviours and so on. Hence, there are several important exogenous variables that must be considered, particularly the weather-related variables [70]. Usually, historical load data are utilised for the forecast. These data show a short-term correlation between the demand and climatic information. This information may include temperature, the day of the week, and other factors[71].

The research methods of load forecasting are classified into two main groups: statistical methods and artificial intelligence methods. In statistical methods such as regression methods, an equation determines the relationship between load and its corresponding factors after training with historical data. Several statistical forecasting techniques have been applied to load forecasting such as time series[72], similar-day approach [73], regression methods[68], expert systems[74], and so on. These methods are linear models and the load pattern is usually a nonlinear function [70]. While in the artificial intelligence techniques, a human being's way of thinking and reasoning in forecasting would be copied.

In chapter 5, Linear Regression (LR) and Artificial Neural Networks (ANN) techniques are implemented to improve a decision of the daily and hourly peak demand during the summer and winter days 2020. Based on correlation factor and the type of historical data collected from the Ministry of Electricity in Iraq, it was found that these techniques are suitable for this study.

#### 2.2.1 Statistical methods

Regression analysis is a well-known statistical technique which is mainly used for two conceptually distinct purposes. First, regression analysis is widely used for prediction and forecasting. Second, in some situations, regression analysis can be used to understand causal relationships between the independent and dependent variables[75]. In recent years many companies used regression analysis in their forecasting efforts [76]. According to Institute of Business Forecasting (IBF), about 16% of the companies use regression for their forecasting needs[76]. The advantage of regression analysis is that it can be used to capture important relationships between the forecast variable of interest and the predictor variables. The main challenge, however, is that in order to generate the forecasts, the model requires the future values of each predictor. In power systems, regression analysis is used to predict electric loads based on historical data such as past load and weather [77].

Regression methods can be classified into two categories as simple linear regression and multiple linear regression. In simple linear regression, a bivariate model is built to predict a response variable (y) from an explanatory variable (x). In multiple linear regression, the model is extended to include more than one explanatory variable producing a multivariate model[78].

# 2.2.1.1 Simple linear regression analysis

A simple linear regression estimates the relationship between a response variable y, and a single explanatory variable x [78] and finds a linear function that, as accurately as possible, predicts the value of y as a function of x [79]. This method has been presented in Section 5.2.1. Linear regression analysis is an important technique which is extensively used for predicting the unknown values of a variable from the known values of other related variables (factors). In linear regression, the variable whose values will be predicted is the dependent variable. On the other hand, known variables that are used for prediction, are independent.

In other words, forecasting is the process of creating predictions of the future based on historical data and future independent variables.

Among the statistical models, the linear regression analysis has revealed promising results due to the reasonable accuracy and relatively simple implementation when compared to other techniques [80]. It can be used, for example, to examine the relationship between variables such as weather and time of the day and the variable being forecast. The general form of the linear relationship between the dependent and independent variables can be expressed as follows [81]:

$$Y = a_1 x_1 + a_2 x_2 + \dots + a_n x_n + \varepsilon$$
 (2.1)

where, y is the real output,  $x_1$  to  $x_n$  represent the influence parameters,  $a_1$  to  $a_n$  represent the coefficients for the corresponding influence parameters, and  $\varepsilon$  is the associated error term.

Usually, the objective of the regression model is to minimize the sum of squared errors by varying the coefficients  $a_1$  to  $a_n$  [82]. For electricity load forecasting in power systems, regression models correlate a relationship between the historical values of the load with the influence parameters such as weather and the day of the week to predict the future value of the load [82].

#### 2.2.1.2 Multiple linear regression analysis

Multiple linear regression extends simple linear regression to include more than one explanatory variable. In both cases, we still use the term 'linear' because it is assumed that the response variable is directly related to a linear combination of the explanatory variables [78]. It is generally represented by the relationship between a single outcome variable (Y) and some explanatory variables  $(x_i)$ [71]. This method has been discussed in Section 5.2.3. The equation for multiple linear regression has the same form as that for simple linear regression but has more terms[78],[83] :

$$Y_i = B_0 + B_1 x_{1i} + B_2 x_{2i} + \dots B_n x_{ni} + \varepsilon_i$$
(2.2)

Where:  $B_0$ ,  $B_1$ , ...  $B_n$  are the model parameters to be estimated,  $i = \{1, 2, 3, ..., n\}$ , and *n* is the number of explanatory variables.

These equations shown can be represented in matrix form as follows:

$$y = X\beta + \epsilon \tag{2.3}$$

Where:

$$y = \begin{bmatrix} y_1 \\ y_2 \\ \vdots \\ y_k \end{bmatrix}, \ X = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & x_{11} & x_{12} & \dots & x_{1n} \\ 1 & x_{21} & x_{22} & \dots & x_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 1 & x_{k1} & x_{k2} & \dots & x_{kn} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\beta = \begin{bmatrix} \beta_0 \\ \beta_1 \\ \vdots \\ \beta_n \end{bmatrix}, \text{ and } \epsilon = \begin{bmatrix} \epsilon_0 \\ \epsilon_1 \\ \vdots \\ \epsilon_k \end{bmatrix}$$

The matrix X and y contain information about the independent variables and dependent variables of all historical data, respectively. Using the least square method,  $\beta$  of (2.3) can be derived by the following equation:

$$\beta = (XX)^{-1}Xy \tag{2.4}$$

From the above regression coefficient  $\beta$ , the future load can be forecasted from the multiple linear regression model as below:

$$\hat{y} = X\beta \tag{2.5}$$

Where:  $\hat{y}$  is the prediction of y and the difference of those two is the error of forecasting. After collecting the future independent variable matrix  $X_f$ , the forecasted independent variable  $y_f$  is calculated as:

$$y_f = X_f \beta \tag{2.6}$$

For big data, the number of rows is high in X and y and matrix and the operation is very time intensive. Therefore, multi-core parallel processing is used for big matrix transpose, multiplication and inverse operations to solve Equations (2.4) -(2.6).

#### 2.2.2 Artificial Neural Networks

ANN structure can be classified into two categories as single and multilayer network. Networks with only input and output layer connected by the synaptic weights are termed as single layer network as presented in Figure 2-1 [84]. Networks having neuron layers between input and output layers are known as the multi-layer neural network (MLN). Figure 2-2 shows a multi-layer ANN structure with three layers. The layer between the input and output layer is referred to as the hidden layer. Multi-layer neural networks have higher computational abilities as compared to single-layer networks. These MLP networks can learn the complex relationship between the input and output patterns which are not possible in the case of single layer networks [84].



Figure 2-1 A Neuron Structure [84]



Figure 2-2 Multi-Layer Network[84]

#### 2.2.3 Review of load forecasting based on regression analysis and ANN

In the last 25 years many papers have focused on the forecasting of electrical demand using different methods[85]. The authors in [86] studied a model for electricity forecasting in New Zealand using multiple linear regression analysis, taking into account demographic and economic variables. It was found that the electrical demand is correlated effectively with all variables. Ranjan and Jain [87] analysed the electrical consumption pattern in Delhi as a function of population and weather sensitive parameters for the period 1984–1993. They developed multiple linear regression models of electrical consumption for the winter, summer and post monsoon seasons. [83] presented short term load forecasting of system loads from hours to days ahead based on historical data and future independent variables using the multi-variable linear regression (MLR) method. It was found that weather has a significant role in short term load forecasting. [68] studied the application of the linear regression approach in short term load forecasting.

Recent researches have been accomplished on the utilization and implementation of artificial intelligence approaches particularly Neural Networks (NNs) to the electrical load forecasting problem. The authors in [88] and [89] implemented load prediction using ANN for the first time. Various variants, homogenous and hybrid models by using artificial neural network combined to stochastic learning approaches have been successfully applied in forecasting short term load consumption [90]. The back-propagation training algorithm is mostly considered to train the neural network models. However, Artificial Immune System (AIS) learning algorithm [91] and backpropagation momentum training algorithm [92] were used to overcome accuracy speed and convergence problem. The number of neurons and the weights of the neural network forecasting model is generally optimized using heuristic approaches or combined with some other techniques to improve the prediction accuracy and performances[93]. The authors in [94],[66]and[95] presents approaches for load forecasting using ANN tools in MATLAB.

In Ref. [96], a Deep Belief Networks (DBN) made up of multiple layers of constrained Boltzmann machines is utilised for short-term electricity load forecasting based on the Macedonian hourly demand data. The layer-by-layer unsupervised training scheme succeeds in setting the parameters by using a supervised backpropagation training algorithm. A novel input variable selection is also introduced to enhance the quality of the electrical demand data. The mean absolute percentage error (MAPE) is reduced by up to 8.6% compared to the predicted data supplied by the Macedonian system operator (MEPSO) for the 24h ahead forecasting, and the MAPE for daily peak forecasting is decreased by up to 21%. Certainly, results from this research show the suitability and the superior accuracy of DBN for both daily peak and daily load curve prediction compared to traditional methods. In the work presented by [97], various artificial neural network combined models based on multi-objective optimization and data preprocessing methods were presented simultaneously to find high accuracy and great stability of the forecasting model. The experimental outcomes from an application to the half-hourly electrical load data of three Australian states revealed that both the accuracy and stability of the combined model are excellent to those of other benchmark models. In Ref. [98] a probability density forecasting method based on quantile regression, neural network utilising triangle kernel function is presented to quantify the uncertainty associated with power load demand and finding more information of future load. The nonlinear structure of the neural network is applied to transform the quantile regression model for constructing a probabilistic forecasting technique. Furthermore, the triangle

kernel function and direct plug-in bandwidth selection method are used to achieve kernel density estimation. The experimental study from the case of the study shows a suitable performance of the probability density forecasting technique compared to several existing forecasting methods.

[67] presents an artificial neural network (ANN) for forecasting the short-term electrical demand of a university campus using real historical data from Colorado State University. The typical structure of ANNs in this area of research has 24 output nodes representing the hourly loads of the day, 30 output nodes representing the day loads of the month. Each of these hours and days have multiple inputs, which often includes historical data as well as weather and time variables. Reference [99] presents an in-depth look at which variables most affected the load profile, based on case studies on a realistic system, i.e., the Egyptian Unified System, by determining linear correlation coefficients. It was revealed that the identification of the historical load is the most influencing factor, while the temperature is the most influential weather variable, especially in summer and fall. Based on the type and granularity of collected historical data and correlation factor, the most suitable methods for selected case study in Iraq are LR and ANN.

#### 2.3 Economic dispatch

This Section is related to the work which describes an optimal dispatch for the power operator of Ziyounah distribution network. Economic dispatch is the process of allocating generation levels to the generating units in the mix, so that the load demand may be supplied entirely and most economically. Real power economic dispatch aims to make the generator's fuel consumption or the operating cost of the whole system minimal by obtaining the power output of each generating unit under the constraint condition of the system load demands. The idea behind the optimal dispatch problem is that at the central power monitor the load varying is continuously monitored (in real-time), and the power operator (dispatcher) regulates generation supply (typically only real power is considered) to match the total power generation supply with the total power demand. This

generation is controlled in such a way as to minimize the operating cost while satisfying all the operating constraints.

Generation dispatch has been extensively studied and investigated by many authors in books on power system analysis [100], [101], [102], [103] and [104]. The problem of the economic dispatch of generation over the power system generation portfolio has attracted the attention of engineers since the early 1920s [105]. Since then, many comprehensive surveys on the economic dispatch have been provided. One of the first surveys on ED practices appeared at the end of the 1970s [106]. Happ in [106] and the IEEE Working Group present the work of authors from the inception of economic loading to the present status. Happ evaluated the progress of optimal dispatch going as far back as the early 1920s when power operators were concerned with the problem of economic allocation of generation units, i.e., the proper division of the load among the generating units available. Before 1930, several approaches were considered such as (a) the base load method where the next most efficient generation unit is loaded to its maximum capability, then the second most efficient generation unit is loaded, etc., (b) "best point loading," where units are successively loaded to their lowest heat rate point, beginning with the most efficient generation unit and operating down to the least efficient unit, etc. It was identified as early as 1930, that the incremental method, later known as the equal incremental method, provided the most economic results. The theoretical work on optimal dispatch was later aided by the development of analogue computers for suitably executing the coordination equations in a dispatching environment. A transmission loss penalty factor computer was developed in 1954 and was used in conjunction with an incremental loading slide rule for scheduling daily generation in a load dispatching office. By 1955, an electronic differential analyzer was developed for economic scheduling for off-line or on-line use. The use of digital computers for obtaining power dispatch was investigated in 1954.

In the last two decades, there have been fundamental changes in the structure of power systems, as well as significant progress in the economic dispatch problem formulation and the solution methodologies. There is a need to keep track of the changes in the solution approaches to enable the power operators to choose the most relevant solutions for their systems, as well as for researchers to have a solid understanding of the problem and of the progress made to date[107].

Economic dispatch can be classified based on the type of generation units as economic dispatch with conventional generation sources and dispatch with nonconventional generation sources. The economic dispatch with conventional generation sources which is also called the classic economic dispatch, in which line security constraints are neglected [108]. The fundamental of the ED problem is the set of input-output characteristics of a power generating unit such as Thermal unit and Hydroelectric Units [108]. The dispatch with non-conventional generation sources, such as solar photovoltaic, solar thermal, diesel generators, wind, geothermal, storage batteries, etc. have an important feature compared to conventional generation [109]. These renewable energy sources have been implemented in the power dispatch as an alternatives way to reduce pollution and operation costs. A decades ago, researchers have included these sources in the power dispatch system instead of focusing mainly on thermal [110]. The availability of their installation is easy as compared to conventional power plants with the lowest transmission power losses. However, the use of PV faces many challenges. Firstly, the PV systems are not much reliable to dispatch the power as per regulated power generation demand. Secondly, PV still have a costly investment in many areas of the world [111].

Optimized power dispatch is the process of optimization to find the generating unit's schedule to meet system constraints and to supply the demand power [112]. The optimization methods of power dispatch are classified into three categories, which are hybrid, non-conventional, classical methods [112]. The conventional approach for solving economic dispatch problems is known as the classical method while non-conventional methods are used to handle the nonconvex and practical dispatch problems. The third category is hybrid methods which combine two or more classical and/or non-conventional methods to improve the

performance of individual methods. Figure 2-3 illustrates the three types of optimization methods for economic power dispatch



Figure 2-3 Types of optimization methods for optimal power dispatch

#### 2.3.1 Classical methods

There are several classical methods that have been used in order to solve the economic dispatch problem such as the lambda iteration method which is extensively used. Other methods like Newton's method [113], gradient search method [114] and quadratic programming method [115]. have solved economic dispatch problems with different objective functions included cost, loss, and reductions. The proposed algorithms have been achieved the best optimal solution and less computational time. In addition, the system operation is satisfied simultaneously. The classical methods are adaptive, flexible when analysing the problem and easy to understand. The conventional methods include the lambda iteration method provide a feasible solution when the fuel cost function is convex[116].

#### 2.3.1.1 Lagrange Multipliers method

Section 6.6 presents optimal dispatch using Lagrange Multipliers method. The Lagrange multipliers technique is widely used to solve extreme value problems in science, economics, and engineering[117]. The Lagrange multipliers method,

named after Joseph Louis Lagrange, provides an alternative method for the constrained nonlinear optimization problems [118]. The Lagrange multipliers method is also called as lambda iteration method[119]. The authors in [117] used lambda iteration to solve the linear quadratic equation to minimize the operating cost for the power system, considering no losses and with losses. [120] proposes a fast and easy to use generic MATLAB syntax to help in solving dispatch problems using the modified L Iteration Method.

The Lagrange multipliers or lambda iteration method deals with both equality and inequality constraints. Without the inequality constraints, the standard form of the nonlinear optimization problems can be formulated as [118]:

$$\min f(x_1, x_2, \dots x_n)$$
 (2.7)

Subject to:

$$G(x_1, x_2, \dots x_n) = 0 (2.8)$$

G is a function vector. The variables are restricted to the feasible region, which refers to the points satisfying the constraints.

G=  $f [G_1 (x_1, x_2, ..., x_n) = 0, ..., [G_k (x_1, x_2, ..., x_n) = 0]^T$ , the constraints function vector.

The Lagrange function *F* is constructed as [117]:

$$F(X,\lambda) = F(X) - \lambda G(X)$$
(2.9)

Where  $X = (x_1, ..., x_n)$ , the variable vector,  $\lambda = (\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_k)$  are called Lagrange multipliers.

The extreme points of the f and Lagrange multipliers  $\lambda$  satisfy:

$$\nabla F = 0$$
(2.10)  
That is  $\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_i} - \sum_{m=1}^k \lambda_m \frac{\partial G_m}{\partial x_i} = 0$ 
(2.11)

and

$$G_1(x_1, x_2, \dots x_n) = 0 (2.12)$$

At the solution, multiple generators have the same marginal (or incremental) cost. This common marginal cost is equal to  $\lambda$ . If the power demand changes, changes in total costs can be estimated from  $\lambda$ , and the solved value of  $\lambda$  can be used to obtain *Pi*. Fuel cost of power generation of each generator can be expressed as a quadratic function of real power generation [121]:

$$Ci = \alpha i + \beta i Pi i + \gamma i Pi^2$$
 *£/h hourly fuel consumption of DG* (2.13)

Where:  $\alpha i$ ,  $\beta i$ , and  $\gamma i$  are the coefficients for the cost equations;  $i = \{1, 2, 3, ..., N\}$ , N = the number of generation units. This equation is used to determine the incremental cost ( $\lambda$ ) using the differential equation shown in Equation (2.14):

$$\frac{d(F_i(p_i))}{d(p_i)} = \lambda \tag{2.14}$$

Total fuel cost is lowest when  $\lambda$  values are equal for each generator. The value of  $\lambda$  for the initial configuration of the system can be determined by using Equation (2.15), and the electric power output of each generator unit can be determined from Equation (2.16)

$$\lambda = \frac{PD + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\beta_i}{2\gamma_i}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{2\gamma_i}}$$
(2.15)

$$Pi = \frac{\lambda - \beta i}{2\gamma i} \tag{2.16}$$

#### 2.3.1.2 Linear programming method

Section 6.7 presents optimal dispatch using Linear programming method. Linear programming can be applied to various studies. It is widely used in mathematics and engineering problems and practical planning applications. It has proven

useful in power system optimization problems [122],[123]. Linear programming methods are attractive to power operators and researchers because they include the system operation constraints in their formulation and have no convergence problems as they resolve the problem in its primal form. There were three major linear programming-based methods introduced for the solution of the economic dispatch problem in the last 20 years: (i) the simplex method (ii) the interiorpoint method, and (iii) the mixed-integer linear programming [107]. In addition, Lagrangean approaches were introduced to deal with constraints that may be part of the solution strategy. Simplex linear optimization methods deal with seeking a set of feasible solutions placed on the vertex of the feasible convex polyhedron and then driving along edges of the polyhedron to vertices with successively better values of the objective function until the optimum is given. Contrary to the simplex method, the interior-point-based methods reach the best solution by traversing the interior of the feasible region and have proved to be more efficient in practice, particularly for large systems. Additional to the efficiency in terms of computational effort, interior-point methods do not need a feasible starting point [124].

The application of linear programming methods is based on either the transformation of the quadratic approximation of the generation cost into the piecewise linear format or the use of the Incremental Cost (IC), ignoring several constraints in the first stage and correcting the solution in additional stages if the constraints considered were violated [107].

In [125], a nonlinear primal-dual interior-point method was applied to solve the extended optimal power flow model of a pool-bilateral electricity market. The objective function of the dispatch power model in deregulated markets comprises a linear approximation of the power generation cost, a linear approximation of a penalty cost for the deviation of the vector of the contracted power from the proposed values and a linear approximation of the transmission losses.

In [126], contingency constraints (reserve constraints) were taken into consideration, in addition to the standard economic dispatch formulation, to include the impact of an outage or loss of a generation of any generating unit. The simplex method is applied to solve the linear formulation of the economic dispatch problem with implicit upper and lower generation constraints.

Linear programming techniques can also deal with a quadratic function using a linear function approach as a series of straight-line segments [127].

Linear programs are problems that can be expressed in a mathematical form as:

Find a vector x

That minimizes  $c^T \mathbf{x}$ 

$$\min_{x} f^{T}x \text{ such that} \begin{cases} Ax \leq b \\ A_{eq}x = b_{eq} \\ lb \leq x \leq ub \end{cases}$$
(2.17)

Where *f*, *x*, *b*, *beq*, *lb*, and *ub* are vectors, and *A* and *Aeq* are matrices.

# 2.3.2 Hybrid and non- conventional methods

The hybrid method is to combine two or more algorithms to mitigate their weaknesses and provide better performance for solving optimization problems[128]. The proposed hybrid algorithms such as GA-PS-sequential quadratic programming [129], NM-FAPSO [129]and differential evolution algorithm-PSO [130] showed a highly efficient technique to solve the economic dispatch problem. The drawback of this type of algorithm sometimes is a long computational time because it uses two or more algorithms.

Non-conventional methods can deal with the complicated optimization problem and are developed to solve the Combined Economic-Emission Dispatch (CEED) problem. Numerous methods of this type like Ant colony optimization (ACO) [131], Genetic Algorithm (GA) [132], Bat algorithm (BA)[133] and Particle swarm optimization (PSO) [134] have been used to solve the dispatch problem.

#### 2.4 Summary

This chapter presented a review of optimization methods of the latest research on optimal location and size of DGs on the distribution network. It presented various optimization methods applied to different test systems to improve the performance of the power system. According to previous researches, it is clear that if the DGs such as existing diesel generators are well-placed, they could provide benefits to the grid by providing flexibility in localized areas and help avoid or reduce the number of blackouts. Based on a comprehensive review it was selected GA method for the optimal location and sizing of these generation units for improving the operation of electrical networks. Based on the type and granularity of collected available data, it was shown that this approach is more suitable for the real case study in Iraq.

Load Forecasting is a very necessary task for power system operation because it can help the operators make significant decisions for generation dispatch including unit commitment. A comprehensive review of the latest techniques of simple regression and ANN has been applied to load forecast was provided. It was shown that linear regression analysis has revealed promising results due to the reasonable accuracy and relatively simple implementation when compared to other techniques, especially, when it deals with causal relationships between the independent and dependent variables such as power demand and temperature. A review of load forecasting methods based on ANN shown that this technique produces accurate results for short term load forecasts with a time lead ranging from an hour to a week due to its clear model, easy implementation, and good performance. In addition, the other important feature of this technique is its capability of generalization and non-linear learning relationships between variables such as the relationship between load at a given time and load at the same hour on the past day.

This chapter also presented a review of optimization techniques of the latest research for the economic dispatch of DG units on the distribution network. It is

shown that economic dispatch is an important approach that can allocate the DGs output so as to minimise the total operational cost while meeting the constraints of total load demand. An extensive literature review of solution techniques for optimal power dispatch problems has shown that The Lagrange multipliers and linear programming methods are very efficient techniques for economic dispatch on power systems that are capable of dealing with both equalities constrained and inequality constrained nonlinear optimization problems. However, the Lagrange multipliers method deals with quadratic functions only while the linear program method can be applied only when the objective function and all the constraints can be expressed in terms of linear equations/inequations.

# **Chapter 3**

# Assessment of off-grid diesel generators in Iraq

#### 3.1 Introduction

A diesel generator is a source of energy that can be used as a backup generation unit or an emergency power supply to generate power for commercial, residential and industrial loads during a short interruption of power [135],[136],[137]. They are generally used as off-grid small electrical generation units in remote locations across the world because of their low capital costs [25]. A diesel generator is a compound of a diesel engine with an electrical generator to generate electrical energy [25]. Typically, there are two types of diesel generators in the market, either two poles (3000 rpm) or four poles (1500 rpm) characteristics. The following expression can match the speeds of 50 Hz synchronous diesel generators with 3000 or 1500 rpm:

$$120 \times f = n \times P \tag{3.1}$$

Where:

*n* is the speed (rpm);

*f* is the frequency;

P is the number of poles of the diesel generator.

The 3000 rpm machines are structurally simpler with 2-poles and thus results in lower acquisition cost. These are most suitable for light-duty applications and appropriate for the operation of fewer than 400 hours per year. While the 1500rpm units are 4-pole machines which are more common for heavy-duty applications and are rather more expensive. 4-poles diesel generators are desirable when more than 400 hours of operation per year is anticipated. Generally, the higher the rpm the generator has, the more wear and tear on the bearings, therefore more recurrent maintenance requirements. The diesel generator technically has a lifetime period that varies from 5000 to 50,000 hours, with an average of 20,000 hours, depending on the quality of the engine and its proper installation and execution with regular operation and maintenance [137].

This chapter aims to provide an analysis of the fuel consumption of diesel generators during operation, which contributes to carbon emissions in Ziyounah region of Baghdad. It also compares the operational cost for the generators with the price of electricity from the National Grid in Iraq.

# 3.2 Carbon dioxide emissions from diesel generators

Diesel engines have many undesirable effects such as greenhouse gases (GHG), including particulate matter (diesel soot and aerosols), oxides of nitrogen and carbon dioxide. The total amount of greenhouse gases (GHGs) released by any system to support people activities, directly and indirectly, is termed as carbon footprint [138]. It is not easy to get all the required data for every particular greenhouse gas emissions due to technical and monitoring problems. Therefore, for simplicity, it is usually stated in terms of the amount of CO2 emissions [139]. The calculation of carbon dioxide emissions is based on the amount of fuel consumption from diesel generator[139]. The carbon content of fuels lightly varies, but typically the average carbon content values to estimate CO2 emissions could be adapted [140]. The consumption of one-litre diesel produces about 2.7kg of CO2 [25],[141]. However, the CO2 emissions produced and consumed by the diesel generator depends upon the characteristics of the generator set and the characteristics of the fuel and is usually in the range of 2.4–2.8 kg of CO2 /L [25].

## **3.3** Diesel fuel consumption and the efficiency of diesel generators

A diesel generator is characterised by its efficiency and rate of specific fuel consumption. The efficiency of the diesel generator depends on the ratio of rated power to output power. The overall efficiency of the diesel generator depends upon its thermal, generator and mechanical efficiency. The thermal efficiency relies on the quality of diesel oil. The specific fuel consumption (L/kWh) of a diesel generator is defined as the consumption of fuel required to produce 1kW of electrical power for supplying a given load during 1 hour time. The fuel consumption of a diesel generator depends on the generator size and the load at which the generator operates, as shown in Figure 3-1. For example, a diesel generator with a size of 20kW has a fuel consumption of about 0.55 L/kWh when the generator operates near 25% of its rated power [142]. In contrast, the same generator consumes approximately 0.363 L/kWh if it is operating between 75% and 100% of its rated power[143]. Generally, a typical diesel generator consumes between 0.32 and 0.53 L/kWh at its rated power[144].



Figure 3-1 The fuel consumption of diesel generators based on the size of the generator and the load at which the generator operates at [145].

#### 3.3.1 Model of Diesel fuel consumption

For estimating the model of diesel fuel consumption, linear regression analysis with two independent variables, which are nominal capacity and power output of the diesel generator, was conducted in this study based on the data from Figure 3-1. It was found that the coefficients ( $\alpha_{dg}$  and  $\beta_{dg}$ ) of the model of fuel

consumption for the diesel generators are 0.0811 L/kWh and 0.2982 L/kWh respectively.

The hourly fuel consumption for a diesel generator is assessed by Equation (3.2) [146],[147],[148].

 $F_{c} = \alpha_{dg} Pn + \beta_{dg} Po \qquad L/h \qquad (3.2)$ 

Where:

 $\alpha_{dg}$  and  $\beta_{dg}$  are the coefficients of the fuel consumption model.

*Pn* is the nominal capacity of the diesel generator.

Po is the power output of the diesel generator

#### **3.3.2** Calculation of diesel generators' efficiency

The efficiency of the diesel generator is directly proportional to its rated power and the load at which the generator operates at. The efficiency of a diesel generator ( $\eta_{dg}$ ) is defined as the power output divide by the thermal input energy of fuel consumption, and this efficiency is assessed by Equation (3.3) [146].

$$\eta_{\rm dg} = \frac{Po}{F_{\rm c} \times T} \tag{3.3}$$

 $F_c$  is the hourly fuel consumption of a diesel generator in L/h,

T is a conversion from diesel fuel to kWh thermal =10.723 kWh thermal / litre,

*P*o is power output of the diesel generator.

Equation (3.3) is used to calculate the efficiencies for diesel generators, taking into account the energy of 1MJ = 0.2778kWh thermal and 1 litre of diesel = 38.6MJ, or 1 litre of diesel = 38.6 x 0.2778 = 10.723kWh thermal. That means one litre of diesel fuel has an input energy content of approximately 38.6MJ, which approximates to 10.723kWh. The calculations of diesel generators' efficiencies for different capacities and operating are shown in Table 3-1.

Generator				
Size (kW)	<sup>1</sup> ⁄4 Load	<sup>1</sup> / <sub>2</sub> Load	<sup>3</sup> ⁄ <sub>4</sub> Load	Full load
20	17.1%	22.8%	23%	25%
60	17.1%	21.2%	21%	25.7%
200	21.8%	26.6%	27.9%	28.4%
230	22.2%	26.8%	28.3%	28.4%
250	22.4%	26.9%	28.2%	28.4%
300	22.6%	27.2%	28.6%	28.6%
350	22.7%	27.4%	28.7%	28.6%
400	23.0%	27.5%	28.8%	28.6%
500	23.3%	27.7%	29.1%	28.7%
600	23.3%	27.9%	29.3%	28.7%
750	23.5%	28.0%	29.3%	28.8%
1000	23.7%	28.1%	29.5%	28.8%

Table 3-1 The efficiencies of diesel generators 20kW-1000kW during operating

# 3.4 Carbon intensity calculation at various efficiencies

The calculations of carbon intensity are presented in Figure 3-2. The Figure shows that 73.11kg of CO<sub>2</sub> are produced per  $10^{6}$ BTU<sup>3</sup> when diesel is burnt. In other words, 73.11kg of CO<sub>2</sub> is produced when 292.7 kWh thermal of diesel is burnt. Therefore 0.249 kg of CO<sub>2</sub> is produced when 1 kWh thermal of diesel is burnt. The Carbon intensity (C.I) of a diesel generator is expressed as:

$$C. I = \frac{0.249}{\eta_{dg}} \text{ kg of CO}_2/\text{kWhe}$$
(3.4)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Conversions BTU to kWh, multiply by  $2.9275 \times 10^{-4}$ , Lbs to kg multiply by 0.4535392.



Figure 3-2 Carbon dioxide emissions calculations from diesel fuel

It is assumed an engine efficiency of 28.8%. This gives a carbon intensity of diesel generation of 865 gCO<sub>2</sub>/kWhe.

For calculating the carbon intensities for diesel generators at various efficiencies, Table 3-1 is considered. The calculation is presented in Table 3-2 by using Equation (3.4)

Generator Size (kW)	1/4 Load	1/2 Load	3/4 Load	Full load
	Carbon intensity	<b>Carbon intensity</b>	Carbon intensity	Carbon intensity
	gCO2/kWhe	gCO2/kWhe	gCO2/kWhe	gCO2/kWhe
20	1456	1092	1083	996
60	1456	1175	1186	969
200	1142	936	892	877
230	1122	929	880	877
250	1112	926	883	877
300	1102	915	871	871
350	1097	909	868	871
400	1083	905	865	871
500	1069	899	856	868
600	1069	892	850	868
750	1060	889	850	865
1000	1051	886	844	865

Table 3-2 The carbon intensities of diesel generators based on their efficiencies

The Emission Factor (EF) is calculated as:

$$EF = \frac{0.249 \text{kg of CO}_2}{\text{kWh thermal}} \times 10.723 \text{(conversion from kWh thermal to litres)}$$

EF = 2.67 kg/litre (absolute value)

## 3.5 Model of carbon emissions for a diesel generator

The estimation of the total CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from a diesel generator is expressed in Equation (3.5) [136]

$$CO_2 \text{ emissions} = \sum_{1}^{t} Fc \times EF \tag{3.5}$$

*Where: t*= *Time period during operation of generator in hour(h)* 

 $Fc = \frac{Po}{\eta_{dg} \times T}$  is fuel consumption in litre/h, and *EF* is the emission factor in kg of CO<sub>2</sub> / litre for diesel generator, which depends on the type of fuel and diesel engine characteristics. Or anothery way to express CO<sub>2</sub> emission is:

$$CO2 \text{ emissions} = \sum_{1}^{t} CI \times Po$$
(3.6)

Where *CI* is carbon intensity in kg/kWh.

The results presented in Section3.4 and 3.5 for the carbon intensity or carbon dioxide emitted by diesel generators is relatively higher than the carbon intensity emitted by other generation units such as Combined Cycle Gas Turbine (CCGT), which has a carbon intensity of 490kg of CO<sub>2</sub> per kWh. This is because the carbon intensity depends strongly upon the generator's efficiency and fuel type. In addition, a diesel generator should operate close to its rated power to avoid high fuel consumption and CO<sub>2</sub> emissions.

#### 3.6 Off-Grid diesel generators in Iraq

#### 3.6.1 Background

Currently, diesel generators are becoming more important for supplying Iraq's consumers. According to the Ministry of Planning in Iraq, the number of diesel generators that supply communities in the country as a whole is about 90,000 units, supplying the consumers directly contributing to about 20% of demand. However, this is a costly stop-gap measure. At a tariff of GB£ 450-900/MWh by the third party charging around £15/Ampere.Month of capacity, this option is more expensive than the supply from the national grid. These generators captured annual revenues of around £3 billion in 2018, which is equal to the amount allocated to the electricity sector in the federal budget for capital expenditure in 2019 [6].

# 3.6.2 Financial considerations

Electricity supply, helping to mitigate some of the most acute shortages in the peak demand, with three-quarters of it providing cooling in the summer months. In 2018, the combined total of these generators was 5 GW[6]. The private generators are provided with a certain amount of diesel fuel by Baghdad Provincial Council at the official price of about GB£0.24/litre, which is cheaper than that from the market, which is about £0.45/litre. The fuel is provided to the diesel owners based on the size of generators (i.e. up to 5,000 litres/month).

The cost of electricity from diesel is higher than the electricity from the public supply because the government heavily subsidises the electricity supply to consumers. The grid provides the majority of electricity, but more than 90% of the consumers' electricity bill goes to an expensive neighbourhood generation[6] because of load shedding operation. It is expected that the household might pay as much as £3,000 per year to the neighbourhood generator as the generator charges are as much as £15/Ampere.Month of capacity during hot summer days despite regulations in place that asked for lower charges. It is well known in Iraq that consumers buy electricity from the generators' owner based on electrical

current (Ampere) instead of energy (kWh). This is, however, not sufficient to supply all the demand from fundamental appliances such as lighting, refrigerators, ceiling fans, water coolers as well as air coolers (low current). These fixed charges translate to around  $\pounds750$ /MWh for consumer, or an average price of  $\pounds180$ /MWh for electricity delivered, which is eight-fold the average residential electricity price in the Middle East region today[6].

In 2018, the electricity tariff from the government had been categorised into four levels (see Figure 3-3) to provide a progressive tariff scheme to consumers, which aimed to make electricity more affordable for low-income households.



Figure 3-3 Electricity Tariff from Iraq government in ( £ ), source: Ministry of Electricity, Currency converter: IQD= 0.0006 GBP

To calculate the maximum electrical current (Amper)<sup>4</sup>, which is supplied to the consumers from the generator, providing the same amount of the consumption using electricity from national grid, the data from the government tariff (kWh) in Figure 3-3 is considered.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The electricity supply from diesel generators is sold to consumers in electrical current (Amper) instead of energy(kWh) in Iraq, and it is controlled by circuit breakers to avoid exceeding the required maximum current.

It is known that consumers in whole Iraq buy electricity from diesel generators in electrical current (Amper) instead of energy(kWh), and it is controlled by the diesel generators owner to avoid exceeding the required current.

In the calculation, it is considered that the generator operates 10 hours per day at 0.85p.u. power factor. Therefore the consumption for 1kWh per month is calculated as

# 1kWh = 220V x current (Amper)x 0.85 pf x 10hours x 30days

It was found that the electricity tariff (kWh/ month) from diesel generator is equal to  $\pm 0.267$  (0.01782A x  $\pm 15$ ). In contrast, tariff for electricity from the national grid using the lower tariff for 1,500kWh shown in Figure 3-4 is equal to  $\pm 0.02$ , which is cheaper than the tariff from the diesel generators.

Figure 3-4 compares the electricity tariff for the government and neighbourhood generator in four categories of consumption over the month. It can be seen that the tariff from generators is almost the same at  $\pm 0.288$ /kWh. This is because the cost of 1A per month from the generators is constant regardless of whether consumers use it or not. The tariff from the government, by contrast, increases from  $0.006 \pm k$ Wh to  $0.072 \pm k$ Wh over the four categories of consumptions.

The government introduced the cheapest tariff for the first level of consumption to support the lower-class households. This means, or these customers 1500kWh of monthly consumption, using the tariff from diesel generators is 47 times more expensive than the electricity tariff provided by the government. Therefore, the efforts to reduce the contribution or costs of neighbourhood diesel generators could improve electricity affordability for most, if not all, families. Without urgent and concerted action, these pressures are likely to increase as rapid population growth and economic development increases electricity demand. Achieving a stable, affordable and reliable electricity supply is essential not just to serve the basic needs of the Iraqi people but to improve living conditions stimulating economic growth.



Figure 3-4 Comparison between tariff in £/kWh from Iraq's National Grid and neighbourhood generators

# 3.6.3 CO2 emissions and fuel consumption for diesel generators in Ziyounah

# 3.6.3.1 Methodology

Off-Grid diesel generators, which are detailed in section 3.6.3, are assumed to be distributed in Ziyounah region. A constant load demand of 200 kW with 10 hours of operation of a diesel generator per day (2,000kWh/day) is assumed for this analysis. The amount of fuel consumption and CO<sub>2</sub> emissions of these diesel generators is determined using Equations(3.2), (3.5) and (3.6). There are four different sizes of existing off-grid diesel generators in this study. The capacities of these generators are: 250kVA, 500kVA, 750 kVA and 1,000kVA. Hence, the rated power capacity of diesel generators is changed from 250kW to 1,000kW for comparative results, see Figure 3-5.



Figure 3-5 Flowchart for calculating fuel consumption, carbon intensity and CO2 emissions for diesel generators based on 100kW power load

# SCENARIO (1): Estimation of fuel consumption and CO2 emissions from diesel generators based on the absolute value of Emission Factor (EF)= 2.67 kg/litre

In this scenario, the fuel consumption and the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions for the diesel generators are determined based on the Emission factor (EF) =2.67 kg/ litre.

It is assumed that the Emission Factor is constant at 2.67 kg/ litre. To determine the fuel consumption and carbon emission emitted from different sizes of generators, Equation (3.2) or Equation (3.3) is applied at a constant load demand of 200 kW with 10 hours of operation of a diesel generator per day, see Figure 3-5.

It can be observed that the efficiency of a diesel generator decreases from 23.34% to 13.25%, with increasing of its rated power capacity from 250kW to 1,000kW with a load demand of 200kW. The fuel consumption for the generators was found to be 799.15 litres/day (0.4 litres/kWh) with a 250kW rated power and 1407.40 litres/day (0.7037liters/kWh) with a 1,000kW rated power diesel generator as shown in Table 3-5. Similarly, the CO2 emissions were found to be 2,133kg/day (1.066kg/kWh) with a 250kW rated power and 3757.76kg/day (1.8789kg/kWh) with a 1,000kW rated power diesel generator.

It is estimated that the use of a 250kW rated power diesel generator will consume 799.15 litres of diesel oil and emit 2133 kgCO<sub>2</sub> per day. Similarly, a 1,000kW rated power diesel generator will utilize 1407.40 litres of diesel oil and produce 3,757 kgCO<sub>2</sub> per day with a load demand of 200 kW per hour or 2,000kWh/day, see Table 3-3.

If the load in which a generator operates is less than the generator's size, the generator's efficiency will drop, and the generator will consume a large amount of fuel and ultimately emit more CO<sub>2</sub> emissions.

Rated power	Efficiency of	Fuel cons	sumptions	CO <sub>2</sub> emissions		
of Diesel Generator	Diesel Generator	(Litres/ kwh)	(Litres/ day)	(kg/day)	Intensity (kg/kWh)	
250 kW	23.34%	0.3996	799.15	2133	1.06688	
500 kW	18.62%	0.5010	1001.90	2675	1.33755	
750 kW	15.48%	0.6023	1204.65	3216	1.60822	
1000 kW	13.25%	0.7037	1407.40	3757	1.87890	

Table 3-3 Estimation of fuel consumption and CO2 emissions from diesel generators

# SCENARIO (2): Estimation of CO2 emissions from diesel generators based on variable value of Emission Factor (EF), EF changed from 1 to 1.3

In this scenario, it is assumed that the Emission Factor is varying from 1 to 1.3. To determine the carbon emission emitted from different sizes of generators, Equation (3.5) or Equation (3.6) is applied at a constant load demand of 200 kW with 10 hours of operation of a diesel generator per day. In the case of calculation the carbon intensity Equation (3.4) is carried out, see Figure 3-5.

In Tables 3.4 and 3.5, the input value of the emission factor is changed from 1 to 3.5kgCO<sub>2</sub>/litre, and the rated power of the diesel generator is varied from 250kW to 1,000kW. It was found that the amount of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions increased by 3.5 times as the emission factor is increased from 1 to 3.5kgCO<sub>2</sub>/litre (see Table 3-5). For example, the carbon emissions from a 1,000kW rated power diesel generator increases from 1,407kg to 4,925kg when the emission factor is increased from 1 to 3.5kgCO<sub>2</sub>/litre.

 Table 3-4 Carbon emissions (kgCO2/day) at a various rated power of diesel generator and emission factors

Rated power	Carbon emissions (kgCO2/day)					
Generator	EF=1	EF= 1.5	EF= 2	EF= 2.5	EF=3	EF=3.5
250 kW	799.15	1198.73	1598.30	1997.88	2397.45	2797.03
500 kW	1001.90	1502.85	2003.80	2504.75	3005.70	3506.65
750 kW	1204.65	1806.98	2409.30	3011.63	3613.95	4216.28
1000 kW	1407.40	2111.10	2814.80	3518.50	4222.20	4925.90

Table 3-5 shows the carbon intensity for the diesel generators at various rated power and emission factors. It can be seen that the carbon intensity is directly proportional to the emission factor and the rated power of the diesel generator. Therefore, the rated power of the selected diesel generator should be closely matched to the load demand to reduce CO<sub>2</sub> emissions.

Rated power	Carbon Intensity (kgCO2/kWh)					
Generator	EF=1	EF= 1.5	EF= 2	EF= 2.5	EF=3	EF=3.5
250 kW	0.40	0.60	0.80	1.00	1.20	1.40
500 kW	0.50	0.75	1.00	1.25	1.50	1.75
750 kW	0.60	0.90	1.20	1.51	1.81	2.11
1000 kW	0.70	1.06	1.41	1.76	2.11	2.46

 Table 3-5 Carbon Intensity (kgCO2/kWh) at various rated power of diesel generator and emission factors

# 3.6.4 Summary

In this chapter, existing off-grid diesel generators of the Zyounah region in Baghdad are investigated to provide an understanding of the real challenges of these generators for the consumers in terms of environmental and economic perspectives.

It is estimated that for households who consume less than 500kWh/month, the tariff from diesel generators is 47 times more expensive than the electricity tariff provided by the government because the government heavily subsidizes the electricity supply to consumers.

Models of both diesel fuel consumption and carbon emissions for these units are presented to determine the hourly fuel consumption, efficiencies and the total CO<sub>2</sub> emissions of the diesel generators during any period of time.

The fuel consumption and CO2 emissions for four diesel generators in the New Ziyouna region of Baghdad case study are determined during the day based on a

constant Emission factor (EF) = 2.67 kg/litre. It is found that the efficiency of the diesel generator is inversely proportional to the fuel consumption rate, CO2 emissions and rated power of the diesel generator with a constant load demand of 200kW (2,000kWh/day) in the hot summer days.

In scenario 2, it is assumed that Emission Factor (EF) is changed from 1 to 3.5 because the value of this factor depends on fuel quality and the diesel engine characteristics. It is revealed from the analysis that both the carbon intensity and the emission of carbon dioxide increased by 3.5 times as the emission factor is increased from 1kg to 3.5kgCO<sub>2</sub>/litre.

If the load in which a generator operates is less than the generator's size, the generator's efficiency drop, and the generator consume a large amount of fuel and ultimately emit more CO<sub>2</sub> emissions. Hence, the selection of a diesel generator should be close to the required load demand.

This outcome is especially relevant for the power operators and policy decisionmakers in countries and governments that are in the process of shaping their own climate policies. The lesson learnt form this study is that operating of isolated diesel generators with limited load is expensive and environmentally damaging which can be a disadvantage especially if they are operating around a wellpopulated neighbourhood. The model of carbon emissions for the generators in section 3.5 is significant, and it is linked to the discussion in chapter 6 because the output of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions can be calculated depending on the dispatch power of diesel generators.

# **Chapter 4**

# **Optimal integration of distributed generators in the Iraq power system**

## 4.1 Introduction

Iraq's power system is facing significant challenges due to the mismatch between generation and supply. If these existing diesel generators were to wellplaced, they could provide benefits to the grid by providing flexibility in localized areas and help avoid or reduce the number of blackouts [37]. The optimal location and sizing of these generation units is a suitable option for improving the operation of electrical networks [34], [29]and[149].

This chapter presents a methodology to find the best placement and the right size of the diesel generators in the distribution network of Ziyounah in the Baghdad area. The optimization of these two parameters reduces the real power losses, stabilizes the grid voltage, and improves the network performance [149], [150],[37],[40] and [151]. This optimization approach also contributes to minimizing the level of acoustic noise from existing diesel generators that are installed at the neighbourhood location. The objective function looks to minimize the real power losses of the network keeping the voltage within the permissible levels<sup>5</sup>. In addition, the economic impact was assessed by calculating the saving obtained when the diesel generators are best placed in the network.

# 4.2 Mathematical formulation

One advantage of deploying distributed generators in distribution networks is to minimize the total system real power loss and improves the network performance while satisfying certain operating constraints. In other words, the problem of DG application can be interpreted as obtaining the optimal size and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The permissible voltage level for Iraq's power system (low and medium voltage) is (0.95- 1.05pu) [160].
location of that generator to meet the desired objective function subject to equality and inequality constraints. The power-flow analysis is the heart of the DG-unit solution algorithm [152]. Accordingly, the power-flow algorithm offered in [40],[152]and [153] is applied in this work. The mathematical formulations of the non-linear optimization problem for the DG-unit application is shown in Figure 4-1.

Consider a three-phase, balanced radial distribution feeder with n buses, *l* laterals and sub laterals. Also, DG units and shunt capacitors as shown in Figure 4-1.



Figure 4-1 Radial distribution feeder model including DG and capacitor [37]

The power flow is carried by the following set of recursive equations derived from the single line diagram shown in Figure 4-1.

$$V_{i+1} = V_i - 2(r_{i+1} P_i + x_{i+1} Q_i) + (r_{i+1}^2 + x_{i+1}^2) x \frac{(p_i^2 + Q_i^2)}{V_i^2}$$
(4.1)

$$P_{i+1} = P_i - \frac{r_{i+1}(p_i^2 + Q_i^2)}{V_i^2} - P_{Li+1}$$
(4.2)

$$Q_{i+1} = Q_i - \frac{x_{i+1}(p_i^2 + Q_i^2)}{v_i^2} - Q_{Li+1}$$
(4.3)  
Where

60

i= {1,2, 3, ..., n}, n= The total number of buses  $P_i$  and  $Q_i$  = The real and reactive power flowing out of bus i  $P_{Li}$  and  $Q_{Li}$  = The real and reactive load power at bus i

The resistance and reactance of the line section between *bus i* and *bus i* + 1 are donated by  $r_{i+1}$  and  $x_{i+1}$  respectively.

To incorporate the method, Equations (4.2) and (4.3) are modified as [153].

$$P_{i+1} = P_i - \frac{r_{i+1}(p_i^2 + Q_i^2)}{V_i^2} - P_{Li+1} + \mu_p + AP_{i+1}$$
(4.4)

$$Q_{i+1} = Q_i - \frac{x_{i+1}(p_i^2 + Q_i^2)}{v_i^2} - Q_{Li+1} + \mu_q + RP_{i+1}$$
(4.5)

Where

 $\mu_p$  = Real power multiplier, set to zero when there is no active power source or set to 1 when there is active power source

 $\mu_q$  = Reactive power multiplier, set to zero when there is no reactive power source or set to ±1 when there is a reactive power source

 $A P_{i+1}$  = Active Power magnitude injected at bus i + 1  $RP_{i+1}$  = Reactive Power magnitude injected at bus i + 1

The following terminal conditions should be satisfied:

i. At the end of the main feeder, laterals and sub laterals

$$P_n = Q_n = 0$$
$$P_{km} = Q_{km} = 0$$

ii. The voltage at bus k is the same voltage as its lateral

$$V_{\rm k} = V_{\rm ko}$$

The real and reactive power losses of each section connecting two buses are:  $P_{Loss_{i+1}} = (p_i^2 + Q_i^2 / V_i^2)r_{i+1}$ (4.6)

$$Q_{\text{Loss}_{i+1}} = (p_i^2 + Q_i^2 / V_i^2) x_{i+1}$$
(4.7)

### 4.3 Distribution power flow solution algorithm

The method is used to solve the radial distribution feeders with laterals and sub laterals taking into account any embedded distribution generation and shunt capacitors. The analysis was carried out by the MATLAB application. The feeders can be divided into single line feeders and laterals.

The solution steps for single line feeders including the proposed approximation formulas are summarized as:

Step 1: Read the feeder data.

**Step 2:** Find the sum of power loads (active and reactive) for all buses and the sum of all resistances and inductive reactance's of each section connecting two buses.

Step 3: Assume the sending end real power, reactive power and voltage to be:

$$P_{o} = \sum_{i=0}^{n} P_{L_{i+1}} + P_{Factor}$$
(4.8)

$$Q_{o} = \sum_{I=0}^{n} Q_{L_{i+1}} + Q_{Factor}$$
(4.9)

$$V_{0} = 1 + j 0 p. u.$$
 (4.10)

Where

$$P_{Factor} = \frac{\frac{((\Sigma_{I=0}^{n} P_{Li+1})^{2} + (\Sigma_{I=0}^{n} Q_{Li+1})^{2}) \Sigma_{I=0}^{n} r_{i+1}}{\frac{V_{0}^{2}}{n-1}}$$
(4.11)

$$Q_{Factor} = \frac{\frac{((\Sigma_{l=0}^{n} P_{L_{i+1}})^{2} + (\Sigma_{l=0}^{n} Q_{L_{i+1}})^{2}) \Sigma_{l=0}^{n} x_{i+1}}{\frac{V_{0}^{2}}{n-1}}$$
(4.12)

The approximation factors in Equation (4.11) and (4.12) are used to reduce the iterations required for solution as in reality, there are no lossless systems and rarely feeder with only two buses. In other words, the result gets closer to the exact loss values. Then, we use these values  $P_o$  and  $Q_o$  in the initial iteration.

Step 4: Apply power flow Equations (4.1), (4.4) and (4.5) for the feeder.

**Step5**: If the absolute values of  $P_n$  and  $Q_n$  of the last bus are zero or within an acceptable tolerance  $\leq 10^{-7}$  p.u., the power flow solution is acceptable, otherwise go to next step.

**Step 6**: For the first bus in the main feeder set:

$$P_{o_{new}} = P_{o_{old}} - P_n \tag{4.13}$$

$$Q_{o_{new}} = Q_{o_{old}} - Q_n \tag{4.14}$$

Then, use these new initial values and follow step 4

The solution steps for laterals is presented in Figure 4-2.



Figure 4-2 Flowchart for power flow Solution for Laterals

## 4.4 Optimal placements of the diesel generators using Genetic Algorithm (GA)

Optimal integration of the generators is achieved by improving the system performance such as to reduce the system loss, improve the voltage profile while maintaining the system stability[28]. In this thesis, the existing diesel generators are used as distributed mobile generators units and an optimisation algorithm was developed to re-locate these generators in an efficient way to minimise losses and reduce the local pollution in the urban areas. Re-locating the existing diesel generators reduces the acoustic noise significantly and overcomes the drawbacks of the load shedding program.

The selection of the best location and the optimal size of the distributed generators in distribution networks is a complex, stochastic and non-linear problem [154][155]. Therefore, the optimization framework is implemented using Genetic Algorithms (GA) with the goal to enhance the network performance by maximizing Network Performance Index (NPI) considering the Real Power Loss Index, Voltage stability Index and Voltage Profile Improvement Index.

The Network Performance Index (NPI) numerically describes the impact of diesel generators on the distribution networks considering the maximum load. NPI close to unity value means higher diesel generator benefits. Network Performance Index (NPI) gives an indication of best location and size for DG source. The technique incorporates genetic algorithms combined with heuristic rules to evaluate most feasible locations based on NPI so that all network performance parameters are improved. In some cases, the best combination of locations may not be feasible for connecting of DG units due to geographical, social constraints. Hence it is important to obtain the other alternatives. To cater this need a priority list of bus numbers is prepared with decreasing order of NPI. This aspect provides flexibility for the power designer to select the suitable locations satisfying technical and implementation constraints.

The genetic algorithm approach assists to identify bus locations for insertion of multiple DG units. The convergence of the GA search is conducted on the basis of a fitness function as defined by the designer. The selection of GA parameters such as type of crossover, size of population, mutation and termination criteria is to be decided depending on nature of application.

The power flow is obtained by recursive equations, taking into account the connection of embedded diesel generators. The power flow results are used to calculate parts of the objective function. The Genetic Algorithms (GA) is searching the diesel generator locations, by knowing the total number of the generators that the operator is interested to connect. The Network Performance Index is implemented as the fitness function for GA playing an important role in the capacity allocation of the diesel generators.

The developed algorithm is in the following steps:

**Step 1**: Read the network data: the loads connected to the different buses, the resistance and reactance for transformers and lines.

**Step 2**: Run the power flow algorithm to obtain the base case, without generators connected.

Step 3: Read the available generators capacity to be connected to the network.

**Step 4**: Generate the bus numbers where the generators need to be connected using Genetic Algorithm GA.

**Step 5**: Run the power flow for the network with generators connected to find the bus locations.

Step 6: Calculate the Network Performance Index (NPI).

**Step 7**: Maximise the value of NPI based on the optimisation function as shown in Figure 4-3.

**Step 8**: Choose the best three combinations with the highest values for NPI. genetic algorithm iterates to find an optimum.

Step 9: Find the best combination.

The best combination will have the highest value of NPI indicating that the value of real power loss is minimised. Also, the voltage profile is improved. The NPI

values are computed for the first three best combinations and sorted out in a descending order.



**Figure 4-3 Flow Chart for NPI** 

### 4.5 Indices for network performance

To evaluate the performance of the network, there are various indices that can be used. These are incorporated in the Network Performance Index (NPI) [156].

### Real Power Losses Index (PLoosIn):

One of the most important benefits offered by connecting diesel generators is the reduction of real power losses [156]. This index is expressed as follow:

$$PLossI_{n} = 1 - \frac{(PLoss)_{dg}}{(PLoss)_{0}}$$
(4.15)

Where (PLoss)dg is real power losses with diesel generators connected, and (PLoss)o is real power losses without the generators connected.

*Voltage Stability Index (VSIn):* the voltage stability problem is discussed in [156], [157] and [158]. VSIn is presented as a voltage stability index from a simple power system shown in Figure 4-4. The improvement in voltage stability is important because the power system with lesser voltage stability may move to uncontrollable state [159].



Figure 4-4 Simplified power system [14]

Voltage stability index of branch j (VSIj) is written as:

$$VSIj = 4[(XPj - RQj)^{2} + (XQj + RPj)^{2}V_{I}^{2}]$$
(4.16)

Where *Pj*, *Qj* are real and reactive power received at *jth* bus and *R* and *X* are the resistance and reactance of the branch connecting the *jth* bus. If the system has lower *VSI* that means the system is considered to be more stable.

The voltage stability index *VSIn* of the total network is expressed as:

 $VSIn = \max \{VSI1, VSI2, \dots, VSIn, VSI(N)$ (4.17)

The branch in the distribution network that corresponds to the index of *VSIn* is called the weakest branch [156]. Voltage collapse is likely to start from the

weakest branch. Hence, the margin of the static voltage stability can be found according to the deviation between the value of VSIn and the critical value 1.0.

### Voltage Profile Improvement Index (VPIIn):

Diesel generators connection to the distribution networks at the best location will improve the voltage profile keeping the voltage level between the acceptable limits [158][160][150].

(*VPIIn*) is defined as [161] by:

$$VP_{i} = \frac{(V_{i} - V_{min}) \cdot (V_{max} - V_{i})}{(V_{nom} - V_{min}) \cdot (V_{max} - V_{nom})}$$
(4.18)

Where  $i = \{1, 2, 3, ..., n\}$ , n= The total number of buses

*VPi* is the voltage profile of the *ith* bus.

*Vmin* is the minimum permissible voltage and *Vmax* is the maximum permissible voltage of the network buses.

*Vnom* is the nominal voltage, which typically is 1p.u.

The voltage profile index of the network is expressed as:

$$VPI_n = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^n VP_i \tag{4.19}$$

Voltage profile Improvement Index (*VPII*) is defined as the ratio between the voltage profile of the network with generators and the voltage profile without generators and is expressed as:

$$VPII = \frac{VPIn_{dgi}}{VPIn}$$
(4.20)

Where  $VPIn_{dgi}$  is the voltage profile index of the network with generators for *ith* node and *VPIn* is the voltage profile index of the network without generators.

Then 
$$VPII_n = \frac{VPII_i - 1}{VPII_{max} - 1}$$
 (4.21)

### Noise Improvement Index (NIn):

This index represents the improvement in the overall noise level from diesel generators connected to the community neighbourhoods. Since the location of some diesel generators is very close to the consumers, the location of the generators in the network should be chosen carefully in order to mitigate the noise level. According to Cummins Power Company [162] the permitted noise levels for diesel generators at property is between 52dB and 72dB depending on their locations. NIn is given as:

$$NI_n = 1 - \frac{(\text{Noise})_a}{(\text{Noise})_b}$$
(4.22)

Where  $(Noise)_a$  and  $(Noise)_b$  are the noise levels at the consumer site after and before the diesel generators connection.

Noise = 
$$70dB - log(d)$$
 (4.23)  
Where *d* is the average distance between a generator and consumers

Where *d* is the average distance between a generator and consumers.

### Network Performance Index (NPI):

The Network Performance Index is a composite index proposed to quantify the benefits of diesel generators. This index represents a comprehensive improvement in the network performance such as real loss reduction, and voltage profile improvement. The Weighting factors are decided by the power operator or designer of the distribution system. The parameter which was given the highest weightage factor will have the most significant improvement after the connection of the generation units. In addition, all other parameters which are included in NPI also have an improvement over the base case. Hence, choosing the best combination of buses for the location of generators is made by the highest value of NPI. Such a selection will result in an overall improvement in network performance, such as reduction in system power loss, improvement in voltage profile, improvement in voltage stability as well as a reduction in acoustic noise from the generators. A priority list with reducing the value of NPI is prepared so that the generators can be connected at the most feasible locations. The top priority places give the highest value of NPI, enhances the system performance to the maximum extent. Hence this turns out to be the best solutions. If the priority with the highest NPI is not feasible, the designer can select the following best places in the network with decreasing order of priority. This manner gives flexibility and choices for efficient planning of the network.

The NPI is computed as:

$$NPI = W_1 PLossI_n + W_2 VSI_n + W_3 VPII_n + W_4 NI_n$$
(4.24)  
Where  $W_1$ ,  $W_2$ ,  $W_3$  and  $W_4$  are the weightage factors.

Weighting factors are expressed as:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{4} W_i = 1.0 \ \Lambda W_i \in [0,1] \tag{4.25}$$

### 4.6 Economic analysis

To get the best combination along with the economic benefits, a separate cost analysis is done as shown in Figure 4-5. When generators are connected to the system the load is supplied partly by the generators, and the rest is met from the grid. Hence, the total cost will be the cost of the utility power drawn and the power from the generators. Then the savings obtained is calculated by comparing it with the base case, i.e. without generators. Thus, the savings are computed for the first three best combinations and sorted out in descending order.

Both the results are analysed and compared, and the best combination has a higher value for both the NPI and savings.

The economic analysis is considering the following steps:

**Step 1**: Calculate the operating cost for delivered electricity from the national grid before the connection of generators (Base cost). The operating cost for the electricity from the national grid  $(\pounds/hr.)$  is equal to the power from the utility (*P* utility) x Cost for Iraq power (£0.09/kWh) [6].

Where

P utility =  $P_L + P_{Loss}$ 

**Step 2**: Calculate the operating cost for delivered electricity from the national grid ( $C_{\text{Utility}}$ ) after connection of generators, same as in step1.

**Step 3**: Obtain the operating cost of diesel generators ( $C_{Ge}$ ) = Consumption (litre/hr) x £0.24 (Cost of diesel in Iraq £/litre). Based on the calculation presented in Section 3.3, the consumption for generators of 0.2MW, 0.25 MW and 0.3MW at full load is 65, 81 and 114 litres respectively. Therefore, Total operation cost of generators C <sub>tGe</sub>=C <sub>G200</sub>+ C <sub>G250</sub>+C <sub>G300</sub>= (65x0.24) + 81x0.24+114x0.24= 62.4£/hr.

Step 4: Calculate the total cost of electricity (total cost) = C  $_{\text{Utility}}$  + C  $_{\text{tGe}}$ 

**Step 5**: Calculate the saving = Base cost - Total cost



Figure 4-5 Flowchart for cost savings

### 4.7 Case study: new Ziyounah area of Baghdad

The network under study is an Iraqi radial 11/0.4kV distribution network with 35 buses and 22 lines with the total load of 2.07MW. This network uses underground cables and consists of 11 transformers whose capacities are 630kVA, supplying 377 residential load consumers. The single line diagram is shown in Figure 4-6.



Figure 4-6 The 11/0.4 kV distribution network, 35 busbars and 22 lines

There were 0.75MW of diesel generation installed for every 377 houses. These generators supply the houses through the network. Weighing factors for calculating NPI are presented in Table 4-1:

Table 4-1	Weighing	factors	for	NPI
1 4010 1 1	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	Incruis		

W1(PLoosIn)	W2(QLoosIn)	W3(VSIn)	W4(VPIIn)
0.4	0.2	0.2	0.2

Table 4-2 Base data before insertion of the generators

P load MW	P utility MW	P losses MW	Cost=P utility x 90£/MW
2.0725	2.7325	0.66	245.92

To calculate the noise levels at the consumer site before and after the diesel generators are connected, it is important to collect real data of the average distance between the network's buses and the consumers as shown in Table 4-3. In this study, buses between 14 and 24 i.e. the low voltage side of the transformers in the distribution network were considered.

Bus No.	Average distance to consumer (m)	Bus No	Average distance to consumer (m)
14	35.5	20	18
15	22	21	20.5
16	28.5	22	31.5
17	22	23	18.5
18	34	24	37
19	17.5		

Table 4-3 Average distances from buses to the consumers

### 4.8 **Results and discussion**

This section presents the finding of NPI algorithm which describes in Figure 4-3 to determine the optimal size and locations of three diesel generators on the distribution networks. Cost saving showing in Figure 4-4 is also presented considering two scenarios.

### **4.8.1** Scenario (1): maximum load in the summer season of 2017

In this scenario, there are three generators with capacities of 200kW, 250kW and 300kW to be connected to the residential area. The total power generation from these units is less than the maximum load which occurs in the summer season, and is about 36% of the total load. As a result of this mismatch, the power is taken from the grid to supply the remaining load and the generators are operated at their rated capacity.

### **4.8.1.1 Performance evaluation:**

The results for this scenario with three diesel generators are presented in Table 4-4. It was found that the optimum capacities for three diesel generators are 0.2MW, 0.25MW and 0.3MW and the optimum placement is at the bus bars 18, 22 and 24 respectively. The first three best combinations are chosen based on the highest NPI value leads to overall system improvement. For example, bus 22 has the largest demand with 47 consumers (see Figure 4-6), and it is relatively located far from the consumers 31m (see Table 4-3). Hence, it has been selected as the best place to be connected with the generator of 0.25MW to improve the network performance and reduce the acoustic noise from the generator to consumers.

 Table 4-4 The best location for three generators based on Max NPI (in the decreasing order of NPI)

Gen sizes MW	Bus No	Ploss MW	VPIIn	VSIn	NPI	NIn
0.20 0.25 0.30	18 22 24	0.62	1.075	0.9763	0.507	0.362
0.20 0.25	14 18	0.625	1.069	0.9769	0.503	0.351

Gen sizes MW	Bus No	Ploss MW	VPIIn	VSIn	NPI	NIn
0.30	24					
0.20	14					
0.25	18	0.63	1.063	0.9769	0.494	0.339
0.30	22					

Figure 4-7 shows the voltage profile along with the radial network with and without diesel generators connection in the summer season of 2017. It can be observed from the result that the minimum voltage obtained after the connection of the generators was 0.951 p.u at busbar 32, wherein the case of without generators , the minimum voltage was 0.948 p.u. at the same busbar which is lower than the acceptable voltage limits (0.95 p.u.-.05p.u.). Hence, the result verifies the ability of the proposed method to improve the voltage profile at maximum load (see Figure 4-7).



Figure 4-7 Voltage profile when the generators are connected at bus 18, 22 and 24

The results in terms of loss reduction are illustrated in Figure 4-8, which compares the loss of real power in each branch before and after the connection of the diesel generators to the network. It was found that the highest percentage of losses reduction on L3-4 was recorded at 62.7%; losses reduction  $= \frac{5.1 - 1.9}{5.1} = 62.7\%$ 



Figure 4-8 Real power losses of networks lines with and without generators connected at buses 18, 22 and 24

Figure 4-9 shows the impact of the diesel generators on the transformers and lines loading when the generators are connected to the buses 18, 22 and 24. It can be observed that the loading of most of the transformers and lines on the network have reduced after connecting the generators.



Figure 4-9 Transformers and lines loading with and without generators connected at buses 18, 22 and 24

### 4.8.1.2 Economic result:

After the generators are connected to the best places in the network, the economic analysis is performed using the algorithm presented in Figure 4-10. It was estimated that the total cost of the electricity for three generators (0.2MW, 0.25MW and 0.3MW) is about £62.4/h as presented in Section 4.5.

It was found that the best saving for electricity price of £9.7/h occurs when the diesel generators 200kW, 250kW and 350kW are connected in the network at bus numbers 18, 22 and 24 respectively, see Table 4-5.



Figure 4-10 Flowchart for cost comparison

Savings Choice no:	Generator sizes	Bus No	Saving $(\pounds/hr.) =$ Base cost-total cost, see Sec. (4.5)	NPI	NPI Choice no:
	0.20MW	18		0.5071	1
1	0.25MW	22	9.7		
	0.30MW	24	-		
2	0.20MW	14	9.4	0.5037	2
	0.25MW	18			
	0.30MW	24			
3	0.20MW	14		0.4940	3
	0.25MW	18	8.72		
	0.30MW	22			

 Table 4-5 The best location for three generators based on saving (in the decreasing order of the saving)

# 4.8.2 Scenario (2): the summer season of 2025 with the load increase by 80%

Integration of the diesel generators into the network is more important in the context of a significant increase in the load in the future. It is estimated an 80% increase of the load by 2025 based on [163]. Base on the optimisation study, the best location for the connection of diesel generators was found at buses 18, 21 and 24 and an increase in the load by 80%.

Figure 4-11 shows the voltage profile along with the radial network with and without diesel generators connection for the summer season of 2025. The minimum steady state voltage limit is 0.95 p.u. based on the distribution code in Iraq [150]. It was found that in the future, diesel generators in Iraq will play an important role in improving the terminal voltages (see Figure. 4-10).



Figure 4-11 Voltage profile when the generators are connected at bus 18, 21 and 24

Figure 4-12 shows the impact of the diesel generators on the transformers and lines loading when the generators are connected to the buses 18, 21 and 24. It was found that the transformer T8 and the line L2-3 loading is close to 100% before the diesel generators are connected to the network. When the diesel generators are connected to the network at the best location, the loading of transformer and line is reduced to 45% and 75% respectively.



Figure 4-12 Transformers and lines loading with and without generators connected at buses 18, 21 and 24

The enhancement result in terms of loss reduction is also illustrated in Figure 4-13. It can be seen that the highest percentage of losses reduction on line L9-10 and line L6-7 was recorded at 62.2% and 51% respectively.

Real power loss reduction in P<sub>L9-10</sub> =  $\frac{2.2 - 0.83}{2.2} = 62.2\%$ 3.5 - 1.69





Figure 4-13 Real power losses of networks lines with and without generators connected at buses 18, 21 and 24

### 4.9 Conclusion

Due to the increase of the electrical consumption in Iraq, the diesel generators in the distribution network and the optimisation of their location and size have many advantages such as meeting the incremental demand, reducing the total real power losses and enhancing the network performance. This study presented an important challenge to the Iraqi power system and provides a feasible solution by integrating diesel generators in the distribution network. An optimisation algorithm was developed to find the best location and size of diesel generators at the peak load in a 35- bus radial distribution network has total maximum load of 2.0725MW with 377 consumers in Ziyounah district of Bagdad.

The optimisation process is solved by the combination of genetic algorithms (GA) techniques with power flow to evaluate the diesel generators impacts in savings of electricity and networks performance, including a reduction in real power loss

and acoustic noise from the generators and improving voltage profile. The fitness evaluation function that drives the proposed method to the solution is the Network Performance Index (NPI). The objective is to maximise the capacity of the generator by knowing the total number of generation units that the power operator is interested to connect. The Network Performance Index (NPI) gives an indication of best busbars and capacity for generators. As evident from results, the selection of bus locations and corresponding capacities of generators based on the highest NPI leads to overall system improvement. The result has also shown that the determination of the best locations in the network for connection generators with the help of the proposed Network Performance Index (NPI) leads to savings in electricity due to real power loss reduction in the network.

## **Chapter 5**

### Load forecasting

### 5.1 Introduction

In this study, Linear Regression (LR) and Artificial Neural Networks (ANN) techniques are implemented to improve a decision of the daily and hourly peak demand during the summer and winter days 2020. The models were trained using historical load data to determine the model parameters for the LR model and the weights of the network for ANN. Then, the use of obtained weights or parameters allows the prediction of the output for a given input. Mean Absolute Percentage Error (MAPE) is considered to evaluate the model performance. After analysing the model prediction results, it was found that the LR technique offers a higher degree of prediction accuracy in daily peak load forecasting compared to the ANN technique. Whilst, hourly peak load forecasting result was less accurate than the result from ANN.

In Iraq, the temperature varies between the seasons, and the residential load is affected directly by the seasons, as shown in Figure 5.1. In Iraq, the seasons are:

- 1. Winter season: from 1st Dec to 28th Feb.
- 2. Spring season: from 1st Mar to 30th April.
- 3. Summer season: from 1st May to 30th Sep.
- 4. Autumn season: from 1st Oct to 30th Nov.

Maximum load MW



Figure 5-1 Daily peak loads of the Zeyonah area in Baghdad for different seasons of 2017. Ministry of Electricity of Iraq.

Figure 5-1 shows that the electric load consumed during a season is affected by weather fluctuations. The electric power consumed in hot summer due to the increase in the use of air conditioning equipment is higher relatively to the power consumed in cold winter which also increases due to the use of electrical heaters.

### 5.2 Linear regression method (LR)

Regression analysis is a well-known statistical technique used to identify the dependence between a given variable and one or more explanatory variables. It is often used in forecast estimates [164]. It can be used, for example, to examine the relationship between variables such as weather and time of the day and the variable being forecast. [165] studied the application of the linear regression method in STLF and concluded that this method provided reliable results under different conditions.

### 5.2.1 Simple linear regression analysis

Simple linear regression is a linear regression model with a single explanatory variable. In order to represent the relationship between a response variable (Y) and an explanatory variable (X), it is used a line of best-fit. The general form of the linear relationship between the dependent and independent variables can be expressed as follows [81]:

$$Y = B_0 + B_1 X + \varepsilon$$

Where Y is predicted by X and  $B_0$  and  $B_1$  are the model parameters to be estimated, and  $\varepsilon$  is the error of the estimate.

The scope of this analysis is to predict the daily peak demand in the winter and summer season of 2020. The historical training data required for the summer, winter and spring seasons for this analysis are presented in Appendix A.

## 5.2.2 Correlation and regression analysis by using a simple linear technique

Correlation analysis provides information on the strength and direction of the linear relationship between the daily peak demand and maximum temperature, while a simple linear regression analysis model estimates in a linear equation, as presented in Section5.2, that can be used to study the predicting values of one variable (maximum daily demand) based on the other.

### 5.2.2.1 Correlation coefficient (R)

As mentioned in Section 5.2.2, a correlation coefficient (R) is a statistical relationship between two variables that can describe the strength and direction of the linear relationship between the daily peak demand and maximum temperature. The correlation coefficient R in the range of -1 and 1. The sign of *R* corresponds to the direction of the relationship. If *R* is negative, then as maximum temperature increases, the maximum power tends to decrease. If *R* is positive, then as maximum temperature increases, the maximum power tends to increase. A perfect linear relationship (R=-1 or R=1) means that one of the variables can be perfectly explained by a linear function. The correlation coefficient (R) is expressed as:

Correlation coefficient (r)= 
$$\frac{\sum (x-\tilde{x})(y-\tilde{y})}{Sqr(\sum (x-\tilde{x})^2 \sum (x-\tilde{y})^2)}$$
 (5.2)

It was found that the correlation coefficient for summer, winter and spring is 0.8872, -0.904 and 0.1658 respectively. Regression coefficients for the three models (summer, winter and spring) are presented in Figure 5.2, 5.3 and 5.4.

In Figure 5-2, the correlation indicates a strong relationship between maximum loads and maximum temperature in the summer season as the daily peak load is proportional directly to the ambient temperature during this season. While in a winter season, the daily peak load is inversely proportional to the ambient temperature as shown in Figure 5-3.



Figure 5-2 Correlation between daily peak loads and max temperature of Zeyonah area in Baghdad for the summer season



Figure 5-3 Correlation between daily peak loads and max temperature of Zeyonah area in Baghdad for the winter season

Figure 5-4 shows the strength of the relationship between loads and temperature in the spring season. In this model with coefficient ®=0.1658, the correlation has a weak relationship compared to the correlation coefficient in the summer and

winter seasons. This means the demand is not affected significantly by the fluctuation of temperature during this season. This is because the majority of consumers are not using the air conditioner nor water heaters on spring days.



Figure 5-4 Correlation between daily peak loads and max temperature of Zeyonah area in Baghdad for the spring season

The correlation analysis results in this section show that the results are significant because the role of maximum temperature change having the greatest effect on maximum power demand during summer and winter seasons. In other words, the graphical results give support for our assumption that peak demand consumption in Iraq increases with maximum temperature in summer and decreases in winter while it has less correlation with the same temperature in spring.

This means the fluctuation of the maximum temperature cannot be ignored for summer and winter in this study because it is the most important affecting peak power demand.

### 5.2.2.2 Slope of maximum power against maximum temperature

The regression coefficients for the models are computed as:

$$B_0 = \tilde{y} - b \,\tilde{x} \tag{5.3}$$

$$B_1 = \frac{\sum xy - n\tilde{x}\tilde{y}}{\sum x^2 - n\tilde{x}^2}$$
(5.4)

Which describes a line with slope  $B_1$  and y-intercept  $B_0$ 

The line slope  $B_0$  represents the slope of maximum power against the maximum temperature. It was found that the slope for the summer, winter and spring is 1.3187, - 0.84 and 0.1529 respectively. The coefficients regression for the models are presented in Figure 5-5, 5-6 and 5-7. That means, for an increase of 1°C temperature in the Ziyounah area of Baghdad, there will be an increase of 1.3187 MW, a decrease of 0.84 MW and an increase of 0.1529 MW electricity peak demand during summer, winter and spring seasons respectively.



Figure 5-5 Slope of maximum daily power against maximum daily temperature for the summer season



Figure 5-6 Slope of maximum daily power against maximum daily temperature for the winter season



Figure 5-7 Slope of maximum daily power against maximum daily temperature for the spring season

### 5.2.3 Multiple linear regression analysis

A multiple linear regression model is a statistical technique that can use many explanatory variables to predict the outcome of a response variable. It is generally expressed by the relationship between a single outcome variable (Y) and some explanatory variables (Xi) presented as:

$$Y = B_0 + B_1 x_1 + B_2 x_2 + \dots + B_n x_n + \varepsilon$$
(5.5)

Where  $B_0$ ,  $B_1$ , ...  $B_n$  are the model parameters to be estimated, and *n* is the number of explanatory variables.

The scope of this analysis is to predict the hourly peak load in the winter and summer season of 2020. The historical training data required for the summer and winter season for this analysis are presented in Appendix B.

### 5.3 Artificial Neural Networks (ANN)

STLF based on the ANN technique is considered in this study due to its clear model, easy implementation, and good performance [67]. The other important feature of this technique is its capability of generalization and non-linear learning relationships between variables, as well as its capability to adjust the weights between layers [166]. ANN structure can be classified into two categories as single-layer and multi-layer network. The network that has only the input and output layer connected by the synaptic weights are known as a single layer network. While network with neuron layers between input and output layers are known as the multi-layer neural network. The hidden layer represents the layer between the input and output layer. Multi-Layer Perceptron (MLP) has been selected for this research as their networks have the ability to learn the complex relationship between the input and output patterns which are not possible in the case of single-layer networks [66]. Figure 5-8 shows a multi-layer ANN structure with four layers.



Figure 5-8 Structure of Multi-Layer Network [167]

### 5.4 Evaluation criteria

To investigate the forecast model performance, an intuitive measuring criterion is used. The percentage error is computed at every time step and the model performance is evaluated over the whole period. Many forecasting studies use Mean Absolute Percentage Error (MAPE) as an indication of model performance. This method is calculated with respect to data that is positive only, such as electricity load demand. MAPE is defined as the average of percentage errors and it is expressed as:

$$MAPE = \frac{\sum_{1}^{N} \left| \frac{Actual - Forecast}{Actual} \right|}{N}$$
(5.6)

where N is the sample size, the time samples in this study. The number of samples considered is the number of days in a month or hour in a day. The acceptable

value of MAPE is 5% from a practical point of view [67] and hence the criteria of MAPE 5% will be used as a criterion for acceptable performance. This limit represents the average of all percentage errors among the forecast period. Generally, when different models are subjected to comparison, better performance is evaluated based on the least MAPE error.

### 5.5 The Methodology of Load Forecasting (LF)

A LF model based on Linear Regression (LR) and Artificial Neural Network (ANN) analysis were used to forecast future daily peak and hourly peak demand. Single linear regression analysis was considered to predict the daily peak demand, whilst multiple linear regression was implemented to predict hourly peak demand. In addition, daily and hourly peak load forecasting were obtained using the ANN method, taking into account the same historical data that are used for predicting the daily and hourly peak demand using LR method.

### 5.5.1 The Methodology of daily load forecasting

This section presents the forecasting process using simple linear regression and ANN for forecasting daily load.

For simple linear regression, the procedure is to train the model to estimate its parameters and then to use this forecast model to extrapolate the future daily peak demand. In the first step of the training process, which is used to find the parameters  $B_0$  and  $B_1$ , historical data shown in Figure 5-10 and 5-11 are required for summer and winter seasons. For the second step, correlation analysis is applied to evaluate the relationship between a dependent variable and an independent variable to determine the correlation coefficient (r). It is important to find a strong relationship between independent variables and dependant variables. After the correlation is done, a simple linear regression is applied to estimate the model parameters or coefficients for a given model. Once the model is trained, it is ready for forecasting. For the daily peak demand forecasting, the testing set is the forecasted maximum temperatures provided from the Iraqi Meteorological Organization and Seismology (IMOS), see Figure 5-9. A

common criterion of evaluation between different models is the Mean Average Percentage Error (MAPE).

For daily peak load forecasting, a set of historical data for 2019, i.e. daily peak demand as outputs and maximum temperatures recorded as inputs, is used to train the model for simple linear regression. The input and output data for training is selected for the time interval 01/January/2019 - 01/March/2019 for the winter season, and for time interval 01/May/2019 - 01/October/2019 for the summer season. The daily peak demand forecasting for this technique during the month of January 2020 is assumed as a representative month for winter season. While, the peak demand forecasting during the month of September 2020 is assumed as a representative month for summer season. Figure 5-10 and 5-11 show real historical data of daily peak loads with the maximum temperature were used to train the models for forecasting the daily peak demand for summer and winter seasons for Ziyounah district in Baghdad.



Figure 5-9 Flowchart of modelling and forecasting process for daily peak load using simple linear regression analysis



Figure 5-10 The training data required for forecasting the daily peak of the winter season



Figure 5-11 The training data required for forecasting the daily peak of the summer season

For daily load forecasting using ANN, the nature of electric consumption makes it difficult to be predicted accurately [66]. However, the development of artificial intelligence techniques, particularly the neural networks with their advantage of automatic learning from measured data can be successfully used for electric load prediction, which is extrapolated to the future without the need to add more information about the system [166].

The load forecast model-based ANN was implemented in the MATLAB Neural Networks Toolbox. The model was trained using the same data that are used for predicting the daily peak demand using the simple linear regression method shown in Figure 5-10 and Figure 5-11 to determine the weights of the network.

Then, the use of obtained weights allows the prediction of the output for a given input. The historical data used in predicting the daily peak demand was one input, which represent the daily peak load.

The target for training is one month ahead for the same season. The input and the desired output efforts were made to optimise network parameters during the training phase. The ANN algorithm tries to minimise the difference between the desired and actual output by adjusting the weights of the network. Tangent hyperbolic (tanh) activation function is used for the hidden, and linear activation function is used in the output layer. The output layer has only one neuron in its output layer, which contains the predicted value of the load during the month.



Figure 5-12 Flowchart of the neural network model to forecast daily peak load
The mean absolute percentage error in equation (5.6) is considered to evaluate the accuracy of neural network and the predicted load.

The flowchart of the proposed forecasting model is presented in Figure 5-12. The learning mechanism of this model is summarized as follows:

- Read collecting data is the first step in designing load forecasting based ANN. In this section, the data represents the actual daily peak load of Ziyounah district for a certain month.
- 2. The neural network was initialised by using the function (Newff) for MLP which has one input layer, one hidden layer and one output layer. The transfer function has been chosen as "tansig" and "logsig" for hidden and output layers respectively.
- 3. At the training stage, the network was trained with historical data.
- 4. After the training process, the network was simulated or tested This process is run by calling the function "sim".
- 5. Finally, the best training result is obtained with a minimum value of Mean Absolute Percent Error MAPE (i.e. the lower the MAPE is, the more accurate the estimation is).

# 5.5.2 The Methodology of hourly peak load forecasting

This section presents the forecasting process using multiple linear regression and ANN for forecasting 24h load.

For the methodology of hourly peak load forecasting using multiple linear regression, the procedure is to train the model to estimate its parameters and then to use this forecast model to extrapolate the future hourly peak demand as shown in Figure 5-13. In the first step of the training process, which is used to find the parameters  $B_0$ ,  $B_1$ , ...  $B_n$ , historical data shown in Table 5-1 and 5-2 are required. For the second step, correlation analysis is applied to evaluate the relationship between a dependent variable and an independent variable to determine the correlation coefficient (r). After the correlation is done, multiple linear regression is applied to estimate the model parameters or coefficients for

a given model. Once the model is trained, it is ready for forecasting. For the hourly peak demand forecasting, the testing set is shown in Table 5-2. A common criterion of evaluation between different models is the Mean Average Percentage Error (MAPE).



Figure 5-13 Flowchart of modelling and forecasting process for hourly peak load using multiple linear regression analysis

It was assumed that the 15th January 2020 and 11th July 2020 represent typical days in the winter and summer seasons, and it was selected as a representative

day for hourly peak load forecasting based on multiple linear regression forecasting. Four independent variables, which represents 24-hour load profile for four days, were required to train and test the summer and winter season models as shown in Table 5-1 and Table 5-2. The target was assumed to be the 24-hour load profile of the fifth day, see Table5-1.

	Target (MW)				
day hour	X1= day1 (Sunday)	X4= day 4 (Wednesday)	Y= day5 (Thursday)		
1	P1,1	P1,2	P1,3	P1,4	P1,5
2	P2,1	P2,2	P2,3	P2,4	P2,5
3					
	•			•	
•	•	•	•		•
•		•	•	•	•
24	P24,1	P24,2	P24,3	P24,4	P24,5

Table 5-1 Methodology of creating required data for training (historical data) for 2020

Table 5-2 Methodology of creating required data for testing for year 2020

	Forecast load (MW)				
day hour	X1= day1 (Sunday)	X2= day2 (Monday)	X3= day3 (Tuesday)	X4= day4 (Wednesday)	X4= day5 (Thursday)
1	P1,1	P1,2	P1,3	P1,4	P1,5
2	P2,1	P2,2	P2,3	P2,4	P2,5
3	•	•	•	•	•
24	P24,1	P24,2	P24,3	P24,4	P24,5

For the methodology of hourly peak load forecasting using ANN, the load forecast model-based ANN was implemented in the MATLAB Neural Networks Toolbox. The model was trained using the same historical load data that are used in the multiple linear regression technique to determine the weights of the network, see Table 5-1 and 5-2. Then, the use of obtained weights allows the prediction of the output for a given input. The historical data used in predicting the hourly peak demand were four inputs or days as shown in Figure 5-14 which are the hourly peak power demand for the time interval 7th- 10th July 2019 for the summer season, and the hourly peak power demand in 11th- 14th January 2019 for the winter season, see Appendix B.

The target for training is one day ahead for the same week which is 11<sup>th</sup> July 2019 and 15<sup>th</sup> January 2019 for the summer and winter seasons respectively. The day of a week is suitably coded as an input to the network. The input and the desired output efforts were made to optimise network parameters during the training phase. The ANN algorithm tries to minimise the difference between the desired and actual output by adjusting the weights of the network. Tangent hyperbolic (tanh) activation function is used for the hidden, and linear activation function is used in the output layer. The output layer has only one neuron in its output layer, which contains the predicted value of the load during the day. The architecture of the proposed ANN model is shown in Figure 5-14.



Figure 5-14 The proposed structure of MLP neural network model to forecast hourly peak load



Figure 5-15 Flowchart of the neural network model forecast hourly peak load

The mean absolute percentage error in Equation (5.6) is considered to evaluate the accuracy of neural network and the predicted load.

The flowchart of the proposed forecasting model is presented in Figure 5-15. The learning mechanism of this model is summarized as follows:

- 6. Read collecting data is the first step in designing hourly peak load forecasting based ANN. In this section, the data represents the actual hourly peak load of Ziyounah district for a certain month
- 7. The neural network was initialised by using the function (Newff) for MLP which has one input layer, one hidden layer and one output layer. The transfer function has been chosen as "tansig" and "logsig" for hidden and output layers respectively.
- 8. At the training stage, the network was trained with historical data.
- 9. After the training process, the network was simulated or tested This process is run by calling the function "sim".
- 10. Finally, the best training result is obtained with a minimum value of Mean Absolute Percent Error MAPE (i.e. the lower the MAPE is, the more accurate the estimation is).

# 5.6 Data analysis

### 5.6.1 Daily peak load data analysis

In this study, daily peak demand for the Ziyouna area in Baghdad in 2019 was considered as historical data for training load forecasting based on LR and ANN to predict the maximum daily demand in 2020. This data represents the time interval from May 2019 -September 2019 for the summer season, see Figure 5-11. Whilst, the time interval from January 2019 -February 2019 represent the winter season, as shown in Figure 5-10. Figure 5-10 and 5-11 show the variation of the maximum daily temperature and maximum load with respect to the time during the seasons. It was assumed that the summer season in Iraq is starting from May to September, when the temperature is increasing during this time. Whilst, the winter represent only two months (January and February) because the weather during this period is the coldest in Iraq.

The testing set was the forecasted maximum daily temperatures for September 2020 (summer) to predict the maximum daily load in September 2020. The

maximum daily temperatures for January 2020 (winter) was used to test the model to predict the maximum daily load in January 2020. This data was provided by the Iraqi Meteorological Organization and Seismology (IMOS).

### 5.6.2 Hourly peak load data analysis

Hourly peak load forecasting has been performed on weekdays during the summer and winter seasons using historical load data gathered for the time interval 7th- 11th July 2019, which represent the summer season. Whilst, the time interval 11th -15th Jan 2019 represent the winter season for Ziyouna area in Baghdad.

This data was collected in 2019 using SCADA system at 33/11kV power substation of the Ziyouna distribution network. The load values are representing the dominant residential type of load.

The testing set was the hourly peak load in 2020 gathered for the time interval 7th- 10th July 2019 to predict hourly peak load in 11th July (summer), and for the time interval 11th- 14th January 2020 to predict hourly peak load in 15th January(winter).

### 5.7 Forecasting Results

After training the models, testing was used for load forecasting using LR and ANN techniques to predict the daily peak load for one month ahead for summer and winter seasons of 2020. In addition, 24-hour load demand was predicted based the same techniques for one day ahead in summer and winter seasons of 2020, using the testing data in Appendix B. Once the testing data utilises the model, the forecasting result is presented here in this section. Mean absolute percentage error (MAPE) criteria are computed according to equation (5.6), and the model performance is evaluated over the whole period of time. It was assumed that the 15th January 2020 and 11th July 2020 represent typical days in the winter and summer seasons, and it was selected as a representative day for the LR and ANN forecasting. While, the month of January 2020 and September

2020 represent typical months in the winter and summer seasons, and it was selected as a representative month for both techniques.

Figure 5-16 shows the comparison between the results of daily peak demand for LR against ANN technique during the month of January 2020, which was assumed as a representative month for winter season. It was found that MAPE for LR and ANN models was 3.6% and 3.7% indicating that the forecasted load from the proposed model based LR is closer than that results from ANN. Looking at this result in more details, it can be seen that there is an inaccurate predicted demand by ANN which shown in red line in Figure 5.16 on 29th Jan 2020, i.e. the actual power is greater than the predicted power with approximately 4MW.



Figure 5-16 Comparison of daily peak demand predicted by LR and ANN, with MAPE=3.6% and 3.7%, against actual power for Jan 2020

Figure 5-17 compare the results of daily peak demand for LR against ANN technique during the month of September 2020, which was assumed as a representative month for summer season. It is obvious that the forecasted peak demand using LR technique with MAPE=3%, which represents in blue line is more accurate than the results from ANN with MAPE=3.8%. This means more backup generation units at peak time are required to supply the area based on that error during the month to match the actual demand and keep the system stable. However, there was an acceptable deviation between the actual and predicated,



i.e. under-prediction or over-prediction of the maximum power load, see Figure 5-17.

Figure 5-17 Comparison of monthly peak demand precited by LR and ANN, with MAPE =3% and 3.8%, against actual power for September 2020

Figure 5-18 illustrates the comparison between the result of predicted demand for LR and ANN against with actual power during 24 hours in 11<sup>th</sup> July which was assumed as a representative day for summer season. The recorded MAPE for LR and ANN is 5.7% and 3.7% respectively. Hence, the forecasted hourly peak load from the proposed model using ANN is performing well and the forecasted results are very close to the real demand data. Unlike the result by LR which shows inaccurate predicting during 24hours. Hence, the obtained results of forecasting performance reveal the effectiveness of the ANN model over LR. According to the MAPE results with 5.7% for LR and 3.7% for ANN, the author believes that power operators required more generation units which are 5.7% of peak demand for using LR or 3.7% of peak demand for using ANN. This can assist to avoid any mismatch between the supply and demand due to these errors.



Figure 5-18 Comparison of hourly peak demand precited by LR and ANN, with MAPE =5.7% and 3.7%, against actual power for 11th July 2020

Figure 5-19 compares the results of hourly peak demand for LR and ANN techniques against the actual power during the day of 15th Jan 2020. This date was selected to as a typical day in winter season. The performance of the both techniques of LR and ANN are satisfactory at MAPE =4% and 3.1% respectively.



Figure 5-19 Comparison of hourly peak demand precited by LR and ANN, with MAPE =4%% and 3.1%, against actual power for 15th January 2020

#### 5.8 Conclusion

Load forecasting using LR and ANN is implemented in this study to provides the power operator for Ziyounah in Baghdad with valuable information that can be used in chapter 7 for minimising the operational cost for integrated unit generations and accurately match electricity production to consumption in summer and winter seasons of 2020.

(MAPE) criteria were introduced to evaluate the model performance over the whole seasons. The difference error measures between the predicted and actual results provide useful insight into how the predicted can be used for a varying approach to the energy management for the distribution network of Zyonnah. Load forecasting models, in their present form, may be used in the following chapters for gaining predictive knowledge on the 24-hour load and peak demand forecasted of Zyounah ; which may then be used in achieving goals such as decreased overall operational cost and CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from the generation units that connected to the grid, as well as balancing the supply and demand. If load forecasting is advantageous for the operator to meet these goals or other motivation, it is vital to understand the limitations of the LR and ANN's ability to accurately predict the demand.

According to the MAPE results, the author believes that load forecasting using LR provides predictions of peak demand that are accurate enough to be used in chapter 7 for planning the required generation units at peak time to supply the area based on the daily peak predicted demand during the month. This might be because of a strong correlation between the maximum temperature and the daily peak demand during the summer and winter seasons, i.e. the demand is affected significantly by the fluctuation of temperature during both seasons. It was found that the correlation coefficient for summer and winter is 0.8872, -0.904, respectively. The positive value of regression R at 0.8872 in summer means that the daily peak load is proportional directly with the ambient temperature during this period of time. Whilst, the negative value of regression R, at -0.904 in winter, indicates that the daily peak load is inversely proportional with the ambient temperature during this season. This attributed to a large number of usages of air conditioning in summer and water heaters in winter.

MAPE results for the ANN shows that this technique is more accurate than the LR technique in predicting 24-hour demand to control and scheduling the power system during the daytime. This because of its ability to deal with non-linear learning relationships between variables (hourly peak demand).

Due to the reasons outlined above, it is, therefore, load forecasting using LR in predicting peak demand for one month ahead (January 2020 and July 2020) and ANN in predicting hourly peak demand for one day ahead (15 January 2020 and 11 July 2020) is considered in this study.

# **Chapter 6**

# Economic power dispatch in Iraq power systems

# 6.1 Introduction

This chapter describes an optimal dispatch for the power operator of Ziyounah distribution network to calculate the optimal production schedule for connecting diesel generators and PV into the network in relation to the network's operating constraints. This approach can bring energy, environmental, and economic benefits not only to the power operator of Ziyounah in Baghdad but also to other power users whose generation suppliers do not meet their peak demands.

In this study, Economic dispatch analysis was carried out using Lagrange multiplier (LM) and linear programming methods (LP) and assisted by the MATLAB application based on forecasted demand in summer and winter seasons because operational decisions in power systems such as economic dispatch depends on the future behaviour of demand [168][169].

The overall objective is to determine the optimal dispatch power for various size of diesel generators including PV and grid import to reduce the total operating cost and CO<sub>2</sub> emissions simultaneously for the integrated generation units while meeting the peak during 24hour in the summer and winter season. To reflect the environmental effect for diesel generators, the calculation of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from diesel generators can be calculated at any output power by using the Equations (3.5) or (3.6).

Results demonstrate that the proposed for LM and LP is a highly suitable and simple approach to determining the optimal dispatch in the power system with various types of generator sources subject to several constraints. The environmental effect of diesel fuel led to using PV to meet the rising power demand[136]. In this context, the integration of PV to meet the demand of a given area is a promising scenario to overcome the Iraqi power system challenges. The main reason for support to PV technologies is that they are desirable technologies that must be supported because they are suitable for the environment and contribute to sustainability and energy security objectives. Though, for various legitimate reasons, they are still comparatively expensive sources and tend to disrupt the normal way that power systems are used to operate[18].

# 6.2 Operating cost of a diesel generator

The operating cost of a diesel generator plays a vital role in economic scheduling. It is equal to the fuel consumption of a diesel generator(litre/kWh) multiply by the price of fuel (£/litre). As mentioned in Chapter3, the fuel consumption depends on the size of the generator and the load at which the generator operates at. For example, a diesel generator size 250kW has an operating cost of about 0.1 £/kWh when the generator operates near 25% of its rated power. In contrast, the same generator operates approximately 0.078 £/kWh if it is operating at full load, see Table 6-1 and Figure 6-1.

	1/4 Load Operating cost		1/2 Load Operating cost		3/4 1	Load	Full load		
Generator Size (kW)					Operat	ing cost	Operating cost		
	£/kWh	£/h	£/kWh	£/ h	£/kWh	£/ h	£/kWh	£/ h	
250	0.0994	6.213	0.0828	10.355	0.0790	14.824	0.0784	19.62	
500	0.0959	11.99	0.0806	20.165	0.0767	28.776	0.0778	38.91	
750	0.0947	17.76	0.0796	29.866	0.0761	42.837	0.0776	58.20	
1000	0.0941	23.54	0.0793	39.67	0.0757	56.789	0.0775	77.49	

Table 6-1 The operating (marginal) cost per kWh and the cost per hour for differentsizes of diesel generators based on Iraqi fuel cost<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Cost for 1gallon of diesel in Iraq =  $\pounds$ 1.09 based on rate currency= 1666.67



Figure 6-1 The operating (marginal) cost per kWh for 250kW, 500kW and 1000kW of diesel generators

# 6.3 Developing the operating cost model of a diesel generator

The input-output characteristics of a fossil fuel generating set plays an important role when the economic operation is considered [136]. Operating efficiencies of generators and fuel cost have a significant effect on operation cost of diesel generators. The fuel costs generated by these units are described using quadratic functions [8], [11], [13], [15].

In practical cases, the fuel cost of a diesel generator can be expressed as a quadratic function of real power generation[2], [121] [5], [6].

$$Ci = \alpha i + \beta i P i + \gamma i P i^2 \quad \pounds / h \tag{6.1}$$

Where:  $i = \{1, 2, 3, ..., N\}$ , N = the number of generation units;  $\alpha i$ ,  $\beta i$ , and  $\gamma i$  are the coefficients for the cost equations of the ith generator; Pi is the power output of the ith generator.

To obtain the cost model for generators, Table 6-1 is used as an estimate of the quantity of fuel consumption uses during operation. From Table 6-1, the fuel cost of four groups of diesel generators is found by using a quadratic regression analysis which is a way to model a relationship between the output power (kW) and the operating cost ( $\pounds$ /h). The result is a regression equation that is used to make predictions about the operating cost for the generators.

To find the coefficients of  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$ , we assumed that (x) represents the output power of generators and (y) represents the operating cost (£/h). The regression equations are presented here [174].

$$\alpha = \frac{[S(x^2y) * S(xx)] - [S(xy) * S(xx^2)]}{[(S(xx) * S(x^2x^2)] - [S(xx^2)]^2}$$
(6.2)

$$\beta = \frac{[S(xy) * S(x^2x^2)] - [S(x^2y) * S(xx^2)]}{[(S(xx) * S(x^2x^2)] - [S(xx^2)]^2}$$
(6.3)

$$\gamma = \frac{\sum y_i}{n} - \beta \frac{\sum x_i}{n} - \alpha \frac{\sum x_i^2}{n}$$
(6.4)

Where:

$$i = \{1, 2, 3, ..., n\}, n = the sample size$$

$$S(xx) = \sum x_i^2 - \frac{(\sum x_i)^2}{n}$$

$$S(xy) = \sum x_i y_i - \sum x_i * \frac{\sum y_i}{n}$$

$$S(xx^2) = \sum x_i^3 - \sum x_i * \frac{\sum x_i^2}{n}$$

$$S(x^2y) = \sum x_i^2 y_i - \sum x_i^2 * \frac{\sum y_i}{n}$$

$$S(x^2x^2) = \sum x_i^4 - \frac{(\sum x_i^2)^2}{n}$$

Table 6-2 Coefficients	of the cost	equation	for four	size of	diesel	generators b	by using
	regression	analysis ł	based on	n Table	6-1		

The coefficients of the cost equations	Units	G1	G2	G3	G4
α	£/h	2.351	5.0685	7.621	10.35
β	£/ kWh	0.06	0.052	0.05	0.049
γ	$\pounds/kW^2h$	0.000052	0.000034	0.000024	0.0000185



Figure 6-2 Coefficients of Alpha, Beta and Gama for cost equations for generators in G1, G2, G3 and G4

For calculating the fuel cost for diesel generators at various loading, the coefficients equation  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\gamma$  are considered. The calculation is presented in Figure 6-3. by using Equation (6.1).



Figure 6-3 Graphs of fuel cost of four diesel generator types 250kW, 500kW, 750kW and 1000kW during operating

# 6.4 Assumptions

In this chapter, it is assumed that the electricity from the national grid should not exceed 77.5% of the peak demand. This allocation is calculated by the Ministry of Electricity for Baghdad Governorate which depends on several factors such as population and the size of demand for that area.

The assumptions are taken into account as:

The number of diesel generators distributed in Ziyouna region are:

- Group1: Ge1, Ge2, Ge3, Ge4, Ge5 and Ge6 = 250 kW 6 units
- Group2: Ge7, Ge8, Ge9, Ge10, Ge11and Ge12 = 500 kW 6 units
- Group3: Ge13, Ge14, Ge15 and G16 = 750 kW 4 units
- Group4: G17, G18, and G19 =1000 kW 3 units
- Total capacity of diesel power generations = 10,500 kW
- National electricity supply ≤77.5% of peak load (Source: Ministry of Electricity)
- Using renewable energy sources with high priority and when are available.
- The number of the PV system is 200 systems. Every system consists of 12 panels with total power rated of 10kW
- Cost for 1gallon of diesel in Iraq =  $\pounds 1.09$ , or 1 litre of diesel=  $\pounds 0.2397$
- Neglecting line power losses in the analysis of total production cost
- It has been chosen that 12<sup>th</sup> July and 15<sup>th</sup> January are representative days for the summer and winter seasons in Iraq.

# 6.5 Calculations of the number of diesel generators

Calculation of the number of diesel generators is important every day with varying peak loads during the seasons. The minimum number of these units will be available and selected before applying the dispatch analysis.

Scheduling of generators can be divided into two separate parts: unit commitment and economic dispatch. Unit commitment takes place before the real-time operation and determines the set of generating units that will be available for dispatch. Economic dispatch is undertaken in real-time and determines the amount of generation required from each available unit[175]. In this section, a simple unit commitment is used to determine the minimum number of diesel generators required every day with varying peak loads, i.e. the number of diesel generators required is calculated before applying the dispatched power of the generation units. This calculation is simple to the problem and it can be conducted to impose priority order, wherein the most efficient units (the bigger size of diesel generators) are loaded first to be followed by the less efficient units (the smaller size of diesel generators) in order as the peak load increases. Therefore, if < PD, we increase the number of units otherwise, if > PD, we reduce the number of units. The best result occurs when = PD, taking into consideration that the bigger size of generators is the top priority

In the summer season, all the diesel generators are required to be integrated into the distribution network of Ziyounah due to a severe shortage of generation during this time. But in the winter season, the number of diesel generators required is calculated as shown in Table 6-3. This table shows the minimum number of diesel generators at peak load and the additional generation required to match the demand in the district.

The calculations are for January 2020 considering the predicted maximum demand. We assume that these generators are operating at full load. For instance, on the 15th January 2020, the power supply required is 8500kW, see Table6-3. Therefore, the numbers of required generators are:

Group4: 3X1000kW= 3000kW,

Group3: 4X750kW= 3000kW,

Group2: 5X500kW= 2500kW,

Group1: 0X250kW = 0 kW,

Total = 8500kW this represented the total output power of required generators operating at 100% to match the maximum load on the15<sup>th</sup> January 2020.

Day	Predicted maximum demand	Maximum Power supply required <sup>7</sup> to meet the demand in MW = 22.5% *Predicted	Number of Generators for group1- group4 Gr1 Gr2 Gr3 Gr4 250 500 750 1000			Total maximum generation of diesel generators (MW)	
1	34.408	7.038	0	4	4	3	8
2	35.332	7.227	0	4	4	3	8
3	34.408	7.038	0	4	4	3	8
4	33.484	6.849	0	4	4	3	8
5	33.946	6.9435	0	4	4	3	8
6	33.484	6.849	0	4	4	3	8
7	32.56	6.66	0	3	4	3	7.5
8	28.853	5.901	0	2	4	3	7
9	28.853	5.901	0	2	4	3	7
10	30.25	6.187	0	2	4	3	7
11	29.788	6.093	0	2	4	3	7
12	27.929	5.712	0	1	4	3	6.5
13	28.853	5.901	0	1	4	3	6.5
14	30.712	6.282	0	2	4	3	7
15	35.574	7.515	0	5	4	3	8.5
16	34.408	7.038	0	3	4	3	7.5
17	37.191	7.607	0	5	4	3	8.5
18	33.484	6.849	0	4	4	3	8
19	31.262	6.3945	0	3	4	3	7.5
20	32.56	6.66	0	3	4	3	7.5
21	30.899	6.320	0	2	4	3	7
22	33.484	6.849	0	4	4	3	8

 Table 6-3 Minimum number of diesel generators required for January 2020 for Ziyouna district/ Baghdad based on forecasting load

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The percentage of 22.5% assumed to be the gap between supply and peak demand, providing by Ministry of Electricity for Baghdad. This means about 77.5% of maximum demand can be supplied as permissible limit from the grid.

$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$								
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	23	34.408	7.038	0	4	4	3	8
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	24	34.782	7.114	0	4	4	3	8
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	25	32.56	6.66	0	3	4	3	7.5
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	26	35.332	7.227	0	4	4	3	8
28       34.87       7.132       0       4       4       3       8         29       36.729       7.512       0       5       4       3       8.5         30       34.408       7.038       0       4       4       3       8         31       35.332       7.227       0       4       4       3       8	27	35.332	7.227	0	4	4	3	8
29         36.729         7.512         0         5         4         3         8.5           30         34.408         7.038         0         4         4         3         8           31         35.332         7.227         0         4         4         3         8	28	34.87	7.132	0	4	4	3	8
30         34.408         7.038         0         4         4         3         8           31         35.332         7.227         0         4         4         3         8	29	36.729	7.512	0	5	4	3	8.5
31 35.332 7.227 0 4 4 3 8	30	34.408	7.038	0	4	4	3	8
	31	35.332	7.227	0	4	4	3	8

## 6.6 Optimal scheduling of generation using Lagrange multipliers

Since losses are neglected, the total demand PD is the sum of all generation outputs. Ci is assumed to be known for each generator. The problem is to find the real power generation for each generator such that the objective function (i.e., total production cost) as defined by the equation [176] [177].

$$Ct = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha i + \beta i P i + \gamma i P i^2$$
(6.5)

is at a minimum

Where  $Ct = C1 + C2 + C3 + \dots + Cn$ 

subject to the constraint

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} Pi = PD \tag{6.6}$$

Where Ct is the total production cost, Ci is the production cost of the ith generator. Pi is the generation of ith generator. PD is the total load demand which equal to the difference between the forecasting demand and allocated supply from national electricity, and n is the total number of dispatchable generating units.

The objective function is found by using the Lagrange multipliers [170], [172].

$$\mathbf{L} = \mathbf{Ct} + \lambda \left( \mathbf{PD} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} Pi \right) \tag{6.7}$$

The minimum of this unconstrained function is found when

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial Pi} = 0 \tag{6.8}$$

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial \lambda} = 0 \tag{6.9}$$

First condition, given by (6.8), results in

$$\frac{\partial \operatorname{Ct}}{\partial \operatorname{Pi}} + \lambda(0-1) = 0 \tag{6.10}$$

Since  $Ct = C1 + C2 + C3 + \dots + Cn$ 

Then 
$$\frac{\partial \operatorname{Ct}}{\partial \operatorname{Pi}} = \frac{d \operatorname{Ct}}{d\operatorname{Pi}} = \lambda$$
, therefore the condition for optimal dispatch is  
 $\frac{d \operatorname{Ct}}{d\operatorname{Pi}} = \lambda$  i=1, 2,....n  
Or  $\beta i + 2\gamma i \operatorname{Pi} = \lambda$  (6.11)

Second condition, given by (6.9), results in

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} Pi = PD \tag{6.12}$$

To find the solution, (6.11) is solved for *Pi* 

$$Pi = \frac{\lambda - \beta i}{2\gamma i} \tag{6.13}$$

The relations given by (6.13) are known as the coordination equations.

An analytical solution can be obtained by substitution for Pi in (6.12)

Then 
$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\lambda - \beta_i}{2\gamma_i} = PD$$
 (6.14)

To find the optimal scheduling of generation, the value of  $\lambda$ , Coordination equation is presented here

$$\lambda = \frac{PD + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\beta_i}{2\gamma_i}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{1}{2\gamma_i}}$$
(6.15)

To demonstrate the concept of equal operating cost for optimal dispatch, Figure 6-4 can be used to determine the operating cost dC/dP graphically for each generator on the same graph[178]. Obviously, the load on the generator with higher dC/dP will be reduced by increasing the load taken by the generator with the lower dC/dP. This change is beneficial until the values of dC/dP for all generator are equal ( $\lambda = dCi/dPi$ ).

To obtain a result, various values of  $\lambda$  can be tried until one is found that produces  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} Pi = PD$ . The horizontal dashed-line shown in this graph is moved down and up until at the optimum value when  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} Pi = PD$ . Hence, for each  $\lambda$ , if  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} Pi < PD$ , we increase  $\lambda$  otherwise, if  $\sum_{i=1}^{n} Pi > PD$ , we reduce  $\lambda$ . For example, at maximum load with PD =9900kW, the optimal dispatch for generators in Ge1, Ge2, Ge3, and Ge4 are 6X240kW, 6X470kW, 4X702kW and 3X944kW respectively at  $\lambda = 0.084$  ±/kWh as shown in Figure 6-4



Figure 6-4 Graphs of incremental fuel cost against output for four diesel generators sharing a load for Ziyounah/ Baghdad

The solution steps for obtaining the optimal cost-effective allocation of generations and their minimum operationg cost are summarized in Figure 6-5.

![](_page_131_Figure_1.jpeg)

Figure 6-5 Flowchart for obtaining power schedule and minimum operation cost for diesel generators using Lagrange multipliers

# 6.7 Optimal scheduling of generation using the Linear Programming

The linear programming method is an optimisation technique for a problem of linear constraints and a linear objective function. The objective of linear programming is to find values of the variables that minimise or maximise the objective function. This technique has been considered widely to optimise the allocation of power resources[179]–[181]. In this section, the linear programming method is used for obtaining the optimum generation schedule for integrated generation units that minimises the total operation cost with given constraints.

# 6.7.1 Methodology:

To minimize cost of dispatching local generation

- Use renewable energy sources with high priority and when are available.
- Differentiate the four types of diesel generators by the cost of fuels
  - 1. The biggest size of generators can be generally considered cheaper
  - 2. The smaller size of diesel generators can be generally considered expensive
- Input profiles
  - 1. Demand profile is considered from the previous chapter (chapter5) based on the forecasting analysis.
  - 2. 24-hour output profile as shown in appendix A.
- Output profiles
  - 1. The optimal usage allocation of the five sources of generation as well as the optimal amount of grid import.
  - 2. The minimum operating cost of the five sources of generation as well as the optimal amount of grid import during the day. To reflect the environmental effect for diesel generators, the calculation of

CO2 emissions produced from diesel generators can be obtained at any output power by using the Equations (3.5) or (3.6).

## 6.7.2 Mathematical formulation

### **Problem description**

- Consider Hourly profile in one day 24 data points  $t \in [1,24]$ .
- Input set: J = [1: PV, x<sub>1</sub>(t); 2: G250, x<sub>2</sub>(t); 3: G500, x<sub>3</sub>(t); 4: G750, x<sub>4</sub>(t); 5: G1000, x<sub>5</sub>(t) 6: grid import, x<sub>6</sub>(t)].
- The cost of using  $x_1(t), x_2(t), x_3(t), x_4(t), x_5(t), x_6(t)$  is set up as  $[c_1(t), c_2(t), c_3(t), c_4(t), c_5(t)]$  with  $c_1(t)$  the lowest and  $c_5(t)$  the highest.
- The production capacity limit of the four types of generation is set as
   0 ≤ x<sub>1</sub>(t) ≤ PV(t), Ib2 ≤ x<sub>2</sub>(t) ≤ ub2, Ib<sub>3</sub> ≤ x<sub>3</sub>(t) ≤ ub<sub>3</sub>, Ib<sub>4</sub> ≤ x<sub>4</sub>(t) ≤ ub<sub>4</sub>, Ib<sub>5</sub> ≤ x<sub>5</sub>(t) ≤ ub<sub>5</sub>.

Therefore, the optimisation problem can be written as follows:

$$\min_{x_j} \sum_{j \in J} c_j(t) x_j(t) \tag{6.16}$$

s.t.: 
$$\begin{cases} lb_j \le x_j(t) \le ub_j \\ \sum_{j \in J} x_j(t) = D(t) \end{cases}$$
(6.17)

### 6.1.1 Mathematical formulation translated into MATLAB

Recall the standard linprog format in MATLAB as follows:

$$\min_{x} f^{T} * x \text{ such that} \begin{cases} A * x \leq b, \\ A_{eq} * x = b_{eq} \\ lb \leq x \leq ub \end{cases}$$

Step1: Equations (6.16), (6.17) can be written as:

$$\min_{\substack{x_1(t), x_2(t), x_3(t), x_4(t), x_5(t)}} \sum_{t=1}^{24} c_1(t) * x_1(t) + c_2(t) * x_2(t) + c_3(t) * x_3(t) + c_4(t) * x_4(t) + c_5(t) * x_5(t)$$
(6.18)

Subject to:

$$\begin{split} x_1(t) + x_2(t) + x_3(t) + x_4(t) + x_5(t) + x_6(t) &= D(t) \\ 0 &\leq x_1(t) \leq PV(t) \\ lb_2 &\leq x_2(t) \leq ub_2 \\ lb_3 &\leq x_3(t) \leq ub_3 \\ lb_4 &\leq x_4(t) \leq ub_4 \\ lb_5 &\leq x_5(t) \leq ub_5 \\ lb_6 &\leq x_6(t) \leq Inf \end{split}$$

Step2: Combine variables into one vector

$$\begin{bmatrix} x_1 & \cdots & x_{24} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ x_{121} & \cdots & x_{144} \end{bmatrix} \stackrel{\mathsf{<==}}{\underset{\mathsf{<=}}{\overset{\mathsf{<}}}} x_6(t)$$

**Step 3:** Write the lower bounds vector ( $lb \le x$ )

$$lb = zeros(144, 1)$$
$$lb(49:72) = lb_3$$
$$lb(73:96) = lb_4$$
$$lb(97:120) = lb_5$$
$$lb(121:144) = lb_6$$

**Step 4:** Write the upper bounds vector ( $x \le ub$ )

$$ub = zeros(144, 1)$$
  
 $ub(1: 24) = PV$   
 $ub(25: 48) = ub_2$   
 $ub(49: 72) = ub_3$   
 $ub(73: 96) = ub_4$   
 $ub(97: 120) = ub_5$ 

ub(121:144) = Inf

**Step 5:** Write linear equality matrix and vector  $(A_{eq} * x = b_{eq})$ 

$$\begin{cases} x_1(1) + x_2(1) + x_3(1) + x_4(1) + x_5(1) + x_6(1) = D(1) \\ \vdots \\ x_1(24) + x_2(24) + x_3(24) + x_4(24) + x_5(24) + x_6(24) = D(24) \end{cases}$$

That is,

$$\begin{cases} x_1 + x_{25} + x_{49} + x_{73} + x_{97} + x_{121} = D(1) \\ & \cdot \\ & \\$$

 $A_{eq}$  is a matrix of size 24X144 and  $b_{eq}$  is a matrix of size 24X1.

Hence,

$$A_{eq} = zeros(24,144)$$

$$b_{eq} = zeros(24,1)$$

$$\begin{cases}
A_{eq}(1, [1,25,49,73,97,121]) = ones(1,6) \\
A_{eq}(2, [2,26,50,74,98,122]) = ones(1,6) \\
\vdots \\
A_{eq}(24, [24,48,72,96,120,144]) = ones(1,6)
\end{cases}$$

Step 6: Write objective function vector

$$Cost = \begin{bmatrix} c_{1}(1) \\ \vdots \\ c_{1}(24) \end{bmatrix} * \begin{bmatrix} x_{1} & \dots & x_{24} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} c_{2}(1) \\ \vdots \\ c_{2}(24) \end{bmatrix} * \begin{bmatrix} x_{25} & \dots & x_{48} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} c_{3}(1) \\ \vdots \\ c_{3}(24) \end{bmatrix} \\ * \begin{bmatrix} x_{49} & \dots & x_{72} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} c_{4}(1) \\ \vdots \\ c_{4}(24) \end{bmatrix} * \begin{bmatrix} x_{73} & \dots & x_{96} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} c_{5}(1) \\ \vdots \\ c_{5}(24) \end{bmatrix} \\ * \begin{bmatrix} x_{97} & \dots & x_{120} \end{bmatrix} + + \begin{bmatrix} c_{6}(1) \\ \vdots \\ c_{6}(24) \end{bmatrix} * \begin{bmatrix} x_{121} & \dots & x_{144} \end{bmatrix}$$

Hence, the objective function can be written as

minimise Cost = 
$$f^{T} * x = f(1) * x_{1} + \dots + f(144) * x_{144}$$

Therefore,

f = zeros(144, 1)

$$f(1:24) = \begin{bmatrix} c_1(1) \\ . \\ . \\ . \\ . \\ c_1(24) \end{bmatrix}$$

$$f(25:48) = \begin{bmatrix} c_2(1) \\ \cdot \\ \cdot \\ \cdot \\ c_2(24) \end{bmatrix}$$

$$f(49:72) = \begin{bmatrix} c_3(1) \\ \cdot \\ \cdot \\ \cdot \\ c_3(24) \end{bmatrix}$$

$$f(73:96) = \begin{bmatrix} c_4(1) \\ \cdot \\ \cdot \\ \cdot \\ c_4(24) \end{bmatrix}$$

$$f(97:120) = \begin{bmatrix} c_5(1) \\ \cdot \\ \cdot \\ c_5(24) \end{bmatrix}$$

$$f(121:144) = \begin{bmatrix} c_6(1) \\ \cdot \\ \cdot \\ c_6(24) \end{bmatrix}$$

 $[x^*, fval, \sim] = linprog(f, A, b, A_{eq}, b_{eq}, lb, ub)$ 

Therefore, the optimal solutions are as follows,

$$x_{1}^{*} = x^{*}(1:24)$$

$$x_{2}^{*} = x^{*}(25:48)$$

$$x_{3}^{*} = x^{*}(49:72)$$

$$x_{4}^{*} = x^{*}(73:96)$$

$$x_{5}^{*} = x^{*}(97:120)$$

$$x_{6}^{*} = x^{*}(121:144)$$

### 6.8 Simulation results

On the basis of the maximum hourly demand forecasted and the maximum available power generation of the diesel generators and PV, considering the operating constraints, we show the numerical results of the optimal dispatch using LM and LP techniques for the summer and winter seasons.

### 6.8.1 Summer result

Figures 6-6 and 6-7 show the optimal allocation of the four sizes of diesel generation as well as PVs and grid import to match the demand hour by hour in a stacked bar using LM and LP methods respectively. At each hour, the sum of the coloured areas is equal to the load in that hour. Obviously, the big size of the generators with the lowest marginal costs are more likely to operate at a high loading to satisfy the demand at a minimum operating cost. The result of economic dispatch using both techniques LM and PL reveal that the power supply from 19 diesel generators (total 10,500kW) and 200 PV(10kW each) in Zyounah area can meet the forecasted hourly demand on hot summer days with minimum operational cost.

![](_page_138_Figure_2.jpeg)

Figure 6-6 Optimal hourly usage comparison of each generating source on 12 July 2020, summer season using LM method

![](_page_139_Figure_0.jpeg)

Figure 6-7 Optimal hourly usage comparison of each generating source on 12th July 2020, summer season using LP method

Figure 6-8 Compares the results of the total minimum operation cost of PVs, diesel generators, and grid import. It was found that the total operation cost for the total generation sources in 12th July 2020 using LM and LP methods is  $\pounds77,955$  and  $\pounds78,814$  respectively. However, between 13:00 to 17:00, electricity is the most expensive since the demand is at a maximum during this period.

![](_page_139_Figure_3.jpeg)

Figure 6-8 Comparison between LM and LP methods in total operation cost for generation supply in 12th July 2020 (summer)

### 6.8.2 winter result

As mentioned in section 6.5, the required number of diesel generators in 15<sup>th</sup> January2020 are:

G1= 0x250kW G2= 5x500kW G3= 4x750kWG4= 3x1000kW

Figures 6-9 and 6-10 illustrate the optimal composition of each generating source at each hour in a stacked bar on 15<sup>th</sup> January 2020, highlighting the total available PV. The flexibility from these generating sources consists of the rest of the PV. This amount of flexibility can be exported to the grid, store in a battery energy storage system or participate in ancillary services in an optimal cost-effective manner.

![](_page_140_Figure_4.jpeg)

Figure 6-9 Optimal hourly usage comparison of each generating source in 15th January 2020, winter season using LM method

![](_page_141_Figure_0.jpeg)

Figure 6-10 Optimal hourly usage comparison of each generating source in 15th January 2020, winter season using LP method

Figure 6-11 illustrates the comparison between the result of the total operation cost of all generation sources, including grid import for LM and LP methods during 24 hours on 11th July which was assumed as a representative day for the winter season. It was found that the results of the minimum operation cost for total generation sources in 12th July 2020 using LM and LP methods is £49,386 and £49,904 respectively.

The dispatch power using LM and LP succeed to obtain the approximate results of minimum operating cost while still meeting operators' constraints. Hence, the obtained results reveal the effectiveness of the LM and LP.

![](_page_142_Figure_0.jpeg)

Figure 6-11 Comparison between LM and LP methods in total operation cost for generation supply in 15th January 2020 (winter)

# 6.9 Conclusions

Due to a severe shortage of generation in the Iraq power system (Ziyonah area of Baghdad), four groups of diesel generators with a10,500 kW total capacity and PV (200 systems 10kWeach) are assumed in section 6.4 to be integrated in the power system to overcome this problem. But The integrated generation units, including grid import need to be carried out by economics dispatch, which is how to get a minimum operating cost while still meeting operators' constraints. To solve this problem, it is necessary to design an optimisation tool for energy users or power operators to unlock their electricity flexibility of distrubuted generators and to assist in the decision-making process.

This chapter has presented two solution methodologies of economic power dispatch problems concerning the integration of distributed generation into electric power systems that are of most interest to the stakeholders planners and operators, policymakers and regulators, particilarly for countries whose their power system facing a severe shortage of generation such as Iraq. Implementation is done using MATLAB programming, and the results of the optimal cost-effective allocation of generations and their total operation cost are presented. LM and LP are optimasation tools that determine the optimal allocation of generation units are presented. The overall objective is to determine the optimal dispatch power for the diesel generators, taking into consederation that the bigger size of generators in the top priorty as their operating cost are cheaper, including PV and grid import to reduce the total operating cost for the integrated generation units to generate whenever is required to meet the peak during 24hour in the summer and winter season.

The importance of emission reduction is paramount in terms of environmental perspective and, hence the reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from diesel generators and penetration of more PV into the distribution network is encouraged.

The chapter has also presented the models of fuel cost for diesel generators at any loading based on the coefficients equation  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\gamma$ , which are obtained using regression analysis in section 6.3.

Results demonstrate that the proposed for LM and LP is a highly suitable and simple approach to determining the optimal dispatch in the power system with various types of generator sources subject to several constraints.
### **Chapter 7**

### Conclusions and recommendations for future work

### 7.1 Introduction

This chapter reviews the conclusions of this research and summarises the key findings that answer the research questions. It provides a number of recommendations for power operators and policymakers in the context of the case study in Iraq for future work. This chapter also summarises the main limitations and outlines the contributions of the work.

### 7.2 Conclusions of the research

This study presents a comprehensive assessment of the use of diesel generators in Iraq. These were introduced due to the lack of electricity supply for a country that has suffered several decades of wars and international sanctions. The results of the case study in Baghdad describe a realistic situation to provide a clear picture and to address multiple directions of solutions, including future planning vision and to address current and future conditions.

In this research, existing off-grid diesel generators of the Zyounah region in Baghdad are investigated to provide an understanding of the challenges of these generators for the consumers in terms of their environmental and economic consequences. Models of both diesel fuel consumption and carbon emissions were created to determine the hourly fuel consumption, efficiencies and carbon emissions of a diesel generator during operation. The findings reveal that the efficiency of the diesel generator is inversely proportional to the fuel consumption rate, CO2 emissions and rated power of the diesel generator with constant load demand. In other words, if the load is less than the generator's size, the generator's efficiency will drop, and the generator will consume a large amount of fuel and emit more CO<sub>2</sub> emissions. Hence, the rated power of a diesel generator should be close to the required load demand.

This study also presented an important challenge to the Iraqi power system and proposed the solution of integrating the diesel generators into the distribution network. The integration of distributed generation into electric power systems is of interest to the stakeholders; planners and operators, policymakers and regulators, particularly for countries whose power system faces a severe shortage of generation such as Iraq. It presents a methodology to find the best placement and the right size of the diesel generators in the distribution network of Ziyounah in the Baghdad area. The optimisation of their location and size has many advantages such as meeting the incremental demand, reducing the total real power losses and enhancing the network performance most effectively. The optimisation is solved by the combination of genetic algorithm (GA) techniques with power flow to evaluate the impact of the diesel generators on network performance, including through a reduction in real power loss and acoustic noise from the generators and improving the network voltage profile. The fitness evaluation function that drives the proposed method to the solution is the Network Performance Index (NPI).

The results in Chapter 4 showed that the determination of the best locations for connection generators with the help of the proposed Network Performance Index (NPI) leads to savings in electricity due to real power loss reduction in the network.

Load forecasting for maximum daily and hourly demand is implemented in this study using Linear Regression (LR) and ANN. Chapter 6 discusses minimising the operational cost of integrating the generators and accurately matching electricity production to consumption in the summer and winter seasons of 2020. A criterion of Mean Absolute Percentage Error (MAPE) was introduced to evaluate the model performance over the whole season. The finding reveals that the load forecasting using LR provides predictions of peak demand that are accurate enough to be used for planning the required generation units at peak

times to supply the area based on the maximum daily peak predicted demand during the month. However, the result for hourly peak demand using ANN is more accurate than the LR technique according to the MAPE. The forecasted results for 24-hour demand produced from ANN technique is more suitable compared to the result from LR technique. Load forecasting using LR to predict peak demand one month ahead (January 2020 and July 2020) and ANN to predict hourly peak demand for one day ahead (15 January 2020 and 11 July 2020) was undertaken.

Due to the mismatch between generation and maximum demand (Ziyonah area of Baghdad), four groups of diesel generators with a 10,500kW total capacity and PV (200 systems 10kW each) are integrated into the power system to overcome this problem. The integrated generation units, including grid imports, were scheduled by economic dispatch, to get a minimum operating cost while still meeting operators' constraints. This research presented two solution methodologies of economic power dispatch, using Lagrange multiplier and linear programming methods.

Implementation is done using MATLAB programming, and the results of the optimal cost allocation of generators and their total operation cost are presented. The overall objective is to determine the optimal dispatch power for the diesel generators, including PV and grid import to reduce the total operating cost for the integrated generation units to generate whenever is required to meet the peak during 24hour in the summer and winter season. Results demonstrate that the proposed Lagrange Multiplier and Linear Programming are suitable and simple approaches to determining the optimal dispatch in the power system with various types of generator subject to several constraints.

### 7.3 Answering the research questions

**RQ1:** How do the third parties sell electricity from the diesel generators to Iraqi consumers?

Chapter 3 answered RQ1 by comparing the electricity tariff for the government supply and neighbourhood generators for lower-class households, i.e. these customers with 1500kWh of monthly consumption. The finding revealed that the cost from diesel generators is 47 times more expensive than the electricity provided by the government. Therefore, the efforts to reduce the contribution or costs of neighbourhood diesel generators could improve electricity affordability for most, if not all, families., The household might pay as much as £ 3000 per year to the operator of the neighbourhood generator as the generator charges are as much as £15/month per Ampere of capacity.

**RQ2:** How are carbon emissions and fuel consumption estimated for a diesel generator at any operating load?

A study described in chapter 3 was conducted to obtain models for carbon emissions and fuel consumptions for a diesel generator used linear regression analysis with two independent variables, which are nominal capacity and power output of the diesel generator based on the collected data in this research. It was found that the results of both models depend on the size (rating) of the generator and the load at which the generator operates at, i.e. depend on the efficiency of the generator.

**RQ4:** How would the integration of the stand-alone neighbourhood diesel generators into the Iraq power system provide technical and economic benefits with low environmental effect?

To answer this question, a study in chapter 4 was conducted to show the advantages of integrating diesel generators in Iraq's power system which is facing significant challenges due to the mismatch between generation and supply. The finding reveals that if these existing diesel generators were to be well-placed, they could provide benefits to the grid by helping to reduce the real power losses, stabilize the grid voltage, and improves the network performance. In addition, the integration of diesel generators in suitable locations in the power

system based on the optimization in chapter 4 contributes to minimizing the level of acoustic noise from existing diesel generators that are installed at the neighbourhood location.

**RQ5:** Is there a strong relationship between the maximum power demand and the maximum temperature in Iraq during the days in the summer, winter and spring seasons?

A study using correlation and regression analysis has been conducted to provide information on the strength of the linear relationship between the daily peak demand and maximum temperature by using a simple linear technique in chapter 5. The finding reveals that the correlation indicates a strong relationship between maximum loads and maximum temperature in the summer season as the daily peak load is proportional directly to the ambient temperature during this season. In the winter season, the daily peak load is inversely proportional to the ambient temperature. In the spring season, the correlation has a weak relationship compared to the correlation coefficient in the summer and winter seasons. This means the spring load is not affected significantly by the fluctuation of temperature during this season. This is because the majority of consumers are not using either the air conditioner or water heaters on spring days.

**RQ6:** What are the techniques considered to predict the daily and hourly peak demand, which is required for planning and operating, for Ziyonah area of Baghdad based on the historical data collected in this research?

In chapter 5, Linear Regression (LR) and Artificial Neural Networks (ANN) techniques are implemented to improve a decision of the daily and hourly peak demand during the summer and winter days 2020. The models were trained using historical load data to determine the model parameters for the LR model and the weights of the network for ANN. Then, the use of the obtained weights or parameters allows the prediction of the output for a given input. Mean Absolute Percentage Error (MAPE) is considered to evaluate the model performance.

After analysing the model prediction results, it was found that the LR technique offers a higher degree of prediction accuracy in daily peak load forecasting compared to the ANN technique, whilst, hourly peak load forecasting result was less accurate than the result from ANN.

**RQ7:** Can the operator overcome the mismatch between demand and supply, i.e. what are the required numbers of diesel generators and PV to meet the peak daily demand for Ziyounah area of Baghdad in the summer and winter season of 2020? What is the method to calculate the number of diesel generators?

Chapter 6 has presented the minimum number of diesel generators required for Ziyouna district/ Baghdad based on forecasting load. In the summer season, all the diesel generators, 19 generators with a total capacity of 10,500kW which are assumed in chapter 6, are required to be integrated into the distribution network of Ziyounah due to a severe shortage of generation during this time. In the winter season, the number of diesel generators required varies and depends on the predicted maximum daily demand in chapter 5. This calculation is simple to the problem and it can be conducted to impose priority order, wherein the most efficient units (the bigger size of diesel generators) are loaded first to be followed by the less efficient units (the smaller size of diesel generators) in order as the peak load increases. Therefore, if < PD, we increase the number of units otherwise, if > PD, we reduce the number of units. The best result occurs when = PD, taking into consideration that the bigger size of generators is the top priority.

**RQ8:** In what ways can the operators for the Iraq power minimise the total operating cost for integrated generation sources during 24 hours while meeting the demand?

To achieve this goal, a study of the economic dispatch problem has been conducted in chapter 6 to obtain the optimal cost allocation of diesel generator, PV and Grid import power. In this research, economic dispatch analysis was carried out using Lagrange multiplier and linear programming methods and assisted by the MATLAB application to find forecast demand in the summer and winter seasons. It was found that this approach can allocate the power generation output so as to minimise the total operational cost while meeting the constraints of total load demand.

#### 7.4 **Research limitations**

The most significant limitations shaping the scope of this study are as follows;

- Detailed data for diesel generators and power systems in the Iraqi context are not available or are difficult to obtain. This lack of data limited the depth of the case study information.
- The numerous interruptions and shutdowns in the national grid in most Iraqi regions was one of the major barriers that affect the accuracy of the collected data from the power operators or Ministry of Electricity in Iraq.
- Because of the current problems in Iraq, especially in terms of security, safety, and political instability, it was difficult to achieve some plans and obtain relevant national reports on current and future strategies. In particular, the selection of formal leaders and experts in face to face interviews via the validation stage often required official approval and specific meetings, this impacted on the selection procedure.

#### 7.5 Contribution of the work

This study describes, a realistic problem for the power systems in the context of the case study in Iraq. Due to the lack of published information regarding the diesel generators and power systems in Iraq, which is faced with challenges, this work provides valuable and clear information for planners and researchers to enhance current and future conditions and reduce the research gap between this study and previous studies. This contributes to identifying multiple factors that must be considered by the study. The contribution of the work is summarised as:

### • The development of a model of diesel fuel consumption

A model of fuel consumption was built for diesel generators whose capacities were in the range of 200kW to 1000kW. The proposed model was designed based on two variables (the rated and output power of a generator) to estimate the hourly fuel consumption of diesel generators during operation. The parameters of the model are found by using regression analysis. The model also can be used to estimate the hourly carbon emissions for the generators taking into consideration the carbon intensity or the emission factor for the fuel of the generator.

# • The development of optimisation tool of optimal locations for diesel generators in the distribution network

The algorithm of the optimisation tool was developed to quantify the benefits of the integration of diesel generators in the real distribution network based on the Network Performance Index. This index was designed to represent a comprehensive improvement in the network performance such as real loss reduction, voltage profile improvement. In addition, the proposed algorithm was developed to consider the acoustic noise factor that affects the environment.

## • Investigating the correlation and regression between peak daily power demand and peak daily temperature

Correlation and regression analysis were used for the case study of Iraq to describe the strong relationship between the daily peak residential demand and maximum temperature in the summer, winter and spring seasons. A mathematical model representing the correlation coefficient (R) and the regression coefficients  $B_0$  and  $B_1$  was presented in this study.

# • Build a method of daily and hourly peak demand forecasting for Iraq power system

A model of predicting the daily and hourly peak demand was presented using simple linear regression analysis for the first time to provide the power operator for Ziyounah in Baghdad with valuable information that can be used for minimising the operational cost for integrated unit generations and accurately match electricity production to consumption in summer and winter seasons of 2020.

### • Calculating the minimum number of generators required

The calculation of the minimum number of the required diesel generators was presented to meet the peak daily demand and help avoid or reduce the number of blackouts for the Ziyounah area of Baghdad.

### • The development of a model of fuel cost for diesel generators

A model of fuel cost was built for diesel generators to estimate the quantity of fuel consumption uses during operation. Therefore, the proposed model can be used for optimal scheduling of generation using the Lagrange multipliers to obtain the minimum operating cost for diesel generators. The model coefficients  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\gamma$  were calculated using linear regression analysis as a quadratic function.

### • The development of an optimisation tool using Linear Programming

A linear programming method for integrated diesel generators, PV and import grid was developed to obtain the optimal cost-effective allocation of generations. The proposed model was implemented using MATLAB programming to minimise the operation cost for the integrated generation sources while meeting the operating constraints for the Iraq power system.

#### 7.6 Recommendation for future work

The following future research work was identified to extend the work reported in this thesis:

- In this study, the load demand of Ziyonah area of Baghdad was uncontrollable. It hits its peak on hot summer days because the majority of consumers use air conditioning. With rapid smart grid technology development, the customer can actively participate in mutual information communication between the power operation company and the smart devices including air-conditioning appliances in real-time. If the power operator uses controllable domestic loads during specific time, i.e. air condition appliances, the money spent to procure these services may be used as incentives to attract the residential consumers to load control schemes. Therefore, the number of controllable loads available from these appliances can reduce the gap between the demand and the generation supply.
- In this work, diesel generators and PV are integrated into the Iraq power • system to overcome the shortage of generation in the Iraq power system in cost-effective manner, but the outputs from these generation units are difficult to control in real time during the day. Therefore, it is necessary to develop other flexible solutions to manage the power system when integrating large amounts of small and dispersed generation sources. In this context, it is recommended to use a Virtual Power Plant to provide fast balancing services to the system in the active distribution system. To do this, each feeder in Zyounah distribution network (consists of 14 feeders) must have a control box and smart metering for collecting data from the consumers and automatic control of underlying devices. Control strategies of a Virtual Power Plant will be investigated, with a focus on active power control of distributed diesel generators, and the addition of renewable energy sources (PV plus storage systems) to support efficient and sustainable energy. Both economic and environmental objectives will be considered, e.g. minimise the operation costs of diesel and reduce CO2 emissions. Several parameters should be introduced into the controller design to consider the uncertainties of

intermittent generation and increase the lifetime of storage systems. Although the power system is state-owned and managed, the Iraqi ministry of electricity awarded several Independent Power Producer (IPP) contracts in recent years, which lay the foundation for Virtual Power Plant operators to contribute to reducing the power deficit.

• Iraq has high solar irradiance values all year round, with Baghdad about 3,300h of bright sunshine annually, and this clean energy is yet to be exploited. Therefore, it is very important to integrate more PV into the power system with the diesel generators for dispatch power generation because they are suitable for the environment and contribute to sustainability and energy security objectives.

### References

- [1] A. Bacci, "Iraq Petroleum 2018 Natural Gas Must Be an Asset for Iraq," London, 2018.
- [2] H. H. Istepanian, "Iraq's electricity crisis," *Electr. J.*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 51–69, 2014.
- [3] K. A. S. Majbor, Q. M. Alias, and K. M. Sulaiman, "The Iraqi Grid Electrical Demand :, Questionable Forecast," *Al-Mamon Collage Univ. J.*, p. 190, 2017.
- [4] International Energy Agency (IEA), "Iraq Energy Outlook," Paris, 2012.
- [5] International Energy Agency, "Iraq's Energy Sector, A Roadmap to a Brighter Future," Paris, 2019.
- [6] IEA(2019), "Iraq's Energy Sector: A Roadmap to a Brighter Future," Paris, 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.iea.org/reports/iraqs-energy-sector-a-roadmap-to-a-brighter-future.
- [7] I. E. Agency(IEA), "Iraq Energy Outlook," Paris, 2012.
- [8] PARSONS and Brinckerhoff, "Iraq electricity masterplan," Baghdad, 2010.
- [9] Luay Al-Khatteeb and Harry Istepanian, "Turn a Light On : Electricity Sector Reform in Iraq," *Policy Briefing, Brookings Doha Cent.*, 2015.
- [10] "Ministry Of Electricity," 2018. https://www.moelc.gov.iq/ (accessed Sep. 20, 2018).
- [11] M. Reda, N. Saied, A. Khaldi, M. A. Abdul-Hussain, and A. Ekwue, "Iraq electrical power infrastructure - Past, present and future developments and expectations," 2006 IEEE PES Power Syst. Conf. Expo. PSCE 2006 - Proc., pp. 1792–1795, 2006, doi: 10.1109/PSCE.2006.296184.
- [12] R. Faranda, A. Pievatolo, and E. Tironi, "Load shedding: A new proposal," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 22, no. 4, pp. 2086–2093, 2007.
- [13] D. Mulongoti, G. Mugala, B. Kumwenda, and H. Louie, "Determining the effects of Load-shedding on residential Electricity Consuptions using Meter-Data- A case study of Kitwe, Zambia," in 2016 IEEE Global Humanitarian Technology Conference (GHTC), 2016, pp. 488–494.
- [14] H. Kazmi, F. Mehmood, Z. Tao, Z. Riaz, and J. Driesen, "Electricity loadshedding in Pakistan: Unintended consequences, opportunities and policy recommendations," *Energy Policy*, vol. 128, no. December 2018, pp. 411–417, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.enpol.2019.01.017.
- [15] C.; Drian and E. Mart-Mari, "The impact of load shedding on the construction industry in South Africa," in *9th cidb Postgraduate Conference*, 2016, pp. 268–276, [Online]. Available:

https://openbooks.uct.ac.za/uct/catalog/download/cidb/7/210-2?inline=1.

- [16] A. Sambo *et al.*, "Electricity generation and the present challenges in the Nigerian power sector.," in *Journal of Energy and Power Engineering*, 2012, vol. 6, no. 7, pp. 1050–1059.
- [17] N. Jenkins, J. Ekanayake, and G. Strbac, *Distributed Generation*, 1st ed. Institution of Engineering and Technology(IET), 2010.
- [18] J. A. P. Lopes, N. Jenkins, N. Hatziargyriou, J. Mutale, and P. Djapic, "Integrating distributed generation into electric power systems: A review of drivers, challenges and opportunities," *Electr. Power Syst. Res.*, vol. 77, no. 9, pp. 1189–1203, 2007.
- [19] P. Crossley, N. Jenkins, and R. Allan, *Embedded Generation*, 2nd ed. Lightning

Source UK Ltd. Milton Keynes, 2008.

- [20] V. M. Gomez-Muñoz, M. A. Porta-Gándara, and J. L. Fernández, "Effect of tree shades in urban planning in hot-arid climatic regions," *Landsc. Urban Plan.*, vol. 94, no. 3–4, pp. 149–157, 2010.
- [21] R. P. Dicce and M. C. Ewers, "Solar labor market transitions in the United Arab Emirates," *Geoforum*, vol. 124, no. September 2020, pp. 54–64, 2021, [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoforum.2021.05.013.
- [22] G. Dicks and F. Breedom, "World Energy Outlook," Paris, 2013.
- [23] A. Shlash and A. Y. Al-Shukry, "Iraq Human Development Report," 2014. [Online]. Available: http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/undpiq\_iraqnhdr2014-english.pdf.
- [24] F. P. Appio, M. Lima, and S. Paroutis, "Understanding Smart Cities: Innovation ecosystems, technological advancements, and societal challenges," *Technol. Forecast. Soc. Change*, vol. 142, no. December 2018, pp. 1–14, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.techfore.2018.12.018.
- [25] A. Q. Jakhrani, A. R. H. Rigit, A. K. Othman, S. R. Samo, and S. A. Kamboh, "Estimation of carbon footprints from diesel generator emissions," *Proc. 2012 Int. Conf. Green Ubiquitous Technol. GUT 2012*, pp. 78–81, 2012.
- [26] İ. Uckan and K. M. Khudhur, "Estimation and comparison of various global solar radiation models on horizontal surface in a hot and dry region," *Int. J. Green Energy*, vol. 15, no. 5, pp. 358–370, 2018.
- [27] R. F. M. Ameen, M. Mourshed, and H. Li, "A critical review of environmental assessment tools for sustainable urban design," *Environ. Impact Assess. Rev.*, vol. 55, pp. 110–125, 2015.
- [28] N. Jain, S. N. Singh, S. Member, S. C. Srivastava, and S. Member, "Particle Swarm Optimization Based Method for Optimal Siting and Sizing of Multiple Distributed Generators," 2010, pp. 669–674.
- [29] V. V. S. N. Murthy and A. Kumar, "Comparison of optimal DG allocation methods in radial distribution systems based on sensitivity approaches," *Int. J. Electr. Power Energy Syst.*, vol. 53, no. 1, pp. 450–467, 2013, [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijepes.2013.05.018.
- [30] N. Mithulananthan and L. Van Phu, "Distributed Generator Placement in Power Distribution System Using Genetic Algorithm to Reduce Losses," *Thammasat Int. J. Sc. Tech*, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 55–62, 2004, [Online]. Available: https://ph02.tci-thaijo.org/index.php/SciTechAsia/article/view/41639.
- [31] C. L. T. Borges and D. M. Falcão, "Impact of distributed generation allocation and sizing on reliability, losses and voltage profile," 2003 IEEE Bol. PowerTech Conf. Proc., vol. 2, pp. 5–9, 2003, doi: 10.1109/PTC.2003.1304342.
- [32] M. M. Aman, G. B. Jasmon, A. H. A. Bakar, and H. Mokhlis, "A new approach for optimum simultaneous multi-DG distributed generation Units placement and sizing based on maximization of system loadability using HPSO (hybrid particle swarm optimization) algorithm," *Energy*, vol. 66, pp. 202–215, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2013.12.037.
- [33] P. Karimyan, G. B. Gharehpetian, M. Abedi, and A. Gavili, "Long term scheduling for optimal allocation and sizing of DG unit considering load variations and DG type," *Int. J. Electr. Power Energy Syst.*, vol. 54, pp. 277– 287, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.ijepes.2013.07.016.
- [34] S. Kansal, V. Kumar, and B. Tyagi, "Optimal placement of different type of DG sources in distribution networks," *Int. J. Electr. Power Energy Syst.*, vol. 53, no. 1, pp. 752–760, 2013, [Online]. Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijepes.2013.05.040.
- [35] T. R. Ayodele, A. S. O. Ogunjuyigbe, and O. O. Akinola, "Optimal Location,

Sizing, and Appropriate Technology Selection of Distributed Generators for Minimizing Power Loss Using Genetic Algorithm," *J. Renew. Energy*, vol. 2015, pp. 1–9, 2015, doi: 10.1155/2015/832917.

- [36] M. Kefayat, A. Lashkar Ara, and S. A. Nabavi Niaki, "A hybrid of ant colony optimization and artificial bee colony algorithm for probabilistic optimal placement and sizing of distributed energy resources," *Energy Convers. Manag.*, vol. 92, pp. 149–161, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.enconman.2014.12.037.
- [37] K. Muthukumar and S. Jayalalitha, "Optimal placement and sizing of distributed generators and shunt capacitors for power loss minimization in radial distribution networks using hybrid heuristic search optimization technique," *Int. J. Electr. Power Energy Syst.*, vol. 78, pp. 299–319, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.ijepes.2015.11.019.
- [38] A. Khodabakhshian and M. H. Andishgar, "Simultaneous placement and sizing of DGs and shunt capacitors in distribution systems by using IMDE algorithm," *Int. J. Electr. Power Energy Syst.*, vol. 82, pp. 599–607, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.ijepes.2016.04.002.
- [39] N. Acharya, P. Mahat, and N. Mithulananthan, "An analytical approach for DG allocation in primary distribution network," *Int. J. Electr. Power Energy Syst.*, vol. 28, no. 10, pp. 669–678, 2006, doi: 10.1016/j.ijepes.2006.02.013.
- [40] S. Gopiya Naik *et al.*, "Optimal allocation of combined DG and capacitor for real power loss minimization in distribution networks," *IEEE Trans. Power Deliv.*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 967–973, 2013, doi: 10.1109/TPWRD.2011.2158246.
- [41] T. K. A. Rahman, S. R. A. Rahim, and I. Musirin, "Optimal allocation and sizing of embedded generators," *Natl. Power Energy Conf. PECon 2004 - Proc.*, pp. 288–294, 2004, doi: 10.1109/PECON.2004.1461660.
- [42] M. A. Kashem, A. D. T. Le, M. Negnevitsky, and G. Ledwich, "Distributed generation for minimization of power losses in distribution systems," 2006 IEEE Power Eng. Soc. Gen. Meet. PES, pp. 1–8, 2006, doi: 10.1109/pes.2006.1709179.
- [43] A. El-Fergany, "Optimal allocation of multi-type distributed generators using backtracking search optimization algorithm," *Int. J. Electr. Power Energy Syst.*, vol. 64, pp. 1197–1205, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.ijepes.2014.09.020.
- [44] T. Gözel and M. H. Hocaoglu, "An analytical method for the sizing and siting of distributed generators in radial systems," *Electr. Power Syst. Res.*, vol. 79, no. 6, pp. 912–918, 2009, doi: 10.1016/j.epsr.2008.12.007.
- [45] S. Hasanpour, R. Ghazi, and M. H. Javidi, "A new approach for cost allocation and reactive power pricing in a deregulated environment," *Electr. Eng.*, vol. 91, no. 1, pp. 27–34, 2009, doi: 10.1007/s00202-009-0113-2.
- [46] D. Gautam and N. Mithulananthan, "Optimal DG placement in deregulated electricity market," *Electr. Power Syst. Res.*, vol. 77, no. 12, pp. 1627–1636, 2007, doi: 10.1016/j.epsr.2006.11.014.
- [47] G. A. Ajenikoko, E. Olabode, and O. W. Olayanju, "Distributed generation (DG) integration on utilities distribution system: A survey," *Int. J. Adv. Eng. Technol. 1 Int. J. Adv. Eng. Technol.*, vol. 1, no. January, pp. 2456–7655, 2017, [Online]. Available: www.newengineeringjournal.com.
- [48] S. K. Nagaraju, S. Sivanagaraju, T. Ramana, S. Satyanarayana, and P. V Prasad, "A Novel Method for Optimal Distributed Generator Placement in Radial Distribution Systems," *Distrib. Gener. Altern. energy J.*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 7–19, 2011.
- [49] C. L. T. Borges and D. M. Falcão, "Optimal distributed generation allocation for reliability, losses, and voltage improvement," *Int. J. Electr. Power Energy Syst.*, vol. 28, no. 6, pp. 413–420, 2006, doi: 10.1016/j.ijepes.2006.02.003.

- [50] R. K. Thummala, "Comparative study and Analysis of IA and PSO Algorithms for Siting and sizing of DG in Primary Distribution Networks," vol. 118, no. 17, pp. 949–963, 2018.
- [51] K. Qian, C. Zhou, M. Allan, and Y. Yuan, "Effect of load models on assessment of energy losses in distributed generation planning," *Int. J. Electr. Power Energy Syst.*, vol. 33, no. 6, pp. 1243–1250, 2011, doi: 10.1016/j.ijepes.2011.04.003.
- [52] Y. Alinejad-Beromi, M. Sedighizadeh, M. R. Bayat, and M. E. Khodayar, "Using genetic algorithm for Distributed generation allocation to reduce losses and improve voltage profile," *Proc. Univ. Power Eng. Conf.*, pp. 954–959, 2007, doi: 10.1109/UPEC.2007.4469077.
- [53] A. C. Rueda-Medina, J. F. Franco, M. J. Rider, A. Padilha-Feltrin, and R. Romero, "A mixed-integer linear programming approach for optimal type, size and allocation of distributed generation in radial distribution systems," *Electr. Power Syst. Res.*, vol. 97, pp. 133–143, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.epsr.2012.12.009.
- [54] T. T. Nguyen and A. V. Truong, "Distribution network reconfiguration for power loss minimization and voltage profile improvement using cuckoo search algorithm," *Int. J. Electr. Power Energy Syst.*, vol. 68, pp. 233–242, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.ijepes.2014.12.075.
- [55] A. A. Abou El-Ela, S. M. Allam, and M. M. Shatla, "Maximal optimal benefits of distributed generation using genetic algorithms," *Electr. Power Syst. Res.*, vol. 80, no. 7, pp. 869–877, 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.epsr.2009.12.021.
- [56] T. Ramana, V. Ganesh, and S. Sivanagaraju, "Distributed generator placement and sizing in unbalanced radial distribution system," *Cogener. Distrib. Gener. J.*, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 52–71, 2010, doi: 10.1080/15453661009709862.
- [57] K. V. S. R. Murthy, M. R. Raju, G. G. Rao, and K. N. Rao, "Comparison of Loss Sensitivity Factor & Index Vector methods in Determining Optimal Capacitor Locations in Agricultural Distribution," *Natl. Power Syst. Conf.*, no. 6, pp. 26– 30, 2010.
- [58] U. Khaled, A. M. Eltamaly, and A. Beroual, "Optimal power flow using particle swarm optimization of renewable hybrid distributed generation," *Energies*, vol. 10, no. 7, 2017, doi: 10.3390/en10071013.
- [59] I. S. Kumar and P. K. Navuri, "An Efficient Method for Optimal Placement and Sizing of Multiple Distributed Generators in a Radial Distribution Systems," *Distrib. Gener.* \& Altern. Energy J., vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 52–71, 2012, doi: 10.1080/21563306.2012.10531123.
- [60] N. Javidtash, M. Jabbari, T. Niknam, and M. Nafar, "A novel mixture of nondominated sorting genetic algorithm and fuzzy method to multi-objective placement of distributed generations in Microgrids," *J. Intell. Fuzzy Syst.*, vol. 33, no. 4, pp. 2577–2584, 2017, doi: 10.3233/JIFS-15934.
- [61] A. Parizad, A. Khazali, and M. Kalantar, "Optimal placement of distributed generation with sensitivity factors considering voltage stability and losses indices," *Proc. - 2010 18th Iran. Conf. Electr. Eng. ICEE 2010*, pp. 848–855, 2010, doi: 10.1109/IRANIANCEE.2010.5506959.
- [62] L. F. Grisales-Noreña, D. G. Montoya, and C. A. Ramos-Paja, "Optimal sizing and location of distributed generators based on PBIL and PSO techniques," *Energies*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 1–27, 2018, doi: 10.3390/en11041018.
- [63] K. Mahmoud, N. Yorino, and A. Ahmed, "Power loss minimization in distribution systems using multiple distributed generations," *IEEJ Trans. Electr. Electron. Eng.*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 521–526, 2015, doi: 10.1002/tee.22115.
- [64] V. J. Mohan and T. A. D. Albert, "Optimal sizing and sitting of distributed generation using Particle Swarm Optimization Guided Genetic Algorithm," *Adv. Comput. Sci. Technol.*, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 709–720, 2017.

- [65] A. El-Fergany, "Study impact of various load models on DG placement and sizing using backtracking search algorithm," *Appl. Soft Comput. J.*, vol. 30, pp. 803–811, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.asoc.2015.02.028.
- [66] M. Mordjaoui, S. Haddad, A. Medoued, and A. Laouafi, "Electric load forecasting by using dynamic neural network," *Int. J. Hydrogen Energy*, vol. 42, no. 28, pp. 17655–17663, 2017.
- [67] D. Palchak, S. Suryanarayanan, and D. Zimmerle, "An Artificial Neural Network in Short-Term Electrical Load Forecasting of a University Campus: A Case Study," J. Energy Resour. Technol., vol. 135, no. 3, 2013.
- [68] A. D. Papalexopoulos and T. C. Hesterberg, "A regression-based approach to short-term system load forecasting," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 1535–1547, 1990, doi: 10.1109/59.99410.
- [69] D.W. Bunn and E.D. Farmer, "Comparative Models for Electrical Load Forecasting," *John Wiley Son*. NY, 1985.
- [70] H. S. Hippert, C. E. Pedreira, and R. C. Souza, "Neural networks for short-term load forecasting: A review and evaluation," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 44–55, 2001, doi: 10.1109/59.910780.
- [71] A. Azadeh, S. F. Ghadrei, and B. P. Nokhandan, "One day ahead load forecasting for electricity market of Iran by ANN," *POWERENG 2009 - 2nd Int. Conf. Power Eng. Energy Electr. Drives Proc.*, pp. 670–674, 2009.
- [72] R. Sethi and J. Kleissl, "Comparison of Short-Term Load Forecasting Techniques," 2020 IEEE Conf. Technol. Sustain. SusTech 2020, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 877–882, 2020, doi: 10.1109/SusTech47890.2020.9150490.
- [73] I. Drezga, "Short-term load forecasting with local ann predictors," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 844–850, 1999, doi: 10.1109/59.780894.
- [74] S. Rahman and O. Hazim, "A generalized knowledge-based short-term load-forecasting technique," vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 508–514, 1993.
- [75] "Influence of Malaria Edemicity and TB Prevalence on COVID -19 Mortality," pp. 1–12, 2020.
- [76] G. C. S. Wang and C. J. L., *Regression Analysis Modeling and Forecasting*. Graceway Publishing Company, 2003.
- [77] J. Kim, "Short-term Electric Load Prediction using Multiple Linear Regression Method," UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA SAN DIEGO, 2018.
- [78] M. Tranmer, J. Murphy, M. Elliot, and M. Pampaka, "Multiple Linear Regression (2nd Edition)," *Cathie Marsh Inst. Work. Pap.*, no. 01, p. 59, 2020, [Online]. Available: https://hummedia.manchester.ac.uk/institutes/cmist/archivepublications/working-papers/2020/2020-1-multiple-linear-regression.pdf.
- [79] K. H. Zhou, "Correlation and simple linear regression," *Radiology*, no. 227, pp. 617–622, 2003.
- [80] N. Fumo and M. A. Rafe Biswas, "Regression analysis for prediction of residential energy consumption," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 47, pp. 332– 343, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2015.03.035.
- [81] J. Xie and T. Hong, "Load forecasting using 24 solar terms," J. Mod. Power Syst. Clean Energy, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 208–214, 2018, [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1007/s40565-017-0374-0.
- [82] B. Yildiz, J. I. Bilbao, and A. B. Sproul, "A review and analysis of regression and machine learning models on commercial building electricity load forecasting," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 73, no. March 2016, pp. 1104– 1122, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2017.02.023.
- [83] A. Y. Saber and A. K. M. R. Alam, "Short term load forecasting using multiple linear regression for big data," 2017 IEEE Symp. Ser. Comput. Intell. SSCI 2017

- Proc., vol. 2018-Janua, pp. 1–6, 2018, doi: 10.1109/SSCI.2017.8285261.

- [84] M. B. Tasre, P. P. Bedekar, and V. N. Ghate, "Daily peak load forecasting using ANN," 2011 Nirma Univ. Int. Conf. Eng. Curr. Trends Technol. NUiCONE 2011 Conf. Proc., pp. 8–10, 2011.
- [85] V. Bianco, O. Manca, and S. Nardini, "Electricity consumption forecasting in Italy using linear regression models," *Energy*, vol. 34, no. 9, pp. 1413–1421, 2009, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2009.06.034.
- [86] Z. Mohamed and P. Bodger, "Forecasting electricity consumption in New Zealand using economic and demographic variables," *Energy*, vol. 30, no. 10, pp. 1833–1843, 2005, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2004.08.012.
- [87] M. Ranjan and V. K. Jain, "Modelling of electrical energy consumption in Delhi," *Energy*, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 351–361, 1999, doi: 10.1016/S0360-5442(98)00087-5.
- [88] R. Hu, S. Wen, Z. Zeng, and T. Huang, "A short-term power load forecasting model based on the generalized regression neural network with decreasing step fruit fly optimization algorithm," *Neurocomputing*, vol. 221, no. September 2016, pp. 24–31, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.neucom.2016.09.027.
- [89] F. Sehar, M. Pipattanasomporn, and S. Rahman, "A peak-load reduction computing tool sensitive to commercial building environmental preferences," *Appl. Energy*, vol. 161, pp. 279–289, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2015.10.009.
- [90] A. Baliyan, K. Gaurav, and S. Kumar Mishra, "A review of short term load forecasting using artificial neural network models," *Procedia Comput. Sci.*, vol. 48, no. C, pp. 121–125, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.procs.2015.04.160.
- [91] M. B. A. Hamid and T. K. A. Rahman, "Short term load forecasting using an artificial neural network trained by artificial immune system learning algorithm," *UKSim2010 - UKSim 12th Int. Conf. Comput. Model. Simul.*, pp. 408–413, 2010, doi: 10.1109/UKSIM.2010.82.
- [92] Y. J. He, Y. C. Zhu, J. C. Gu, and C. Q. Yin, "Similar day selecting based neural network model and its application in short-term load forecasting," 2005 Int. Conf. Mach. Learn. Cybern. ICMLC 2005, no. August, pp. 4760–4763, 2005, doi: 10.1109/icmlc.2005.1527779.
- [93] E. S. Filatova, D. M. Filatov, and A. D. Stotskaia, "Genetic algorithm to the formation of the optimal structure of fuzzy neural network," *Proc. Int. Conf. Soft Comput. Meas. SCM 2015*, vol. 1, pp. 147–149, 2015, doi: 10.1109/SCM.2015.7190438.
- [94] S. M. Elgarhy, M. M. Othman, A. Taha, and H. M. Hasanien, "Short term load forecasting using ANN technique," 2017 19th Int. Middle-East Power Syst. Conf. MEPCON 2017 - Proc., vol. 2018-Febru, no. December, pp. 1385–1394, 2018.
- [95] N. A. Mohammed, "Modelling of unsuppressed electrical demand forecasting in Iraq for long term," *Energy*, vol. 162, pp. 354–363, 2018, [Online]. Available: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2018.08.030.
- [96] A. Dedinec, S. Filiposka, A. Dedinec, and L. Kocarev, "Deep belief network based electricity load forecasting: An analysis of Macedonian case," *Energy*, vol. 115, pp. 1688–1700, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2016.07.090.
- [97] L. Xiao, W. Shao, M. Yu, J. Ma, and C. Jin, "Research and application of a combined model based on multi-objective optimization for electrical load forecasting," *Energy*, vol. 119, pp. 1057–1074, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2016.11.035.
- [98] Y. He, Q. Xu, J. Wan, and S. Yang, "Short-term power load probability density forecasting based on quantile regression neural network and triangle kernel function," *Energy*, vol. 114, pp. 498–512, 2016, doi:

10.1016/j.energy.2016.08.023.

- [99] Z. H. Osman, M. L. Awad, and T. K. Mahmoud, "Neural network based approach for short-term load forecasting," 2009 IEEE/PES Power Syst. Conf. Expo. PSCE 2009, pp. 1–8, 2009, doi: 10.1109/PSCE.2009.4840035.
- [100] C. A. Gross, Power System Analysis. John Wiley and Sons, 1979.
- [101] G. S. C. M. E. El-Hawary, *Optimal Economic Operation of Electric Power* Systems. Academic Press, 1979.
- [102] B. M. Weedy, *Electric Power Systems*, 3rd Editio. John Wiley and Sons, 1979.
- [103] O. I. Elgerd, *Electric Energy Systems An Introduction*, 2nd Editio. McGraw-Hill Co., 1982.
- [104] G. L. Kusic, Computer- Aided power systems analysis. Prentice-Hall, 1986.
- [105] X. Xia and A. M. Elaiw, "Optimal dynamic economic dispatch of generation: A review," *Electr. Power Syst. Res.*, vol. 80, no. 8, pp. 975–986, 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.epsr.2009.12.012.
- [106] H. H. Happ, "Optimal power dispatch a comprehensive survey," *IEEE Trans. Power Appar. Syst.*, vol. 96, no. 3, pp. 841–854, 1977, doi: 10.1109/T-PAS.1977.32397.
- [107] I. Ciornei and E. Kyriakides, "Recent methodologies and approaches for the economic dispatch of generation in power systems," *Int. Trans. Electr. energy Syst.*, vol. 20, no. April 2012, pp. 1–6, 2013, [Online]. Available: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1568494604000596%5Cnhttp://iee explore.ieee.org/lpdocs/epic03/wrapper.htm?arnumber=4137655%5Cnhttp://iee explore.ieee.org/lpdocs/epic03/wrapper.htm?arnumber=5512904%5Cnhttp://iee explore.ieee.org/xpls/abs\_all.jsp?
- [108] J. Zhu, "CLASSIC ECONOMIC DISPATCH," in *Optimization of Power System Operation: Second Edition*, 2015, pp. 1–633.
- [109] E. H. Chowdhury and S. Rahrnan, "A REVIEW OF RECENT ADVANCES IN ECONOMIC DISPATCH," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 5, 1990.
- [110] P. M. Joshi and H. K. Verma, "An improved TLBO based economic dispatch of power generation through distributed energy resources considering environmental constraints," *Sustain. Energy, Grids Networks*, vol. 18, p. 100207, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.segan.2019.100207.
- [111] O. Gandhi, C. D. Rodriguez-Gallegos, and D. Srinivasan, "Review of optimization of power dispatch in renewable energy system," *IEEE PES Innov. Smart Grid Technol. Conf. Eur.*, pp. 250–257, 2016, doi: 10.1109/ISGT-Asia.2016.7796394.
- [112] S. M. Moosavian, M. Modiri-Delshad, J. Selvaraj, and N. Abd Rahim, "Solution techniques for optimal power dispatch problems - A review," in 4th IET Clean Energy and Technology Conference (CEAT 2016), 2016, pp. 17-.
- [113] R. Ramanathan, "Fast Economic Dispatch Based on the Penalty Factors From Newton's Method," *IEEE Power Eng. Rev.*, vol. PER-5, no. 7, pp. 25–26, 1985, doi: 10.1109/MPER.1985.5528451.
- [114] B. Dey, S. K. Roy, and B. Bhattacharyya, "Solving multi-objective economic emission dispatch of a renewable integrated microgrid using latest bio-inspired algorithms," *Eng. Sci. Technol. an Int. J.*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 55–66, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.jestch.2018.10.001.
- [115] F. Z. Gherbi and F. Lakdja, "Environmentally constrained economic dispatch via quadratic programming," 2011 Int. Conf. Commun. Comput. Control Appl. CCCA 2011, 2011, doi: 10.1109/CCCA.2011.6031418.
- [116] Z. Zhang, X. Ying, and M. Y. Chow, "Decentralizing the economic dispatch problem using a two-level incremental cost consensus algorithm in a smart grid environment," NAPS 2011 - 43rd North Am. Power Symp., 2011, doi:

10.1109/NAPS.2011.6025103.

- [117] H. Li, "Lagrange Multipliers and their Applications," 2008.
- [118] D. P. Bertsekas, *Constrained Optimization and Lagrange Multiplier Methods*, 1st ed. Academic Press.
- [119] C. Takeang and A. Aurasopon, "Multiple of Hybrid Lambda Iteration and Simulated Annealing Algorithm to Solve Economic Dispatch Problem with Ramp Rate Limit and Prohibited Operating Zones," *J. Electr. Eng. Technol.*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 111–120, 2019, doi: 10.1007/s42835-018-00001-z.
- [120] D. Dike, "Economic Dispatch of Generated Power Using Modified LambdaIteration Method," *IOSR J. Electr. Electron. Eng.*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 49– 54, 2013, doi: 10.9790/1676-0714954.
- [121] A. B. Rehiara, S. Setiawidayat, and E. K. Bawan, "Optimal Operation Scheme for Diesel Power Plant Units of PT. PLN-Manokwari Branch using Lagrange Multiplier Method," *Procedia Environ. Sci.*, vol. 17, pp. 557–565, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.proenv.2013.02.071.
- [122] P. J. Bernard, J. F. Dopazo, and G. W. Stagg, "A Method for Economic Scheduling of a Combined Pumped Hydro and Steam Generating System," *IEEE Trans. Power Appar. Syst.*, vol. 83, no. 1, pp. 23–30, 1964, doi: 10.1109/TPAS.1964.4765919.
- [123] C. R. Scherer and L. Joe, "Electric Power System Planning with Explicit Stochastic Reserves Constraint," *Manage. Sci.*, vol. 23, no. 9, pp. 978–985, 1977.
- [124] X. Yan and V. H. Quintana, "An efficient predictor-corrector interior point algorithm for security-constrained economic dispatch," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 803–810, 1997, doi: 10.1109/59.589693.
- [125] T. S. P. Fernandes and K. C. Almeida, "A methodology for optimal power dispatch under a pool-bilateral market," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 182–190, 2003, doi: 10.1109/TPWRS.2002.804950.
- [126] M. Aganagic, B. Awobamise, and G. Raina, "Economic dispatch with generation contingency constraints," *IEEE Trans. Power Syst.*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 1229– 1236, 1997, doi: 10.1109/59.630465.
- [127] R. Rusdianto, E. S. Koenhardono, and J. Prananda, "Economic Dispatch Analysis of Hybrid Power Plant System in Islands Area Based on Linear Programming Method," *Int. J. Mar. Eng. Innov. Res.*, vol. 5, no. 4, 2020, doi: 10.12962/j25481479.v5i4.5646.
- [128] M. Nazari-Heris, B. Mohammadi-Ivatloo, and G. B. Gharehpetian, "A comprehensive review of heuristic optimization algorithms for optimal combined heat and power dispatch from economic and environmental perspectives," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 81, no. June 2017, pp. 2128– 2143, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2017.06.024.
- [129] T. Niknam, "A new fuzzy adaptive hybrid particle swarm optimization algorithm for non-linear, non-smooth and non-convex economic dispatch problem," *Appl. Energy*, vol. 87, no. 1, pp. 327–339, 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2009.05.016.
- [130] S. Sayah and A. Hamouda, "A hybrid differential evolution algorithm based on particle swarm optimization for nonconvex economic dispatch problems," *Appl. Soft Comput. J.*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 1608–1619, 2013, doi: 10.1016/j.asoc.2012.12.014.
- [131] S. Pothiya, I. Ngamroo, and W. Kongprawechnon, "Ant colony optimisation for economic dispatch problem with non-smooth cost functions," *Int. J. Electr. Power Energy Syst.*, vol. 32, no. 5, pp. 478–487, 2010, doi: 10.1016/j.ijepes.2009.09.016.
- [132] M. A. Abido, "A novel multiobjective evolutionary algorithm for environmental/economic power dispatch," *Electr. Power Syst. Res.*, vol. 65, no.

1, pp. 71–81, 2003, doi: 10.1016/S0378-7796(02)00221-3.

- [133] H. Liang, Y. Liu, F. Li, and Y. Shen, "A multiobjective hybrid bat algorithm for combined economic/emission dispatch," *Int. J. Electr. Power Energy Syst.*, vol. 101, no. March, pp. 103–115, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.ijepes.2018.03.019.
- [134] D. Zou, S. Li, Z. Li, and X. Kong, "A new global particle swarm optimization for the economic emission dispatch with or without transmission losses," *Energy Convers. Manag.*, vol. 139, pp. 45–70, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.enconman.2017.02.035.
- [135] A. M. Eltamaly and M. A. Mohamed, Optimal Sizing and Designing of Hybrid Renewable Energy Systems in Smart Grid Applications, vol. 2. Elsevier Inc., 2018.
- [136] M. Sharafi and T. Y. ELMekkawy, "Multi-objective optimal design of hybrid renewable energy systems using PSO-simulation based approach," *Renew. Energy*, vol. 68, pp. 67–79, 2014.
- [137] M. A. Aderibigbe, S. T. Wara, and A. E. Airoboman, "Diesel engine generators consumption/emission controls by retrofitting for sustainable environment," in *Proceedings - 2017 IEEE PES-IAS PowerAfrica Conference: Harnessing Energy, Information and Communications Technology (ICT) for Affordable Electrification of Africa, PowerAfrica 2017*, 2017, pp. 143–152.
- [138] L. A. Wright, S. Kemp, and I. Williams, "Carbon footprinting': towards a universally accepted definition," *Carbon Manag.*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 61–72, 2011.
- [139] J. C. Minx et al., Input-output analysis and carbon footprinting: An overview of applications, vol. 21, no. 3. 2009.
- [140] E. Facts, "Average carbon dioxide emissions resulting from gasoline and diesel fuel," US EPA, Febr., 2005.
- [141] Faanzir, Soedibyo, and M. Ashari, "Emission abatement cost analysis of hybrid marine current/photovoltaic/diesel system operation," *Proc. - 2017 Int. Semin. Appl. Technol. Inf. Commun. Empower. Technol. a Better Hum. Life, iSemantic* 2017, vol. 2018-Janua, pp. 248–252, 2017.
- [142] Ø. Skarstein and K. Uhlen, "Design considerations with respect to long-term diesel saving in wind/diesel plants," *Wind Eng.*, pp. 72–87, 1989.
- [143] S. H. El-Hefnawi, "Photovoltaic diesel-generator hybrid power system sizing," *Renew. Energy*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 33–40, 1998.
- [144] D. Yamegueu, Y. Azoumah, X. Py, and N. Zongo, "Experimental study of electricity generation by Solar PV/diesel hybrid systems without battery storage for off-grid areas," *Renew. energy*, vol. 36, no. 6, pp. 1780–1787, 2011.
- [145] Generators Source, "Approximate Diesel Fuel Consumption Chart." https://www.generatorsource.com/Diesel\_Fuel\_Consumption.aspx (accessed Sep. 28, 2021).
- [146] R. Dufo-López and J. L. Bernal-Agustín, "Multi-objective design of PV-winddiesel-hydrogen-battery systems," *Renew. Energy*, vol. 33, no. 12, pp. 2559– 2572, 2008.
- [147] S. Abedi, A. Alimardani, G. B. Gharehpetian, G. H. Riahy, and S. H. Hosseinian, "A comprehensive method for optimal power management and design of hybrid RES-based autonomous energy systems," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 1577–1587, 2012.
- [148] A. Ganguly, D. Misra, and S. Ghosh, "Modeling and analysis of solar photovoltaic-electrolyzer-fuel cell hybrid power system integrated with a floriculture greenhouse," *Energy Build.*, vol. 42, no. 11, pp. 2036–2043, 2010.
- [149] K. M. S. Alzaidi, O. Bayat, and O. N. Uçan, "Multiple DGS for reducing total power losses in radial distribution systems using hybrid WOA-SSA algorithm," *Int. J. Photoenergy*, vol. 2019, 2019.

- [150] A. A. Abbood and A. K. Dhaher, "Optimal Allocation of Capacitor for Iraqi Distribution Network using FLC-PSO Controller," *Int. J. Comput. Appl.*, vol. 143, no. 3, pp. 39–46, 2016.
- [151] D. K. Khatod, V. Pant, and J. Sharma, "Evolutionary Programming Based Optimal Placement of Renewable Distributed Generators," vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 683–695, 2013.
- [152] F. S. Abu-Mouti and M. E. El-Hawary, "Optimal distributed generation allocation and sizing in distribution systems via artificial bee colony algorithm," *IEEE Trans. Power Deliv.*, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 2090–2101, 2011.
- [153] N. A. Khan, S. Ghosh, and S. P. Ghoshal, "Optimal allocation and sizing of DG and shunt capacitors using differential evolutionary algorithm," *International Journal of Power and Energy Conversion*, vol. 4, no. 3. pp. 278–292, 2013, doi: 10.1504/IJPEC.2013.054849.
- [154] M. M. Aman, G. B. Jasmon, H. Mokhlis, and A. H. A. Bakar, "Electrical Power and Energy Systems Optimal placement and sizing of a DG based on a new power stability index and line losses," *Int. J. Electr. Power Energy Syst.*, vol. 43, no. 1, pp. 1296–1304, 2012.
- [155] M. H. Moradi and M. Abedini, "Electrical Power and Energy Systems A combination of genetic algorithm and particle swarm optimization for optimal DG location and sizing in distribution systems," *Int. J. Electr. Power Energy Syst.*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 66–74, 2012.
- [156] K. P. Vittal, "Performance Enhancement of Electrical Distribution Systems with Multiple Distributed Generation Sources," J. Electr. Eng., pp. 1–8, 2012.
- [157] P. (Prabha) Kundur, *Power system stability and control*. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1994.
- [158] H. Chen, J. Chen, D. Shi, and X. Duan, "Power Flow Study and Voltage Stability Analysis for Distribution Systems with Distributed Generation," 2006, pp. 1–8.
- [159] H. Chen, J. Chen, D. Shi, and X. Duan, "Power flow study and voltage stability analysis for distribution systems with distributed generation," 2006 IEEE Power Eng. Soc. Gen. Meet. PES, pp. 2–9, 2006.
- [160] R. I. Jabbar and S. F. Alwash, "Enhancement of Iraqi Power Distribution Systems Performance using Optimal System Reconfiguration," J. Babylon Univ., vol. 25, no. 5, pp. 1494–1506, 2017.
- [161] H. Iyer, S. Ray, and R. Ramakumar, "Voltage profile improvement with distributed generation," 2005 IEEE Power Eng. Soc. Gen. Meet., vol. 3, pp. 2977–2984, 2005.
- [162] H. Sajir and A. Farzamnia, "Reduce Power Losses and Improve Voltage Level by Using Distributed Generation in Radial Distributed Grid," in 2017 IEEE 2nd International Conference on Automatic Control and Intelligent Systems (I2CACIS 2017), 2017, no. October, pp. 128–133.
- [163] D. Rey, "IRAQ ELECTRICITY MASTERPLAN," Baghdad, 2010.
- [164] G. J. Hahn, S. Chatterjee, and B. Price, *Regression Analysis by Example*, vol. 21, no. 2. 1979.
- [165] M. Abdulla, M. Azeez, and F. M., "Investigation of One Day Ahead Load Forecasting for Iraqi Power System," *Int. J. Comput. Appl.*, vol. 163, no. 1, pp. 24–29, 2017.
- [166] S. Sepasi, E. Reihani, A. M. Howlader, L. R. Roose, and M. M. Matsuura, "Very short term load forecasting of a distribution system with high PV penetration," *Renew. Energy*, vol. 106, pp. 142–148, 2017.
- [167] H. Saleem and I. Harba, "Predict the Average Temperatures of Baghdad City by Used Artificial Neural Network," vol. 6, no. 9, pp. 55–61, 2016.
- [168] Y. Izumida, H. Asano, and S. Bando, "Economic analysis of operating reserve

using forecasted variable renewable generation," *Electr. Eng. Japan (English Transl. Denki Gakkai Ronbunshi)*, vol. 206, no. 1, pp. 12–21, 2019, doi: 10.1002/eej.23169.

- [169] A. Khazali and M. Kalantar, "Optimal Dispatch of Responsive Loads and Generic Energy Storage Units in a Co-Optimized Energy and Reserve Market for Smart Power Systems," *Electr. Power Components Syst.*, vol. 44, no. 20, pp. 2285–2297, 2016, doi: 10.1080/15325008.2016.1220434.
- [170] H. Xing, Z. Lin, M. Fu, and B. F. Hobbs, "Distributed algorithm for dynamic economic power dispatch with energy storage in smart grids," *IET Control Theory Appl.*, vol. 11, no. 11, pp. 1813–1821, 2017, doi: 10.1049/ietcta.2016.1389.
- [171] B. R. Adarsh, T. Raghunathan, T. Jayabarathi, and X. S. Yang, "Economic dispatch using chaotic bat algorithm," *Energy*, vol. 96, pp. 666–675, 2016, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2015.12.096.
- [172] W. T. Huang, K. C. Yao, and C. C. Wu, "Using the direct search method for optimal dispatch of distributed generation in a medium-voltage microgrid," *Energies*, vol. 7, no. 12, pp. 8355–8373, 2014, doi: 10.3390/en7128355.
- [173] P. P. Biswas, P. N. Suganthan, B. Y. Qu, and G. A. J. Amaratunga, "Multiobjective economic-environmental power dispatch with stochastic windsolar-small hydro power," *Energy*, vol. 150, pp. 1039–1057, 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2018.03.002.
- [174] F. Yao, H.-G. Müller, and I. 1 Volume 97, "Functional quadratic regression," *Biometrika*, vol. 97, no. 1, pp. 49–64, 2010.
- [175] "THE VALUE OF ECONOMIC DISPATCH, A REPORT TO CONGRESS PURSUANT TO SECTION 1234 OF THE ENERGY POLICY ACT OF 2005," 2005.
- [176] B. Huang, Q. Cui, Z. Meng, and F. Chen, "Distributed economic dispatch for power generation with time-varying loads and external disturbances," *IET Control Theory Appl.*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 88–95, 2021, doi: 10.1049/cth2.12029.
- [177] R. Dogra, N. Gupta, and H. Saroa, "Economic Load Dispatch Problem and Mat lab Programming of Different Methods," *Int. Conf. Adv. Res. Innov.*, no. August, pp. 202–207, 2014.
- [178] B. M. (Birron M. Weedy, N. Jenkins, J. B. Ekanayake, and G. Strabe, *Electric power systems*, Fifth ed. 2012.
- [179] S. Al-baiyat, "ECONOMIC LOAD DISPATCH MULTIOBJECTIVE OPTIMIZATION PROCEDURES USING LINEAR PROGRAMMING TECHNIQUES," *Power*, vol. 10, no. 2, 1995.
- [180] W. Guoying, X. Erfeng, L. Dunnan, and H. Yingjing, "Research on multiobjective optimization linear programming problem of power generation under carbon emission trading," 2017 5th Int. Conf. Mech. Automot. Mater. Eng. C. 2017, pp. 63–66, 2018, doi: 10.1109/CMAME.2017.8540122.
- [181] R. Bourbon, S. U. Ngueveu, X. Roboam, B. Sareni, C. Turpin, and D. Hernandez-Torres, "Energy management optimization of a smart wind power plant comparing heuristic and linear programming methods," *Math. Comput. Simul.*, vol. 158, pp. 418–431, 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.matcom.2018.09.022.

## Appendix A

This appendix describes the collected data of forecasted maximum temperature for the winter and summer seasons provided by IMOS.

Date	Max	Date	Max
	temperature		temperature
	forecasted		forecasted
	(input)		(input)
01/01/2020	13	16/01/2020	13
02/01/2020	12	17/01/2020	10
03/01/2020	13	18/01/2020	14
04/01/2020	14	19/01/2020	16.4
05/01/2020	13.5	20/01/2020	15
06/01/2020	14	21/01/2020	16.8
07/01/2020	15	22/01/2020	14
08/01/2020	19	23/01/2020	13
09/01/2020	19	24/01/2020	12.6
10/01/2020	17.5	25/01/2020	15
11/01/2020	18	26/01/2020	12
12/01/2020	20	27/01/2020	12
13/01/2020	19	28/01/2020	12.5
14/01/2020	17	29/01/2020	10.5
15/01/2020	12	30/01/2020	13

Table 1: Forecasted maximum temperature in January 2020 for a winter season
providing by IMOS for Load forecasting

Table 2: Forecasted maximum temperature in September 2020 for a summ	ner
season, providing by IMOS	

Date	Max	Date	Max
	temperature		temperature
	forecasted		forecasted
	(input)		(input)
01/09/2020	45	16/09/2020	41
02/09/2020	43	17/09/2020	39.5

03/09/2020	42.5	18/09/2020	41
04/09/2020	42	19/09/2020	40
05/09/2020	42	20/09/2020	43
06/09/2020	43	21/09/2020	40.5
07/09/2020	42	22/09/2020	39
08/09/2020	41.5	23/09/2020	39.5
09/09/2020	40	24/09/2020	38
10/09/2020	39.5	25/09/2020	39
11/09/2020	40	26/09/2020	37
12/09/2020	41	27/09/2020	39
13/09/2020	42	28/09/2020	38
14/09/2020	44	29/09/2020	37
15/09/2020	42	30/09/2020	38

## **Appendix B**

This appendix shows the training and testing data required for load forecasted in Zyounah for the summer and winter seasons.

Table 3: Tl	he training data required for the summer	season for	Zyonah	district
	for Load forecasting			

	Input data f	Target for training (MW)			
Hours	(Day1) Sunday	Day4) Thursday			
	/ July19	8 July19	9 July19	10 July19	11 July 19
1	40.32	40.6	41.2	41	40.698
2	38.4	38.64	38.72	38.9	39
3	35.9	36.3	37.1	35.4	36.3
4	35.52	35.742	34.4	35.89	35
5	34.08	34.293	34.36	34.435	34
6	33	33.327	35	33.465	33.5
7	33.12	33.327	34	33.465	34.5
8	33.6	33.81	33.88	33.95	33.91

9	35.52	35.742	34.9	35.89	36
10	38.88	39.123	38.7	39.285	38
11	41.28	41.638	42	41.71	41
12	43.2	43.47	43.56	44	43.7
13	44.64	44.919	45.3	45.10	44.9
14	46.08	46.36	46.46	46.56	47
15	47.52	47.81	47.91	48.015	47.96
16	48	48.3	48.45	48.51	49
17	48	48.3	49	48.5	48.45
18	42.24	42.504	43	42.68	43
19	43.68	43.953	44	45	44.08
20	42.72	42.987	43.07	43.165	43
21	42.24	42.504	42.59	42.68	41
22	41.28	41.538	41.7	41.71	41.5
23	41.3	41.7	40.2	41.71	40.6
24	40.8	41.055	41.2	41.3	39.9

 Table 4: The testing data required for the summer season for Ziyounah district for Load forecasting

	Input	data for tes (summ	Predicted demand (MW)	Actual demand (MW)		
Hours	(Day1)	(Day2)	(Day3)	(Day4)	(Day5)	(Day5)
	Sunday	Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Thursday
	7 July20	8July20	9July20	10 July20	11July20	11 July20
1	41	41.4	42	42	41.5	40.488
2	39.04	39.08	39.2	40	38.3	38.56
3	36	36.5	36	37	36.4	37.114
4	36.11	36.14	36.15	37	35	35.668
5	34.64	34.68	34.68	35.5	34.91	34.222
6	33.67	34.1	33.71	34.3	34.32	33.258
7	33.67	33.70	33.71	34.5	34.5	33.258
8	34.16	34.19	34.2	35	34.65	33.74

9	36.11	36.6	36.7	37	37	35.668
10	38.2	39.56	39.57	40.5	39.45	39.042
11	41.96	42.011	43	43	43.02	41.452
12	43.92	42	43.97	45	45	43.38
13	45.38	45.4305	45.43	46.5	46	44.826
14	46.84	46.896	46.90	48	48.5	46.272
15	48.31	49	48.5	49.5	48.78	47.718
16	48.8	48.85	49	50	48.88	48.2
17	48.8	49	48.85	50	48.88	48.2
18	42.94	43	42.99	44	45	42.416
19	44.40	44.45	45	45.5	45.93	43.862
20	43.43	43.47	43.48	44.5	45.31	42.898
21	42.94	42.98	42.99	44	44.68	42.416
22	41.96	42.011	42.01	43	43.29	41.452
23	40	42.011	40	40.9	40	41.452
24	41.48	42	41.52	42.5	41.96	40.97

 Table 5: The training data required for the winter season for Zyonah district for

 Load forecasting

	Input data	Target for training (MW)			
Hours	(Day1)	(Day2)	(Day3)	Day4)	Day4)
	11 Jan19	12 Jan19	13 Jan19	14 Jan19	15 Jan19
1	21.7	22	22.4	22.75	22.8
2	17.98	18.386	19	18.85	19.14
3	16.43	16.801	16.96	17.225	17
4	15.7	15.85	16	16.25	16.5
5	14.88	14	15.36	15.1	15.84
6	16.43	16.801	16.96	17.225	17
7	19.84	20.288	20.48	20.8	20.9
8	21.7	22.19	23	22.75	23.1
9	20.305	20.7635	20.96	21.2875	21

10	20.46	21	21.12	21.45	21.78
11	21.576	22.0632	22.272	22.62	21.9
12	22.94	23.458	23.68	24.05	24
13	24.8	25.36	25.7	26	27
14	26.35	26.945	27.2	27	28.05
15	27.9	28.53	28.8	29.25	29
16	29	28.847	29.12	29.575	30.03
17	28.52	29.164	29.44	29.9	30.36
18	29.76	30.432	30.72	31.2	31.68
19	31.5	31.7	32	32.5	33
20	29.977	30.6539	30.944	31.4275	31
21	29	30.115	30.4	30.875	31.35
22	29.295	29.9565	30.24	30	31.185
23	27.9	28.53	28.8	29	28.8
24	25.42	24.8	26.24	26.65	27.06

 Table 6: The testing data required for the winter season for Zyonah district for

 Load forecasting

	Input d	ata for testir (winter	Predicted demand (MW)	Actual demand (MW)		
Hours	(Day1)	(Day2)	(Day3)	Day4)	Day4)	Day4)
	11 Jan20	12 Jan20	13 Jan20	14 Jan20	15 Jan20	15 Jan20
1	23.8	24.15	24.5	24.29	24.95	23.73
2	19.72	20.01	20.3	20.126	20.34	19.662
3	18.02	18.285	18.55	18.391	18.24	17.967
4	17	17.25	17.5	17.35	17.33	16.95
5	16.32	16.56	16.8	16.656	16.89	16.272
6	18.02	18.285	18.55	18.391	18.24	17.967
7	21.76	22.08	22.4	22.208	22.92	21.696
8	23.8	24.15	24.5	24.29	24.95	23
9	22.27	22.5975	22.925	22.7285	23.48	22.2045

10	22.44	22.77	23.1	22.902	23.66	22.374
11	23.664	24.012	24.36	24.1512	24.83	23.5944
12	25.16	25.53	25.9	25.678	26.20	25.086
13	27.2	27.6	28	27.76	28.45	27.12
14	28.9	29.325	29.75	29.495	30.29	28.815
15	30.6	31.05	31.5	31.23	31.22	30.51
16	30.94	31.395	31.85	31.577	31.32	30.849
17	31.28	31.74	32.2	31.924	31.41	31.188
18	32.64	33.12	33.6	33.312	31.69	32.544
19	34	34.5	35	34.7	31.93	33.5
20	32.878	33.3615	33.845	33.5549	31.73	32.7813
21	32.3	32.775	33.25	32.965	31.63	32.205
22	32.13	32.6025	33.075	32.7915	31.59	32.0355
23	30.6	31.05	31.5	31.23	31.22	30.51
24	27.88	28.29	28.7	28.454	29.26	27.798